
Table of Contents

  
UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

 
 

FORM 10-Q
 

 
 

x QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2014

or
 

¨ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from                      to                     .

Commission File Number: 001-36733
 

 

AXALTA COATING SYSTEMS LTD.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

 
 

 

Bermuda   2851   98-1073028
(State or other jurisdiction of

incorporation or organization)  
(Primary Standard Industrial
Classification Code Number)  

(I.R.S. Employer
Identification No.)

Two Commerce Square
2001 Market Street

Suite 3600
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103

(855) 547-1461
(Address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of the registrant’s principal executive offices)

 
 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding
12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past
90 days.    Yes  ¨    No  x

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and
posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit
and post such files).    Yes  x    No  ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the Company is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See definitions of “large
accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):
 
Large accelerated filer   ¨

Non-accelerated filer   x

Indicate by a check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).    Yes  ¨    No  x

As of October 31, 2014, there were 229,779,626 shares of the registrant’s common shares outstanding.
   



Table of Contents

Table of Contents
 
PART I      FINANCIAL INFORMATION   

  ITEM 1.    Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements:   

    

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations of Axalta Coating Systems Ltd. for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014
and 2013 (Successor) and Combined Statement of Operations of DuPont Performance Coatings for the period from January 1, 2013 to
January 31, 2013 (Predecessor)      3  

    

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) of Axalta Coating Systems Ltd. for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2014 and 2013 (Successor) and Combined Statement of Comprehensive Income of DuPont Performance Coatings for the
period from January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013 (Predecessor)      4  

     Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets of Axalta Coating Systems Ltd. as of September  30, 2014 and December 31, 2013      5  

    

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows of Axalta Coating Systems Ltd. for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013
(Successor) and Combined Statement of Cash Flows of DuPont Performance Coatings for the period from January 1, 2013 through
January 31, 2013 (Predecessor)      6  

     Condensed Notes to Condensed Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements      7  

  ITEM 2.    Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations     41  

  ITEM 3.    Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk     81  

  ITEM 4.    Controls and Procedures     82  

PART II      OTHER INFORMATION   

  ITEM 1.    Legal Proceedings     83  

  ITEM 1a.    Risk Factors     83  

  ITEM 2.    Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds     83  

  ITEM 3.    Defaults Upon Senior Securities     84  

  ITEM 4.    Mine Safety Disclosures     84  

  ITEM 5.    Other Information     84  

  ITEM 6.    Exhibits     84  

     Signatures     85  

     Exhibit Index     86  
 

2



Table of Contents

PART 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENT INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

AXALTA COATING SYSTEMS LTD.
Condensed Consolidated (Successor) and DuPont Performance Coatings Combined (Predecessor)

Statements of Operations (Unaudited)
(in millions, except per share data)

 
     Successor           Predecessor  

    

Three Months
Ended

September 30,    

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,          

Period from
January 1, 2013

through January 31,
2013       2014     2013     2014      2013          

Net sales    $1,108.9     $1,074.6     $3,282.9     $2,858.2          $ 326.2  
Other revenue      6.9       8.2       21.6       21.9            1.1  

                                              

Total revenue      1,115.8       1,082.8       3,304.5       2,880.1            327.3  
Cost of goods sold      728.1       739.1       2,174.1       2,066.7            232.2  
Selling, general and administrative expenses      249.4       276.7       746.7       673.7            70.8  
Research and development expenses      13.4       12.5       36.8       31.0            3.7  
Amortization of acquired intangibles      20.9       21.0       63.3       59.0            —    
Merger and acquisition related expenses      —         —         —         28.1            —    

                                              

Income from operations      104.0       33.5       283.6       21.6            20.6  
                                              

Interest expense, net      52.6       62.7       166.5       153.2            —    
Bridge financing commitment fees      —         —         —         25.0            —    
Other (income) expense, net      62.2       (9.3)     65.1       49.7            5.0  

                                              

Income (loss) before income taxes      (10.8)     (19.9)     52.0       (206.3)          15.6  
Provision (benefit) for income taxes      7.5       (26.3)     18.2       (34.4)          7.1  

                                              

Net income (loss)      (18.3)     6.4       33.8       (171.9)          8.5  
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests      1.6       1.4       4.2       3.7            0.6  

                                              

Net income (loss) attributable to controlling interests    $ (19.9)   $ 5.0     $ 29.6     $ (175.6)        $ 7.9  
 

                
Basic weighted average shares outstanding      229.5       228.1       229.2       228.1         
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding      229.5       228.1       229.3       228.1         

 

Basic net income (loss) per share    $ (0.09)   $ 0.02     $ 0.13     $ (0.75)       
Diluted net income (loss) per share    $ (0.09)   $ 0.02     $ 0.13     $ (0.75)       

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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AXALTA COATING SYSTEMS LTD.
Condensed Consolidated (Successor) and DuPont Performance Coatings Combined (Predecessor)

Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) (Unaudited)
(Dollars in millions)

 
     Successor           Predecessor  

    

Three Months
Ended

September 30,    

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,          

Period from
January 1, 2013

through January 31,
2013       2014     2013     2014     2013          

Net income (loss)    $(18.3)   $ 6.4     $ 33.8     $(171.9)        $ 8.5  
Other comprehensive income (loss), before tax:                

Foreign currency translation adjustments      (26.2)     16.2       (36.1)     29.3            —    
Net unrealized gain (loss) on securities      —         0.8       0.8       (0.6)          0.2  
Unrealized gain (loss) on derivatives      4.0       (3.8)     (1.0)     3.6            —    
Gain (loss) on pension and other benefit plan obligations      (3.0)     —         1.8       —              1.1  

                                             

Other comprehensive income (loss), before tax      (25.2)     13.2       (34.5)     32.3            1.3  
                                             

Income tax (expense) benefit related to items of other comprehensive income (loss)      (0.7)     1.3       0.3       (1.0)          (0.5) 
                                             

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax      (25.9)     14.5       (34.2)     31.3            0.8  
                                             

Comprehensive income (loss)      (44.2)     20.9       (0.4)     (140.6)          9.3  
                                             

Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests      1.6       1.4       4.2       3.7            0.6  
                                             

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to controlling interests    $(45.8)   $19.5     $ (4.6)   $(144.3)        $ 8.7  
      

 
     

 
     

 
     

 
          

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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AXALTA COATING SYSTEMS LTD.
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets (Unaudited)

(Dollars in millions, except share data)
 
     Successor  
     September 30, 2014    December 31, 2013 
Assets     
Current assets:     

Cash and cash equivalents    $ 233.3     $ 459.3  
Restricted cash      4.3       —    
Accounts and notes receivable, net      919.1       865.9  
Inventories      580.4       550.2  
Prepaid expenses and other assets      61.7       50.2  
Deferred income taxes      39.1       30.0  

      
 

     
 

Total current assets      1,837.9       1,955.6  
      

 
     

 

Net property, plant, and equipment      1,556.2       1,622.6  
Goodwill      1,046.9       1,113.6  
Identifiable intangibles, net      1,339.5       1,439.6  
Deferred financing costs      95.4       110.6  
Deferred income taxes      275.6       271.9  
Other assets      230.5       223.2  

      
 

     
 

Total assets    $ 6,382.0     $ 6,737.1  
      

 

     

 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity     
Current liabilities:     

Accounts payable    $ 487.9     $ 478.5  
Current portion of borrowings      35.5       46.7  
Deferred income taxes      7.9       5.5  
Other accrued liabilities      386.6       472.7  

      
 

     
 

Total current liabilities      917.9       1,003.4  
      

 
     

 

Long-term borrowings      3,696.1       3,874.2  
Deferred income taxes      259.2       280.4  
Other liabilities      296.2       367.3  

      
 

     
 

Total liabilities    $ 5,169.4     $ 5,525.3  
      

 
     

 

Commitments and contingent liabilities (Note 7)     
Stockholders’ equity     

Common stock, $1.00 par, 1,000,000,000 shares authorized, 229,779,626 and 229,069,356 shares issued and
outstanding at September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively    $ 229.8     $ 229.1  

Capital in excess of par      1,141.9       1,133.7  
Accumulated deficit      (224.3)     (253.9) 
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income      (0.2)     34.0  

      
 

     
 

Total stockholders’ equity      1,147.2       1,142.9  
Noncontrolling interests      65.4       68.9  

      
 

     
 

Total stockholders’ equity and noncontrolling interests      1,212.6       1,211.8  
      

 
     

 

Total liabilities, stockholders’ equity and noncontrolling interests    $ 6,382.0     $ 6,737.1  
      

 

     

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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AXALTA COATING SYSTEMS LTD.
Condensed Consolidated (Successor) and DuPont Performance Coatings Combined (Predecessor)

Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)
(Dollars in millions)

 
    Successor          Predecessor  

   

Nine Months
Ended September 30,

2014    

Nine Months
Ended September 30,

2013         

Period from
January 1, 2013

through January 31,
2013  

Operating activities:          
Net income (loss)   $ 33.8     $ (171.9)       $ 8.5  
Adjustment to reconcile net (loss) income to cash provided by (used for) operating activities:          

Depreciation and amortization     229.1       228.0           9.9  
Amortization of deferred financing costs and original issue discount     15.7       13.3           —    
Fair value step up of acquired inventory sold     —         103.7           —    
Bridge financing commitment fees     —         25.0           —    
Loss on extinguishment and modification of debt     6.1       —             —    
Deferred income taxes     (15.9)     (71.5)         9.1  
Unrealized (gains) losses on derivatives     3.1       (5.7)         —    
Realized and unrealized foreign exchange (gains) losses, net     46.7       55.9           4.5  
Stock-based compensation     6.1       2.9           —    
Other non-cash, net     (26.0)     4.5           (3.9) 
Decrease (increase) in operating assets:          

Accounts and notes receivable     (109.7)     (57.2)         25.8  
Inventories     (50.6)     27.1           (19.3) 
Prepaid expenses and other assets     (47.7)     (46.6)         3.1  

Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:          
Accounts payable     52.4       62.9           (29.9) 
Other accrued liabilities     (74.2)     101.0           (43.8) 
Other liabilities     (9.5)     (7.5)         (1.7) 

     
 

     
 

         
 

Cash provided by (used for) operating activities     59.4       263.9           (37.7) 
     

 
     

 
         

 

Investing activities:          
Acquisition of DuPont Performance Coatings (net of cash acquired)     —         (4,827.6)         —    
Purchase of property, plant and equipment     (155.6)     (50.4)         (2.4) 
Investment in real estate property     —         (26.3)      
Purchase of interest rate cap     —         (3.1)      
Settlement of foreign currency contract     —         (19.4)         —    
Restricted cash     (4.3)     —             —    
Purchase of intangibles     (0.2)     —             (6.3) 
Purchase of interest in affiliates     (6.5)     —             (1.2) 
Proceeds from sale of assets     17.6       0.7           1.6  

     
 

     
 

         
 

Cash used for investing activities     (149.0)     (4,926.1)         (8.3) 
     

 
     

 
         

 

Financing activities:          
Proceeds from Senior Secured Credit Facilities (net of original issue discount)     —         2,817.3           —    
Issuance of Senior Notes     —         1,089.4           —    
Proceeds from short-term borrowings     23.7       38.8           —    
Payments on short-term borrowings     (30.9)     (23.0)         —    
Payments of deferred financing costs and bridge commitment fees     —         (151.0)         —    
Payments of long-term debt     (114.1)     —             —    
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests     (1.6)     (4.1)         —    
Debt modification fees     (3.0)     —             —    
Stock option exercises     2.9       —             —    
Equity contribution     2.5       1,350.0           —    
Net transfer from DuPont     —         —             43.0  

     
 

     
 

         
 

Cash provided by (used for) financing activities     (120.5)     5,117.4           43.0  
     

 
     

 
         

 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     (210.1)     455.2           (3.0) 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash     (15.9)     (8.0)         —    
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period     459.3       —             28.7  

     
 

     
 

         
 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ 233.3     $ 447.2         $ 25.7  
     

 

     

 

         

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Condensed Notes to Interim Condensed Consolidated (Successor) and Combined (Predecessor)
Financial Statements (Unaudited)

(Dollars in millions, unless otherwise noted)
 
(1) BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE INTERIM UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED AND COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The interim condensed consolidated and combined financial statements included herein are unaudited. In the opinion of management, these statements include all
adjustments, consisting only of normal, recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair statement of the financial position of Axalta Coating Systems Ltd. (formerly known as
Flash Bermuda Co. Ltd. or Axalta Coating Systems Bermuda Co., Ltd.), a Bermuda exempted Limited Liability Company and its consolidated subsidiaries (“Axalta,”
the “Company,” “we,” “our” and “us”) at September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the results of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30,
2014, and 2013 (Successor) and for the period from January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013 (Predecessor), and cash flows for the nine months ended September 30,
2014 and 2013 (Successor), and for the period from January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013 (Predecessor). These interim unaudited condensed consolidated and
combined financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated and combined financial statements and notes included in the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-198271), which was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Committee (“SEC”) on November 10, 2014. The
year-end condensed consolidated balance sheet data was derived from audited financial statements, but does not include all disclosures required by accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States, for annual periods.

The results of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for a full year.

The acquisition by Axalta and certain of its indirect subsidiaries of all the capital stock, other equity interests and assets of certain entities which, together with their
subsidiaries, comprised the assets and legal entities, which together with their subsidiaries, compromised the DuPont Performance Coatings business (“DPC’)
(“Acquisition”) closed on February 1, 2013. The accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets of Axalta at September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013 and
related interim condensed consolidated statements of operations and condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive (loss) income for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 and of cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 are labeled as “Successor.” The condensed consolidated
financial statements for the Successor include the accounts of Axalta and its subsidiaries, and entities in which a controlling interest is maintained.

The accompanying combined statements of operations and statements of comprehensive income for the period from January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013 and of
cash flows for the period from January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013, do not include adjustments or transactions attributable to the Acquisition, and are labeled as
“Predecessor”. As a result of the application of acquisition accounting as of the closing date of the Acquisition, the financial statements for the Successor periods and the
Predecessor periods are presented on a different basis and are, therefore, not comparable.

Certain of our joint ventures are accounted for on a one-month lag basis, the effect of which is not material.
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Condensed Notes to Interim Condensed Consolidated (Successor) and Combined (Predecessor)
Financial Statements (Unaudited)

(Dollars in millions, unless otherwise noted)
 

Reclassification and revisions

In October 2014, the Board of Directors approved a 1.69-for-1 stock split of the Company’s issued and outstanding common shares, which was effective on October 28,
2014. The stock split did not change the par value of the Company’s common shares. The condensed consolidated financial statements have been retroactively adjusted
to give effect to the stock split.

During the third quarter ended September 30, 2014, the Company identified errors in the determination of the effective interest rate amortization for the Deferred
Financing Costs and Original Issue Discounts that were incurred in 2013. Refer to our annual report and Note 18 included herein for further details.

Certain reclassifications have been made to Net sales, Other (income) expense, net, and Selling, general and administrative expenses on the Predecessor combined
statements of operations to conform to the Successor presentation.

As of December 31, 2013 we completed our accounting associated with the Acquisition, the finalization of our valuations, and the refinement of our assumptions
impacted the recognized values assigned to assets acquired and liabilities assumed, including impacts to net sales and income tax benefit for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2013. Net sales and income tax benefit as a result of these refinements were adjusted by a $3.4 million increase and a $10.6 million decrease,
respectively, for the three months ended September 30, 2013, and a $7.8 million increase and a $1.5 million decrease, respectively, for the nine months ended
September 30, 2013.

Initial Public Offering

On November 11, 2014, the Company priced its initial public offering (“IPO”). In the IPO, certain of the Company’s stockholders sold an aggregate of 50,000,000
common shares at a public offering price of $19.50 per share. The underwriters also exercised their over-allotment option and purchased an additional 7,500,000
common shares. The Company will not receive any proceeds from the sale of common shares in the IPO.
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Condensed Notes to Interim Condensed Consolidated (Successor) and Combined (Predecessor)
Financial Statements (Unaudited)

(Dollars in millions, unless otherwise noted)
 
(2) RECENT ACCOUNTING GUIDANCE

Recently Adopted Accounting Guidance

In April 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-08, “Reporting Discontinued Operations and Disclosures of Disposals of Components of an Entity”, which amended the
guidance for reporting discontinued operations and disposals of components of an entity. The amended guidance requires that a disposal representing a strategic shift that
has (or will have) a major effect on an entity’s financial results or a business activity classified as held for sale should be reported as discontinued operations. The
amendments also expand the disclosure requirements for discontinued operations and add new disclosures for individually significant dispositions that do not qualify as
discontinued operations. The amendments are effective prospectively for fiscal years, and interim reporting periods within those years, beginning after December 15,
2014 and early adoption is permitted. We have adopted this guidance as of September 30, 2014.

Accounting Guidance Issued But Not Yet Adopted

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standard Update (“ASU”) 2014-09 (Accounting Standard Codification 606),
“Revenue from Contracts with Customers”, which sets forth the guidance that an entity should use related to revenue recognition. This ASU is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is not permitted. We are in the process of assessing the impact the
adoption of this ASU will have on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-15, “Disclosures of Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern”, which requires management to
evaluate the Company’s business to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued. The ASU is effective for the
annual period ending after December 15, 2016, and for annual and interim periods thereafter. Early application is permitted. We do not anticipate this standard will have
a material impact on the financial statements.
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Condensed Notes to Interim Condensed Consolidated (Successor) and Combined (Predecessor)
Financial Statements (Unaudited)

(Dollars in millions, unless otherwise noted)
 
(3) ACQUISITIONS AND DIVESTITURES

Acquisition of DuPont Performance Coatings

On August 30, 2012, we entered into a purchase agreement with DuPont whereby, Axalta acquired from DuPont and its affiliates certain assets of DPC and all of the
capital stock and other equity interests of certain entities engaged in the DPC business (the “Acquisition Agreement”) pursuant to which we acquired the assets and legal
entities of DPC from DuPont for a purchase price of $4,925.9 million plus or minus a working capital adjustment and pension adjustment. Axalta and DuPont finalized
the working capital and pension adjustments to the purchase price which resulted in a reduction to the purchase price of $18.6 million to $4,907.3 million.

We accounted for the Acquisition as a business combination in accordance with ASC 805, Business Combinations, using the acquisition method of accounting. At
December 31, 2013, the amounts presented for the Acquisition were finalized.

The following table summarizes the fair values of the net assets acquired as of the February 1, 2013 Acquisition date adjusted for measurement period adjustments:
 

    

February 1, 2013
(As Initially
Reported)    

Measurement
Period

Adjustments    
February 1, 2013

(As Adjusted)  
Cash and cash equivalents    $ 79.7     $ —       $ 79.7  
Accounts and notes receivable—trade      855.8       22.7       878.5  
Inventories      673.0       3.0       676.0  
Prepaid expenses and other      8.2       (1.3)     6.9  
Property, plant and equipment      1,707.7       (1.8)     1,705.9  
Identifiable intangibles      1,539.3       (19.0)     1,520.3  
Other assets—noncurrent      98.8       19.1       117.9  
Accounts payable      (409.1)     (6.9)     (416.0) 
Other accrued liabilities      (232.0)     7.5       (224.5) 
Other liabilities      (331.1)     (35.3)     (366.4) 
Deferred income taxes      (312.9)     223.2       (89.7) 
Noncontrolling interests      (66.7)     —         (66.7) 

                        

Net assets acquired before goodwill on acquisition      3,610.7       211.2       3,821.9  
Goodwill on acquisition      1,315.2       (229.8)     1,085.4  

                        

Net assets acquired    $ 4,925.9     $ (18.6)   $ 4,907.3  
      

 
     

 
     

 

The measurement period adjustments reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the closing date of the Acquisition, primarily related
to indemnification assets, inventories, other miscellaneous current assets and liabilities, property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, and the related deferred income
taxes. With the exception of those items detailed in Note 1, no measurement period adjustments had a material impact on the statement of operations or cash flows
requiring retrospective application.
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The determination of Goodwill was recognized for the Acquisition as the excess of the purchase price over the net identifiable assets recognized. The Goodwill is
primarily attributed to our assembled workforce, corporate and operational synergies and the going concern value of the anticipated future economic benefits associated
with DPC being operated as a standalone entity.

The fair values of intangible assets were estimated using either the income approach, the excess earnings method (customer relationships) or the relief from royalty
method (technology and trademarks). Under the excess earnings method, an intangible asset’s fair value is equal to the present value of the incremental after-tax cash
flows attributable solely to the intangible asset over its remaining useful life. Under the relief from royalty method, fair value is measured by estimating future revenue
associated with the intangible asset over its useful life and applying a royalty rate to the revenue estimate. These intangible assets enable us to develop new products to
meet the evolving business needs as well as competitively produce our existing products.

The fair value of real properties acquired was based on the consideration of their highest and best use in the market. The fair values of property, plant, and equipment,
other than real properties, were based on the consideration that unless otherwise identified, they will continue to be used “as is” and as part of the ongoing business. In
contemplation of the in-use premise and the nature of the assets, the fair value was developed primarily using a cost approach. The determination of the fair value of
assets acquired and liabilities assumed involves assessing factors such as the expected future cash flows associated with individual assets and liabilities and appropriate
discount rates at the date of the acquisition.

The fair value of the noncontrolling interests, related to acquired joint ventures, were estimated by applying an income approach. This fair value measurement is based
on significant inputs that are not observable in the market and thus represents a fair value measurement categorized within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. Key
assumptions included a discount rate, a terminal value based on a range of long-term sustainable growth rates and adjustments because of the lack of control that market
participants would consider when measuring the fair value of the noncontrolling interests.

The Company was formed on August 24, 2012 for the purpose of consummating the Acquisition of DPC and, consequently has no financial statements as of and for
periods prior to that date. Prior to the Acquisition, we generated no revenue and incurred no expenses other than merger and acquisition costs and debt financing costs in
anticipation of the Acquisition. We incurred merger and acquisition related costs of $29.0 million which were expensed during the Successor period August 24, 2012
through December 31, 2012 and incurred debt financing costs of $4.6 million which were recorded as Other assets and Other accrued liabilities as of December 31, 2012
(Successor). The $33.6 million of merger and acquisition related costs and debt financing costs incurred were accrued as a component of Other accrued liabilities at
December 31, 2012 (Successor). The amounts were paid at closing of the Acquisition with proceeds from the borrowings under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities.
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The following unaudited supplemental pro forma information presents the financial results as if the acquisition of DPC had occurred at January 1, 2012. This
supplemental pro forma information has been prepared for comparative purposes and does not purport to be indicative of what would have occurred had the acquisition
been made at January 1, 2012, nor is it indicative of any future results.

 
    

Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2013  

     (Unaudited)  
Net sales    $ 3,184.4  
Net loss    $ (45.9) 
Net loss attributable to controlling interests    $ (49.6) 
Earnings per share (Basic and Diluted)    $ (0.22) 

The 2013 supplemental pro forma net loss was adjusted to exclude $53.1 million of acquisition-related costs incurred in 2013 and $123.1 million of non-recurring
expense consisting primarily of $103.7 million related to the fair market value adjustment to acquisition-date inventory.

Dispositions

In September 2014, we completed the sale of a business within the Performance Coatings reportable segment, which primarily included technology that had been
developed as an integrated software solution for the collision repair supply chain market.

The sale resulted in the receipt of $17.5 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2014. As a result, we recognized a pre-tax gain on sale of $1.2 million ($0.7
million after tax) recorded within Other (income) expense, net for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014.

 
(4) GOODWILL AND IDENTIFIABLE INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill

The following table shows changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2014 by reportable segment:
 

    
Performance

Coatings    
Transportation

Coatings     Total  
At January 1, 2014    $ 1,038.8     $ 74.8     $    1,113.6  
Purchase accounting adjustments      11.6       0.8       12.4  
Divestitures      (4.7)     —         (4.7) 
Foreign currency translation      (69.4)     (5.0)     (74.4) 

                        

September 30, 2014    $ 976.3     $ 70.6     $ 1,046.9  
      

 
     

 
     

 

During the nine months ended September 30, 2014, we identified and recorded purchase accounting adjustments of $12.4 million related to corrections subsequent to the
end of the purchase accounting measurement period.
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Identifiable Intangible Assets

The following table summarizes the gross carrying amounts and accumulated amortization of identifiable intangible assets by major class:
 

September 30, 2014   
Gross Carrying

Amount     
Accumulated
Amortization    Net Book Value    

Weighted average
amortization periods 

Technology    $ 411.8     $ (66.2)   $ 345.6       10.0  
Trademarks - indefinite-lived      284.4       —         284.4       Indefinite  
Trademarks - definite-lived      41.8       (4.8)     37.0       14.8  
Customer relationships      735.4       (63.8)     671.6       19.4  
Non-compete agreements      1.5       (0.6)     0.9       4.0  

                            

Total    $ 1,474.9     $ (135.4)   $ 1,339.5    
      

 
      

 
     

 
  

December 31, 2013   
Gross Carrying

Amount     
Accumulated
Amortization    Net Book Value    

Weighted average
amortization periods 

Technology    $ 425.2     $ (37.3)   $ 387.9       10.0  
Trademarks - indefinite-lived      284.4       —         284.4       Indefinite  
Trademarks - definite-lived      41.7       (2.6)     39.1       14.8  
Customer relationships      761.9       (34.9)     727.0       19.4  
Non-compete agreements      1.5       (0.3)     1.2       4.0  

                            

Total    $ 1,514.7     $ (75.1)   $ 1,439.6    
      

 
      

 
     

 
  

Activity related to in process research and development projects for the nine months ended September 30, 2014:
 

    
Beginning Balance at

January 1, 2014      Completed    Abandoned   
Ending Balance at

September 30, 2014 
In Process Research and Development    $ 15.7     $ (9.3)   $ (0.1)   $ 6.3  

Amortization expense for the Successor three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 was $20.9 million and $63.3 million, respectively. Amortization expense for
the Successor three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, including a loss of $3.2 million associated with abandoned in process research and development
projects, was $21.0 million and $59.0 million, respectively.

Amortization expense for the Predecessor period from January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013 was $2.6 million.
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The estimated amortization expense for the remainder of 2014 and for each of the succeeding five years is:
 

Remainder of 2014    $20.6  
2015    $82.5  
2016    $82.5  
2017    $82.2  
2018    $82.2  
2019    $82.2  

 
(5) RESTRUCTURING

Successor Periods

In accordance with the applicable guidance for Nonretirement Postemployment Benefits, we accounted for termination benefits and recognized liabilities when the loss
was considered probable that employees were entitled to benefits and the amounts could be reasonably estimated.

Since the Acquisition date, we have incurred costs associated with involuntary termination benefits associated with corporate-related initiatives associated with our
transition and cost-saving opportunities related to the separation from DuPont. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, we incurred restructuring
costs of $0.9 million and $2.3 million, respectively. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, we incurred restructuring costs of $41.0 million and
$47.5 million, respectively. These amounts are recorded within selling, general, and administrative expenses in the condensed consolidated statement of operations. The
payments associated with these actions are expected to be completed in June 2015.

The following tables summarize the activities related to the restructuring reserves, recorded within other accrued liabilities, and expenses for the Successor nine months
ended September 30, 2014:

 

    

Year to Date
September 30,

2014  
Balance at December 31, 2013    $ 98.4  
Expense Recorded      2.3  
Payments Made      (42.0) 
Foreign Currency Changes      (4.5) 

        

Balance at September 30, 2014    $ 54.2  
      

 

Predecessor Periods

During the Predecessor period there was no expense recorded associated with involuntary termination benefits.
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(6) RELATIONSHIP WITH DUPONT

Predecessor Periods

Historically, the DPC businesses were managed and operated in the normal course of business with other affiliates of DuPont. Accordingly, certain
shared costs were allocated to DPC and reflected as expenses in the standalone Predecessor interim unaudited combined financial statements.
Management of DuPont considered the allocation methodologies used to be reasonable and appropriate reflections of the historical DuPont expenses
attributable to DPC for purposes of the standalone combined financial statements of DPC; however, the expenses reflected in the Predecessor interim
unaudited combined financial statements may not be indicative of the actual expenses that would have been incurred during the periods presented if DPC
had operated as a separate, standalone entity. In addition, the expenses reflected in the Predecessor interim unaudited combined financial statements may
not be indicative of related expenses that will be incurred in the future by us.

 
  (1) Cash Management and Financing

Except for its joint ventures, DPC participated in DuPont’s centralized cash management and financing programs. Disbursements were made
through centralized accounts payable systems which were operated by DuPont, while cash receipts were transferred to centralized accounts
maintained by DuPont. As cash was disbursed and received by DuPont, it was accounted for by DPC through the parent company net investment.
All short and long-term debt requirements of the DPC business were financed by DuPont and financing decisions for wholly owned subsidiaries
and majority owned joint ventures were determined by DuPont’s central treasury operations.

 
  (2) Allocated Corporate Costs

The Predecessor interim unaudited combined financial statements include significant transactions with DuPont involving leveraged functional
services (such as information systems, accounting, other financial services, purchasing and legal) and general corporate expenses that were
provided to DPC by centralized DuPont organizations. Throughout the Predecessor periods covered by the combined financial statements of DPC,
the costs of these leveraged functions and services were directly charged or allocated to DPC using methods management believes were
reasonable. The methods for directly charging specifically identifiable functions and services to DPC included negotiated usage rates and
dedicated employee assignments. The method for allocating shared leveraged functional services to DPC was based on proportionate formulas
involving controllable fixed costs and in certain instances was allocated to DPC based on demand. Controllable fixed costs are fixed costs less
depreciation and amortization and nonrecurring transactions. The methods for allocating general corporate expenses to DPC were based on
revenue. However, the expenses reflected in the Predecessor interim unaudited combined financial statements may not be indicative of the actual
expenses that would have been incurred during the periods presented if DPC had operated as a separate, standalone entity.
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The allocated leveraged functional service expenses and general corporate expenses included in cost of goods sold, selling, general, and
administrative expenses and research and development expenses in the Predecessor interim unaudited combined statement of operations were as
follows:

 
     Predecessor  

    

Period from January 1,
2013 through

January 31, 2013  
Cost of goods sold    $ 14.2  
Selling, general, and administrative expenses      1.4  
Research and development expenses      0.1  

        

Total    $ 15.7  
      

 

Allocated leveraged functional service expenses and general corporate expenses are recorded in the Predecessor combined statement of operations
as follows:

 
     Predecessor  

    

Period from January 1,
2013 through

January 31, 2013  
Leveraged functional services    $ 14.2  
General corporate expenses      1.5  

        

Total    $ 15.7  
      

 

 
  (3) Purchases from and Sales to Other DuPont Businesses

Throughout the Predecessor periods covered by the Predecessor combined financial statements, DPC purchased materials (Titanium Dioxide and
DuPont Sontara® maintenance wipes) from DuPont and its non-DPC businesses.

Purchases include the following amounts:
 

     Predecessor  

    

Period from January 1,
2013 through

January 31, 2013  
DPC purchases of products from other DuPont businesses    $ 7.9  

        

Total    $ 7.9  
      

 

There were no material sales to other DuPont businesses during the periods covered by the Predecessor interim unaudited combined financial
statements.
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(7) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
 

  (a) Guarantees

In connection with the Acquisition, we assumed certain guarantee obligations which directly guaranteed various debt obligations under agreements with
third parties related to the following: equity affiliates, customers, suppliers and other affiliated companies.

At September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, we had directly guaranteed $2.2 million and $1.6 million of such obligations, respectively. These
guarantees represent the maximum potential amount of future (undiscounted) payments that we could be required to make under the guarantees in the
event of default by the guaranteed parties. No amounts were accrued at September 30, 2014 or December 31, 2013.

We assess the payment/performance risk by assigning default rates based on the duration of the guarantees. These default rates are assigned based on the
external credit rating of the counterparty or through internal credit analysis and historical default history for counterparties that do not have published
credit ratings. For counterparties without an external rating or available credit history, a cumulative average default rate is used.

 
  (b) Other

We are subject to various pending lawsuits and other claims including civil, regulatory, and environmental matters. Certain of these lawsuits and other
claims may impact us. These litigation matters may involve indemnification obligations by third parties and/or insurance coverage covering all or part of
any potential damage awards against DuPont and/or us. All of the above matters are subject to many uncertainties and, accordingly, we cannot determine
the ultimate outcome of the lawsuits at this time.

The potential effects, if any, of these matters on the consolidated financial statements of Axalta will be recorded in the period in which they are probable
and estimable, and such effects could be material.

In addition to the aforementioned matters, we are party to various legal proceedings in the ordinary course of business. Although the ultimate resolution
of these various proceedings cannot be determined at this time, management does not believe that such proceedings, individually or in the aggregate, will
have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial statements of Axalta.
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(8) LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost

The following table sets forth the components of net periodic benefit cost for the Successor three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 and
September 30, 2013 and the Predecessor period from January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013:

 
     Pension Benefits  
     Successor           Predecessor  

    
Three Months Ended

September 30,    
Nine Months Ended

September 30,         

Period from
January 1,

2013 through
January 31,

2013       2014     2013     2014     2013          
Components of net periodic benefit cost:                

Net periodic benefit cost:                
Service cost    $ 3.8     $ 4.2     $ 12.3     $ 11.6          $ 1.6  
Interest cost      6.1       4.8       18.0       13.4            1.7  
Expected return on plan assets      (3.9)      (3.1)     (11.3)      (8.6)          (1.8) 
Amortization of actuarial (gain) loss      —         —         (0.2)      —              1.1  
Amortization of prior service cost      —         —         —         —              —    
Curtailment gain      (6.6)      —         (6.6)      —              —    

      
 

     
 

     
 

     
 

          
 

 

Net periodic benefit cost (credit)    $ (0.6)    $ 5.9     $ 12.2     $ 16.4          $ 2.6  
      

 

     

 

     

 

     

 

          

 

     Other Long-Term Employee Benefits  
     Successor           Predecessor  

    
Three Months Ended

September 30,    
Nine Months Ended

September 30,         

Period from
January 1,

2013 through
January 31,

2013       2014     2013     2014     2013          
 

Components of net periodic benefit cost:                
Net periodic benefit cost:                

Service cost    $ —       $ —       $ 0.1     $ —            $ —    
Interest cost      0.1       —         0.1       —              —    
Amortization of actuarial (gain) loss      —         —         —         —              —    
Amortization of prior service credit      (0.4)      —         (0.3)      —              —    

                                             

Net periodic benefit cost    $ (0.3)    $ —       $ (0.1)    $ —            $ —    
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Significant Events

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, we recorded a curtailment gain of $6.6 million within Selling, general and administrative expenses
due to an amendment to one of our pension plans. In addition, amendments to our long-term employee benefit plans resulted in increases to Accumulated other
comprehensive income of $5.7 million and $11.3 million, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, respectively. These amounts will be
recognized in earnings over the remaining future service periods of active participants.

 
(9) STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
 

  (a) Successor period

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, we recognized $2.3 million and $6.1 million, respectively, in stock-based compensation
expense which was allocated to cost of goods sold, selling, general and administrative expenses, and research and development expenses. We recognized
$2.9 million of stock-based compensation expense during both the Successor three and nine months ended September 30, 2013.

At September 30, 2014, there was $12.0 million of unrecognized compensation cost relating to outstanding unvested stock options. Compensation
expense is recognized for the fair values of the stock options over the requisite service period of the awards using the graded-vesting attribution method.

There were no material issuances of stock options during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014. At September 30, 2014, only stock
options have been granted under the Equity Incentive Plan. For awards granted during the nine months ended September 30, 2014, the fair value of the
Company’s common stock was estimated at $7.20 per share.

We estimated the per share fair value of our common stock using a contemporaneous valuation using income and market approaches. The income
approach utilized the discounted cash flow (“DCF”) methodology based on our internal financial forecasts and projections. The market approach utilized
the Guideline Public Company and Guideline Transactions methods. For the DCF methodology, we prepared annual projections of future cash flows
through 2018. Beyond 2018, projected cash flows through the terminal year were projected at long-term sustainable growth rates consistent with long-
term inflationary and industry expectations. Our projections of future cash flows were based on our estimated net debt-free cash flows and were
discounted to the valuation date using a weighted-average cost of capital estimated based on market participant assumptions.

For the Guideline Public Company and Guideline Transactions methods, we identified a group of comparable public companies and recent transactions
within the chemicals industry. For the comparable companies, we estimated market multiples based on trading prices and trailing 12 months EBITDA.
These multiples were then applied to our trailing 12 months EBITDA. When selecting comparable companies, consideration was given to industry
similarity, their specific products offered, financial data availability and capital structure.
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For the comparable transactions, we estimated market multiples based on prices paid for the related transactions and trailing 12 months EBITDA. These
multiples were then applied to our trailing 12 months EBITDA. The results of the market approaches corroborated the fair value determined using the
income approach.

 
  (b) Predecessor periods

DuPont maintained certain stock-based compensation plans for the benefit of certain of its officers, directors and employees, including, prior to the
Acquisition, certain DPC employees. DPC recognized stock-based compensation within the interim unaudited combined statement of operations based
upon fair values. The fair value of awards granted totaled $2.0 million for the Predecessor period from January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013.

Total stock-based compensation expense included in the interim unaudited combined statement of operations was $0.1 million for the Predecessor period
from January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013.

 
(10) RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
 

  (a) Carlyle

We entered into a consulting agreement with Carlyle Investment Management L.L.C. (“Carlyle Investment”), an affiliate of Carlyle pursuant to which
Carlyle Investment provides certain consulting services to Axalta. Under this agreement, subject to certain conditions, we are required to pay an annual
consulting fee to Carlyle Investment of $3.0 million payable in equal quarterly installments and reimburse Carlyle Investment for out-pocket expenses
incurred in providing the consulting services. This agreement will terminate upon completion of the IPO (see Note 23 “Subsequent Events”). During the
Successor three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, we recorded expense of $0.8 million and $2.4 million, respectively, related to this
consulting agreement. During the Successor three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, we recorded expense of and $0.9 million and $2.2
million, respectively, related to this consulting agreement. In addition, Carlyle Investment received a one-time fee of $35.0 million upon effectiveness of
the Acquisition for services rendered in connection with the Acquisition and related acquisition financing. Of this amount, $21.0 million was recorded as
merger and acquisition expenses in the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013, and $14.0 million was recorded as a component of deferred
financing costs, which is amortized to interest expense.

 
  (b) Service King Collision Repair

Service King Collision Repair, a portfolio company of funds affiliated with Carlyle, has purchased products from our distributors in the past and may
continue to do so in the future. During the three months ended September 30, 2014,
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Carlyle sold their majority interest in Service King Collision Repair, thus making the entity no longer a related party. Related party sales prior to this
transactions were $4.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2014. During the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013 and the
Predecessor period from January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013 sales to Service King Collision Repair were immaterial.

 
  (c) Other

A director of the Company is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of a global management consulting firm focused on the automotive and
industrial sectors. In connection with due diligence activities and other advisory services related to the Acquisition, we incurred consulting fees and
expenses from the consulting firm of $0.1 million, during the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013, respectively. We also issued 352,143
stock options in exchange for these services at an aggregate fair value of $0.5 million.

 
(11) OTHER (INCOME) EXPENSE, NET
 

     Successor     Predecessor  

    
Three Months

Ended September 30,    
Nine Months

Ended September 30,    

Period from
January 1, 2013

through January 31,
2013       2014      2013     2014      2013    

Exchange (gain)/losses    $ 59.6      $ (9.7)   $ 45.1      $ 49.9     $ 4.5  
Management fee and expenses      0.8        0.9       2.4        2.2       —    
Miscellaneous      1.8        (0.5)     17.6        (2.4)     0.5  

                                          

Total    $ 62.2      $ (9.3)   $ 65.1      $ 49.7     $ 5.0  
      

 
      

 
     

 
      

 
     

 

Our net foreign exchange losses for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 consisted of translation losses primarily related to intercompany transactions
denominated in currencies different from the functional currency of the relevant subsidiary partially offset by gains on our Euro borrowings and our Venezuela
operations, as discussed below.

Our net foreign exchange losses for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 consisted of translation losses primarily related to intercompany transactions
denominated in currencies different from the functional currency of the relevant subsidiary and the settlement of a foreign currency hedge contract partially offset by
gains on our Euro borrowings.

Based on recent changes to the Venezuelan currency exchange rate mechanisms in 2014 and our participation in Venezuela’s Complementary System of Foreign
Currency Administration (SICAD I) auction process during the nine months ended September 30, 2014, we changed the exchange rate we used to remeasure our
Venezuelan subsidiary’s financial statements into U.S. dollars. The exchange rate was determined by such auction process, which was 10.0 to 1 as of June 2014
compared to the historical indexed rate of 6.3 to 1. In September 2014, we determined the exchange rate of 11.7 to 1 was appropriate given trends in the SICAD I
auction process. Further, we also believe the equity of our Venezuelan subsidiary would be realized through a dividend utilizing the auction process through SICAD I.
The devaluations of the exchange rates resulted in net gains of $6.8 million and $19.0 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 primarily due to
our Venezuelan operations being in a net monetary liability position.

At September 30, 2014, our Venezuelan subsidiary was in a net monetary liability position of $40.5 million and had non-U.S. Dollar denominated net non-monetary
assets of $150.5 million. At this time it is unclear based on the current governmental policies, when considered with the foreign exchange process and other
circumstances in Venezuela, whether these events will have any financial impact on the operations of our Venezuelan subsidiary.
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(12) INCOME TAXES

During the nine months ended September 30, 2014, documentation was secured to support tax deductions related to pre-acquisition activities. As a result of these
findings, we recorded a discrete tax benefit of $21.1 million for the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2014, which is primarily related to an adjustment for
unrecognized tax benefits of $9.8 million and the reversal of interest and penalties of $7.1 million. Interest and penalties associated with unrecognized tax benefits are
recognized as components of Provision (benefit) for income taxes. Additionally, we amended our income tax return related to this matter, resulting in additional tax
benefits of $4.2 million. The total tax benefit of $21.1 million was partially offset by the reduction in indemnity assets of $12.5 million related to the pre-acquisition tax
liabilities, which resulted in a reduction to Other (income) expense, net.

 
(13) EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

Basic earnings per common share excludes the dilutive impact of potentially dilutive securities and is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number
of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per common share includes the effect of potential dilution from the exercise of outstanding stock
options. Potentially dilutive securities have been excluded in the weighted average number of common shares used for the calculation of earnings per share in periods of
net loss because the effect of such securities would be anti-dilutive. A reconciliation of the Company’s basic and diluted earnings per common share was as follows (in
millions, except earnings per share):

 
    Successor  

   
Three Months Ended

September 30,    
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
    2014     2013     2014     2013  
Net income (loss) attributable to controlling interests   $ (19.9)    $ 5.0    $ 29.6    $ (175.6) 
Pre-Acquisition net income (loss) attributable to controlling interests     —         —        —        (3.9) 

                               

Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders(1)     (19.9)      5.0      29.6      (171.7) 

Basic weighted average shares outstanding(1)     229.5       228.1      229.2      228.1  
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding(1)     229.5       228.1      229.3      228.1  

Earnings per Common Share:        
Basic net income (loss) per share   $ (0.09)    $ 0.02    $ 0.13    $ (0.75) 
Diluted net income (loss) per share   $ (0.09)    $ 0.02    $ 0.13    $ (0.75) 

 
 

(1)  As of February 1, 2013, the date of the Acquisition, the Company received the initial Equity Contribution of $1,350.0 million. Accordingly, the net income (loss)
to common shareholders and the weighted average shares outstanding calculation is based on the period from February 1, 2013 to September 30, 2013.

The number of anti-dilutive shares that have been excluded in the computation of diluted earnings per share for the Successor three and nine months ended
September 30, 2014 were 17.2 million and 13.4 million, respectively. The number of anti-dilutive shares that have been excluded in the computation of diluted earnings
per share for the Successor three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 were 15.7 million and 15.7 million, respectively.
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Basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding have been adjusted to reflect the Company’s 100,000 for 1 stock split which occurred in July 2013 and the
Company’s 1.69 for 1 stock split which occurred in October 2014.

 
(14) ACCOUNTS AND NOTES RECEIVABLE, NET
 

    September 30, 2014    December 31, 2013 
Accounts receivable - trade, net   $ 718.0    $ 637.5  
Notes receivable     45.5      44.7  
Miscellaneous     155.6      183.7  

               

Total   $ 919.1    $ 865.9  
     

 
     

 

Accounts and notes receivable are carried at amounts that approximate fair value. Accounts receivable—trade, net are net of allowances of $10.6 million and $6.5
million at September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively. Bad debt expense, net of recoveries for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 was
$1.6 million and $3.8 million, respectively, and $2.6 million and $3.3 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, respectively. For the Predecessor
period from January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013, bad debt expense was $0.2 million.

 
(15) INVENTORIES
 

    September 30, 2014    December 31, 2013 
Finished products   $ 360.6    $ 329.3  
Semi-finished products     81.4      90.2  
Raw materials and supplies     138.4      130.7  

               

Total   $ 580.4    $ 550.2  
     

 
     

 

Inventories, including stores and supplies inventories, are valued at the lower of cost or market with cost being determined on the weighted average cost method. Stores
and supplies inventories were $22.5 million and $21.2 million at September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively.
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(16) NET PROPERTY, PLANT and EQUIPMENT

Depreciation expense amounted to $44.0 million and $131.5 million for the Successor three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, respectively.
Depreciation expense amounted to $41.3 million and $88.1 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, respectively. Depreciation expense
amounted to $7.2 million for the Predecessor period from January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013.

 
    September 30, 2014    December 31, 2013 
Land   $ 94.7     $ 98.9  
Buildings     409.0       411.0  
Equipment     1,252.3       1,178.6  
Construction in progress     113.1       117.7  

               

Total     1,869.1       1,806.2  
Accumulated depreciation     (312.9)     (183.6) 

               

Net property, plant, and equipment   $ 1,556.2     $ 1,622.6  
     

 
     

 

 
(17) OTHER ACCRUED LIABILITIES
 

    September 30, 2014    December 31, 2013 
Compensation and other employee-related costs   $ 164.1    $ 168.0  
Restructuring     54.2      98.4  
Discounts, rebates, and warranties     67.1      65.0  
Miscellaneous     101.2      141.3  

               

Total   $ 386.6    $ 472.7  
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(18) LONG-TERM BORROWINGS

Borrowings and capital lease obligations are summarized as follows:
 

    September 30, 2014    December 31, 2013 
Dollar Term Loan   $ 2,171.3     $ 2,282.8  
Euro Term Loan     503.4       547.7  
Dollar Senior Notes     750.0       750.0  
Euro Senior Notes     318.7       344.9  
Short-term borrowings     7.4       18.2  
Unamortized original issue discount     (19.2)     (22.7) 

               

  $ 3,731.6     $ 3,920.9  

Less:    
Short term borrowings   $ 7.4     $ 18.2  
Current portion of long-term borrowings     28.1       28.5  

               

Long-term debt   $ 3,696.1     $ 3,874.2  
     

 
     

 

During the third quarter ended September 30, 2014, the Company identified errors in the determination of the effective interest rate amortization for the Deferred
Financing Costs and Original Issue Discounts that were incurred in 2013. The correction of these items impacted the condensed consolidated balance sheet at
December 31, 2013, and the condensed consolidated statements of operations, and statements of comprehensive income (loss) for the three and nine-month periods
ending September 30, 2013 presented herein. The Company assessed the applicable guidance and concluded that these errors were not material to the Company’s
condensed consolidated financial statements for the aforementioned prior periods; however, the Company did conclude that correcting these prior misstatements would
be significant to the three and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2014 consolidated statement of operations. The correction of the error increased net income by
$1.4 million and decreased the net loss by $9.5 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, respectively, through a reduction in interest expense of
$3.5 million (net of a tax provision of $2.1 million) and $9.9 million (net of a tax provision of $0.4 million), respectively. The correction of the error impacted Deferred
Financing Costs, Long-term borrowings, and Non-current deferred income tax assets by $10.5 million, ($2.7) million, and ($1.7) million, respectively, at December 31,
2013.

Senior Secured Credit Facilities, as amended

On February 3, 2014, Axalta Coating Systems Dutch B B.V. (“Dutch B B.V.”), as “Dutch Borrower”, and its indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, Axalta Coating Systems
U.S. Holdings Inc. (“Axalta US Holdings”), as “US Borrower”, executed the second amendment to the Senior Secured Credit Facilities. The Amendment (i) converted
all of the outstanding Dollar Term Loans ($2,282.8 million) into a new class of term loans (the “New Dollar Term Loans”), and (ii) converted all of the outstanding Euro
Term Loans (€397.0 million) into a new class of term loans (the “New Euro Term Loans”). The New Dollar Term Loans are subject to a floor of 1.00%, plus an
applicable rate after the Amendment Effective Date. The applicable rate for such New Dollar Term Loans is 3.00% per annum for Eurocurrency Rate Loans as defined in
the credit agreement governing the Senior Secured Credit Facilities and 2.00% per annum for Base Rate Loans as defined in the credit agreement governing the Senior
Secured Credit Facilities. The applicable rate for both Eurocurrency Rate Loans as well as Base Rate Loans is subject to a further 25 basis point reduction if the Total
Net Leverage Ratio as defined in the credit agreement governing the Senior Secured Credit Facilities is less than or equal to 4.50:1.00. The New Euro Term Loans are
also subject to a floor of 1.00%, plus an applicable rate after the Amendment Effective Date. The applicable rate for such New Euro Term Loans is 3.25% per annum for
Eurocurrency Rate Loans. New Euro Term Loans may not be Base Rate Loans. The applicable rate is subject to a further 25 basis point reduction if the Total Net
Leverage Ratio is less than or equal to 4.50:1.00. As of August 15, 2014, our Total Net Leverage Ratio is less than 4.50:1.00. The applicable rate has been reduced to
2.75% for the New Dollar Term Loans and 3.00% for the New Euro Term Loans.
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The Senior Secured Credit Facilities are secured by substantially all assets of Axalta Coating Systems Dutch A B. V. (“Dutch A B.V.”) and the guarantors of the Dutch
Borrower. The Dollar Term Loan and Euro Term Loan mature on February 1, 2020 and the Revolving Credit Facility matures on February 1, 2018. Principal is paid
quarterly on both the Dollar Term Loan and the Euro Term Loan based on 1% per annum of the original principal amount with the unpaid balance due at maturity.

Interest is payable quarterly on both the Dollar Term Loan and the Euro Term Loan. Prior to the Amendment, interest on the Dollar Term Loan was subject to a floor of
1.25% for Eurocurrency Rate Loans plus an applicable rate of 3.50%. For Base Rate Loans, the interest was subject to a floor of the greater of the federal funds rate plus
0.50%, the Prime Lending Rate, an Adjusted Eurocurrency Rate, or 2.25% plus an applicable rate of 2.50%. Interest on the Euro Term Loan, a Eurocurrency Loan, was
subject to a floor of 1.25% plus an applicable rate of 4.00%.

Under the Amendment, interest on any outstanding borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility is subject to a floor of 1.00% for Eurocurrency Rate Loans plus an
applicable rate of 3.50% (subject to an additional step-down to 3.25%). For Base Rate Loans, the interest is subject to a floor of the greater of the federal funds rate plus
0.50%, the Prime Lending Rate, an Adjusted Eurocurrency Rate, or 2.00% plus an applicable rate of 2.50% (subject to an additional step-down to 2.25%).

Under circumstances described in the Credit Agreement, the Company may increase available revolving or term facility borrowings up to $400.0 million.

Any indebtedness under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities may be voluntarily prepaid in whole or in part, in minimum amounts, subject to the make-whole provisions
set forth in the Credit Agreement. Such indebtedness is subject to mandatory prepayments amounting to the proceeds of asset sales over $25.0 million annually, proceeds
from certain debt issuances not otherwise permitted under the Credit Agreement and 50% (subject to a step-down to 25.0% or 0% if the First Lien Leverage Ratio falls
below 4.25:1 or 3.50:1, respectively) of Excess Cash Flow.

At September 30, 2014, we voluntarily repaid $100.0 million of the outstanding New Dollar Term Loan. Concurrent with this action, we recorded a pre-tax loss on
extinguishment of $3.0 million, consisting of the write-off of $2.2 million and $0.8 million of unamortized deferred financing costs and original issue discounts,
respectively.

We are subject to customary negative covenants as well as a financial covenant which is a maximum First Lien Leverage Ratio. This financial covenant is applicable
only when greater than 25% of the Revolving Credit Facility (including letters of credit) is outstanding at the end of the fiscal quarter.
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Deferred financing costs of $92.9 million and original issue discounts of $25.7 million were incurred at the inception of the Senior Secured Credit Facilities. These
amounts are amortized as interest expense over the life of the Senior Secured Credit Facilities.

Amortization expense related to deferred financing costs, net for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 were $3.4 million and $10.1 million, respectively.
Amortization expense related to deferred financing costs, net for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 were $3.2 million and $8.4 million, respectively.

Amortization expense related to original issue discounts for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 were $0.9 million and $2.7 million, respectively.
Amortization expense related to original issue discounts for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 were $0.8 million and $2.2 million, respectively.

At September 30, 2014, there were no borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility. At September 30, 2014, letters of credit issued under the Revolving Credit
Facility totaled $15.7 million which reduced the availability under the Revolving Credit Facility. Availability under the Revolving Credit Facility was $384.3 million at
September 30, 2014.

Significant Terms of the Senior Notes

On February 1, 2013, Dutch B B.V., as “Dutch Issuer”, and Axalta US Holdings, as “US Issuer”, (collectively the “Issuers”) issued $750.0 million aggregate principal
amount of 7.375% senior unsecured notes due 2021 (the “Dollar Senior Notes”) and related guarantees thereof. Additionally, Dutch B B.V. issued €250.0 million
aggregate principal amount of 5.750% senior secured notes due 2021 (the “Euro Senior Notes”) and related guarantees thereof. Cash fees related to the issuance of the
Senior Notes were $33.1 million, are recorded within deferred financing costs, net and are amortized as interest expense over the life of the Notes. At September 30,
2014 and December 31, 2013, the remaining unamortized balance was $26.4 million and $29.4 million, respectively. The expense related to the amortization of the
deferred financing costs for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 were $1.0 million and $3.0 million, respectively. The expense related to the
amortization of the deferred financing costs for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 were $1.0 million and $2.7 million, respectively.

The Senior Notes are unconditionally guaranteed on a senior basis by certain of the Issuers’ subsidiaries.

The indentures governing the Senior Notes contain covenants that restrict the ability of the Issuers and their subsidiaries to, among other things, incur additional debt,
make certain payments including payment of dividends or repurchase equity interest of the Issuers, make loans or acquisitions or capital contributions and certain
investments, incur certain liens, sell assets, merge or consolidate or liquidate other entities, and enter into transactions with affiliates.

 
27



Table of Contents

Condensed Notes to Interim Condensed Consolidated (Successor) and Combined (Predecessor)
Financial Statements (Unaudited)

(Dollars in millions, unless otherwise noted)
 

Euro Senior Notes

The Euro Senior Notes were sold at par and are due February 1, 2021. The Euro Senior Notes bear interest at 5.750% payable semi-annually on February 1 and
August 1. Cash fees related to the issuance of the Euro Senior Notes were $10.2 million, and are recorded within “Deferred financing costs, net” and are amortized into
interest expense over the life of the Senior Notes. At September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the remaining unamortized balance was $8.1 million and $9.0 million,
respectively.

On or after February 1, 2016, we have the option to redeem all or part of the Euro Senior Notes at the following redemption prices (expressed as percentages of principal
amount):

 
Period    Euro Notes Percentage 
2016      104.313% 
2017      102.875% 
2018      101.438% 
2019 and thereafter      100.000% 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, at any time and from time to time prior to February 1, 2016, we may at our option redeem in the aggregate up to 40% of the original
aggregate principal amount of the Euro Senior Notes with the net cash proceeds of one or more Equity Offerings (as defined in the indenture governing the Euro Senior
Notes), at a redemption price of 105.750% plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date.

In addition, we have the option to redeem up to 10% of the Euro Senior Notes during any 12-month period from issue date until February 1, 2016 at a redemption price
of 103.0%, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date.

Upon the occurrence of certain events constituting a change of control, holders of the Euro Senior Notes have the right to require us to repurchase all or any part of the
Euro Senior Notes at a purchase price equal to 101% of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the repurchase date.

The indebtedness evidenced by the Euro Senior Notes and related guarantees is secured on a first-lien basis by the same assets that secure the obligations under the
Senior Secured Credit Facilities, subject to permitted liens and applicable local law limitations, is senior in right of payment to all future subordinated indebtedness of
the Issuers, is equal in right of payment to all existing and future senior indebtedness of the Issuers and is effectively senior to any unsecured indebtedness of the Issuers,
including the Dollar Senior Notes, to the extent of the value securing the Euro Senior Notes.

Dollar Senior Notes

The Dollar Senior Notes were sold at par and are due May 1, 2021. The Dollar Senior Notes bear interest at 7.375% payable semi-annually on February 1 and August 1.
Cash fees related to the issuance of the Dollar Senior Notes were $22.9 million, are recorded within “Deferred financing costs, net” and are amortized as interest expense
over the life of the Senior Notes. At September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the remaining unamortized balance was $18.3 million and $20.4 million, respectively.
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On or after February 1, 2016, we have the option to redeem all or part of the Dollar Senior Notes at the following redemption prices (expressed as percentages of
principal amount)

 
Period    Dollar Notes Percentage 
2016      105.531% 
2017      103.688% 
2018      101.844% 
2019 and thereafter      100.000% 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, at any time and from time to time prior to February 1, 2016, we may at our option redeem in the aggregate up to 40% of the original
aggregate principal amount of the Dollar Senior Notes with the net cash proceeds of one or more Equity Offerings (as defined in the indenture governing the Dollar
Senior Notes), at a redemption price of 107.375% plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date.

Upon the occurrence of certain events constituting a change of control, holders of the Dollar Senior Notes have the right to require us to repurchase all or any part of the
Dollar Senior Notes at a purchase price equal to 101% of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the repurchase date.

The indebtedness evidenced by the Dollar Senior Notes is senior unsecured indebtedness of the Issuers, is senior in right of payment to all future subordinated
indebtedness of the Issuers and is equal in right of payment to all existing and future senior indebtedness of the Issuers. The Dollar Senior Notes are effectively
subordinated to any secured indebtedness of the Issuers (including indebtedness of the Issuers outstanding under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities and the Euro Senior
Notes) to the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness.

Short-term borrowings

On September 12, 2013, we entered into short-term borrowings in the amount of $27.8 million to partially fund the acquisition of a real estate investment property which
closed in October 2013. The short-term borrowings associated with this acquisition were paid in full upon reaching maturity during the three months ended
September 30, 2014. Other miscellaneous short-term borrowings had an outstanding balance of $7.4 million and $0.4 million at September 30, 2014 and December 31,
2013, respectively.
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Bridge financing commitment fees

On August 30, 2012, we signed a debt commitment letter, which was subsequently amended and restated, that included a bridge facility comprised of $1,100.0 million of
unsecured U.S. bridge loans and a $300.0 million of secured bridge loans (the “Bridge Facility”), which was to be utilized to partially fund the Acquisition in the event
that permanent financing was not obtained. Drawings under the Bridge Facility were subject to certain conditions. Upon the issuance of the Senior Notes and the entry
into the Senior Secured Credit Facilities, the commitments under the Bridge Facility terminated. Commitment fees related to the Bridge Facility of $21.0 million and
associated fees of $4.0 million were expensed upon the termination of the Bridge Facility during the nine months ended September 30, 2013.

Future repayments

Below is a schedule of required future repayments of all borrowings outstanding at September 30, 2014.
 

Remainder of 2014    $ 9.1  
2015      33.5  
2016      28.1  
2017      28.1  
2018      28.1  
Thereafter      3,623.9  

        

   $3,750.8  
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(19) FAIR VALUE ACCOUNTING
 

  (a) Assets measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis

During the Successor three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 we recorded an impairment loss of $3.2 million associated with the abandonment
of certain in process research and development projects acquired in the Acquisition. During the Predecessor period from January 1, 2013 through
January 31, 2013, no assets were adjusted to their fair values on a nonrecurring basis. See Note 4 to the audited consolidated financial statements on the
Company’s annual report for further discussion related to the fair values of in process research and development projects acquired in the Acquisition.

 
  (b) Fair value of financial instruments

Cash and cash equivalents - The carrying amount of cash equivalents approximates fair value because the original maturity is less than 90 days.

Accounts and notes receivable - The carrying amount of accounts and notes receivable approximates fair value because of their short outstanding terms.

Available for sale securities - The fair values of available for sale securities at September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013 were $1.9 million and $4.9
million, respectively. The fair value was based upon either Level 1 inputs when the securities are actively traded with quoted market prices or Level 2
when the securities are not frequently traded.

Accounts payable - The carrying amount of accounts payable approximates fair value because of their short outstanding terms.

Short-term borrowings - The carrying value of short-term bank borrowings approximates fair value because their interest rates reflect current market
rates.

Long-term borrowings - The fair values of the Dollar Senior Notes and Euro Senior Notes at September 30, 2014 were $804.4 million and $338.6
million, respectively. The fair values at December 31, 2013 were $798.8 million and $362.1 million, respectively. The estimated fair values of these
notes are based on recent trades, as reported by a third party pricing service. Due to the infrequency of trades of the Dollar Senior Notes and the Euro
Senior Notes, these inputs are considered to be Level 2 inputs.

The fair values of the Dollar Term Loan and the Euro Term Loan at September 30, 2014 were $2,119.7 million and $503.5 million, respectively. The fair
values at December 31, 2013 were $2,297.1 million and $552.5 million, respectively. The estimated fair values of the Dollar Term Loan and the Euro
Term Loan are based on recent trades, as reported by a third party pricing service. Due to the infrequency of trades of the Dollar Term Loan and the Euro
Term Loan, these inputs are considered to be Level 2 inputs.
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(20) DERIVATIVE AND OTHER HEDGING INSTRUMENTS

We selectively use derivative instruments to reduce market risk associated with changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. The use of derivatives is
intended for hedging purposes only and we do not enter into derivative instruments for speculative purposes. A description of each type of derivative used to manage risk
is included in the following paragraphs.

During the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013, we entered into a foreign currency contract to hedge the variability of the US dollar equivalent of the
original borrowings under the Euro Term Loan and the proceeds from the issuance of Euro Senior Notes. Changes in the fair value of this instrument were recorded in
current period earnings and were presented in other (income) expense, net as a component of Exchange (gains) losses. Losses related to the settlement of forward
contracts recognized during the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013 totaled $19.4 million. Cash flows resulting from the settlement of the derivative
instrument on February 1, 2013 are reported as investing activities.

During the Successor three months ended September 30, 2013, we entered into five interest rate swaps with notional amounts totaling $1,173.0 million to hedge interest
rate exposures relate to our variable rate borrowings under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities. The maturity date of the interest rate swaps is September 29, 2017. The
interest rate swaps were designated and qualified as cash flow hedges.

The following table presents the location and fair values using Level 2 inputs of derivative instruments that qualify and have been designated as cash flow hedges
included in our interim unaudited condensed consolidated and combined balance sheet:

 
     September 30, 2014     December 31, 2013 
Other assets:      

Interest rate swaps    $ 9.2     $ 10.5  
      

 
      

 

Total assets    $ 9.2     $ 10.5  
      

 

      

 

Other liabilities:      
Interest rate swaps    $ 0.7     $ 1.2  

      
 

      
 

Total liabilities    $ 0.7     $ 1.2  
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The following table presents the location and fair values using Level 2 inputs of derivative instruments that have not been designated as hedges included in our interim
unaudited condensed consolidated and combined balance sheet:

 
     September 30, 2014     December 31, 2013 
Other assets:      

Interest rate cap      0.1       3.4  
      

 
      

 

Total assets    $ 0.1     $ 3.4  
      

 

      

 

Other accrued liabilities:      
Foreign currency contracts      —         —    

      
 

      
 

Total liabilities    $ —       $ —    
      

 

      

 

For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the derivative is reported as a component of
other comprehensive income (“OCI”) and reclassified into earnings in the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. Gains and losses
on the derivative representing either hedge ineffectiveness or hedge components excluded from the assessment of effectiveness are recognized in current earnings.

The following table sets forth the locations and amounts recognized during the three months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 for these cash flow hedges.
 
   

Amount of (Gain) Loss
Recognized in OCI on
Derivatives (Effective

Portion)  

 

Location of (Gain)
Loss Reclassified

from Accumulated
OCI into Income

(Effective Portion)

 
Amount of (Gain) Loss

Reclassified from
Accumulated OCI to Income

(Effective Portion)  

 

Location of (Gains)
Losses Recognized

in Income on
Derivatives

(Ineffective Portion)

 
Amount of (Gain) Loss

Recognized in Income on
Derivatives (Ineffective

Portion)             

Derivatives in Cash
Flow Hedging
Relationships  

Three Months
Ended

September 30,
2014    

Three Months
Ended

September 30,
2013      

Three Months
Ended

September 30,
2014    

Three Months
Ended

September 30,
2013      

Three Months
Ended

September 30,
2014    

Three Months
Ended

September 30,
2013  

Interest rate contracts   $ (4.0)   $ 3.9    Interest expense, net   $ 1.7    $ 1.7    Interest expense, net   $ (0.9)   $ 1.6  
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The following table sets forth the locations and amounts recognized during the nine months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 for these cash flow hedges.
 
   

Amount of (Gain) Loss
Recognized in OCI on
Derivatives (Effective

Portion)  

 

Location of (Gain)
Loss Reclassified

from Accumulated
OCI into Income

(Effective Portion)

 
Amount of (Gain) Loss

Reclassified from
Accumulated OCI to Income

(Effective Portion)  

 

Location of (Gains)
Losses Recognized

in Income on
Derivatives

(Ineffective Portion)

 
Amount of (Gain) Loss

Recognized in Income on
Derivatives (Ineffective

Portion)             

Derivatives in Cash
Flow Hedging
Relationships  

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,
2014    

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,
2013      

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,
2014    

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,
2013      

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,
2014    

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,
2013  

Interest rate contracts   $ 1.0    $ (3.6)   Interest expense, net   $ 4.9    $ 2.8    Interest expense, net   $ (0.2)   $ (4.3) 

Also during the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013, the Company purchased a €300.0 million 1.5% interest rate cap on its Euro Term Loan which
matures on September 29, 2017. The company paid a premium of $3.1 million for the interest rate cap. The interest rate cap was not designated as a hedge and the
changes in the fair value of the derivative instruments are recorded in current period earnings and are presented in interest expense.

During the Predecessor period, DPC, through DuPont, entered into contractual arrangements (derivatives) to reduce its exposure to foreign currency risk. The foreign
currency derivative program was utilized for financial risk management and consisted of forward contracts. The derivative instruments were not designated as hedging
instruments. Changes in the fair value of the derivative instruments are recorded in current period earnings and are presented in Other (income) expense, net as a
component of exchange (gains) losses.

Fair value gains and losses of derivative contracts, as determined using Level 2 inputs, that do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment are recorded in income as
follows:

 
        Successor          Predecessor  

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging
Instruments under ASC 815  

Location of (Gain) Loss
Recognized in Income on

Derivatives  

Three Months
Ended

September 30,
2014    

Three Months
Ended

September 30,
2013    

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,
2014    

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,
2013         

Period from
January 1, 2013

through
January 31,

2013  
Foreign currency contracts

 
Other (income)

expense, net   $ (0.3)   $ —      $ 1.6    $ 21.4         $ 2.0  
 

Interest rate cap   Interest expense, net     0.2       0.3      3.3      (1.4)         —    
                                             

    $ (0.1)   $ 0.3    $ 4.9    $ 20.0         $ 2.0  
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(21) SEGMENTS

The Company identifies an operating segment as a component: (i) that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses; (ii) whose
operating results are regularly reviewed by the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its
performance; and (iii) that has available discrete financial information.

We have two operating segments: Performance Coatings and Transportation Coatings. The CODM reviews financial information at the operating segment level to
allocate resources and to assess the operating results and financial performance for each operating segment. Our CODM is identified as the Chief Executive Officer
because he has final authority over performance assessment and resource allocation decisions. Our segments are based on the type and concentration of customers
served, service requirements, methods of distribution and major product lines.

Through our Performance Coatings segment we provide high-quality liquid and powder coatings solutions to a fragmented and local customer base. We are one of only a
few suppliers with the technology to provide precise color matching and highly durable coatings systems. The end-markets within this segment are refinish and
industrial.

Through our Transportation Coatings segment we provide advanced coating technologies to OEMs of light and commercial vehicles. These increasingly global
customers require a high level of technical support coupled with cost-effective, environmentally responsible coatings systems that can be applied with a high degree of
precision, consistency and speed.
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    Successor  

   
Three months ended
September 30, 2014         

Nine months ended
September 30, 2014  

   
Performance

Coatings    
Transportation

Coatings     Total         
Performance

Coatings    
Transportation

Coatings     Total  
Net sales(1)   $ 663.5    $ 445.4    $1,108.9        $ 1,944.6    $ 1,338.3    $3,282.9  
Equity in earnings in unconsolidated affiliates     0.4      0.1      0.5          0.9      0.4      1.3  
Adjusted EBITDA(2)     148.5      79.5      228.0          409.7      226.1      635.8  
Investment in unconsolidated affiliates     8.3      7.6      15.9          8.3      7.6      15.9  
 
    Successor  

   
Three months ended
September 30, 2013         

Nine months ended
September 30, 2013  

   
Performance

Coatings    
Transportation

Coatings     Total         
Performance

Coatings    
Transportation

Coatings     Total  
Net sales(1)   $ 643.7    $ 430.9    $1,074.6        $ 1,680.1    $ 1,178.1    $2,858.2  
Equity in earnings in unconsolidated affiliates     0.2      —        0.2          1.5      0.1      1.6  
Adjusted EBITDA(2)     147.3      46.8      194.1          360.2      141.4      501.6  
Investment in unconsolidated affiliates     7.5      8.2      15.7          7.5      8.2      15.7  
 
     Predecessor         

    
January 1, through
January 31, 2013         

    
Performance

Coatings    
Transportation

Coatings     Total         
Net sales(1)   $ 186.8    $ 139.4     $   326.2      
Equity in earnings (losses) in unconsolidated affiliates     —        (0.3)     (0.3)    
Adjusted EBITDA(2)     15.0      17.7       32.7      
Investment in unconsolidated affiliates     2.0      6.7       8.7      
 
(1)  The Company has no intrasegment sales.
(2)  The primary measure of segment operating performance is Adjusted EBITDA, which is defined as net income (loss) before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization

and other unusual items impacting operating results. Adjusted EBITDA is a key metric that is used by management to evaluate business performance in comparison to
budgets, forecasts, and prior year financial results, providing a measure that management believes reflects the Company’s core operating performance. Reconciliation of
Adjusted EBITDA to income (loss) before income taxes follows:
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     Successor     Successor           Predecessor 

    
Three Months Ended

September 30,    
Nine Months Ended

September 30,          

January 1
through

January 31, 
     2014     2013     2014     2013           2013  
Adjusted EBITDA    $ 228.0     $ 194.1     $635.8     $ 501.6          $ 32.7  
Inventory step-up(a)      —         —         —         103.7            —    
Merger and acquisition related costs(b)      —         —         —         28.1            —    
Financing fees and extinguishment(c)      3.0       —         6.1       25.0            —    
Foreign exchange remeasurement (gains) losses(d)      59.6       (9.7)     45.1       49.9            4.5  
Long-term employee benefit plan adjustments(e)      (4.7)      1.8       (0.2)     4.8            2.3  
Termination benefits and other employee related costs(f)      3.2       47.6       9.1       64.8            0.3  
Consulting and advisory fees(g)      8.8       11.3       29.5       33.2            —    
Transition-related costs(h)      36.7       8.8       84.2       16.2            —    
Other adjustments(i)      2.6       3.2       13.6       2.9            0.1  
Dividends in respect of noncontrolling interest(j)      —         —         (1.6)     (4.1)          —    
Management fee expense(k)      0.8       0.9       2.4       2.2            —    

                                             

EBITDA      118.0       130.2       447.6       174.9            25.5  
Interest expense, net      52.6       62.7       166.5       153.2            —  
Depreciation and amortization      76.2       87.4       229.1       228.0            9.9  

                                             

Income (loss) before income taxes    $ (10.8)    $ (19.9)   $ 52.0     $(206.3)        $ 15.6  
      

 
     

 
     

 
     

 
          

 

 
(a) During the Successor Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013, we recorded a non-cash fair value adjustment associated with our acquisition accounting for inventories.

These amounts increased cost of goods sold by $103.7 million.
(b) In connection with the Acquisition, we incurred $28.1 million of merger and acquisition costs during the Successor Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013. These costs

consisted primarily of investment banking, legal and other professional advisory services costs.
(c) On August 30, 2012, we signed a debt commitment letter which included the Bridge Facility. Upon the issuance of the Senior Notes and the entry into the Senior

Secured Credit Facilities, the commitments under the Bridge Facility terminated. Commitment fees related to the Bridge Facility of $21.0 million and associated fees of
$4.0 million were expensed upon payment and the termination of the Bridge Facility. In connection with the refinancing of the Senior Secured Credit Facilities in
February 2014 (discussed further in Note 18), we recognized $3.1 million of costs. At September 30, 2014, we prepaid $100.0 million of the outstanding New Dollar
Term Loan and recorded a pre-tax loss on extinguishment of $3.0 million.

(d) Eliminates foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the remeasurement of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, including a $19.4 million loss
related to the acquisition date settlement of a foreign currency contract used to hedge the variability of Euro-based financing.

(e) For the Successor periods ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, eliminates the non-service cost components of employee benefit costs. Additionally, we deducted a
pension curtailment gain of $6.6 million recorded during the three months ended September 30, 2014. For the Predecessor period January 1, 2013 through January 31,
2013, eliminates (1) all U.S. pension and other long-term employee benefit costs that were not assumed as part of the Acquisition and (2) the non-service cost
component of the pension and other long-term employee benefit costs.
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(f) Represents expenses primarily related to employee termination benefits, including our initiative to improve the overall cost structure within the European region, and

other employee-related costs. Termination benefits include the costs associated with our headcount initiatives for establishment of new roles and elimination of old roles
and other costs associated with cost saving opportunities that were related to our transition to a standalone entity.

(g) Represents fees paid to consultants, advisors, and other third-party professional organizations for professional services rendered in conjunction with the transition from
DuPont to a standalone entity.

(h) Represents charges associated with the transition from DuPont to a standalone entity, including branding and marketing, information technology related costs, and
facility transition costs, as well as costs associated with the IPO.

(i) Represents costs for certain unusual or non-operational losses and the non-cash impact of natural gas and currency hedge losses allocated to DPC by DuPont, stock-
based compensation, asset impairments, equity investee dividends, indemnity income associated with the Transaction, and loss (gain) on sale and disposal of property,
plant and equipment.

(j) Represents the payment of dividends to our joint venture partners by our consolidated entities that are not wholly owned.
(k) Pursuant to Axalta’s management agreement with Carlyle Investment Management, L.L.C., an affiliate of Carlyle, for management and financial advisory services and

oversight provided to Axalta and its subsidiaries, Axalta is required to pay an annual management fee of $3.0 million and out-of-pocket expenses. This agreement was
terminated upon consummation of the IPO.

Our business serves four end-markets globally as follows:
 
     Successor           Predecessor  

    
Three Months Ended

September 30,     
Nine Months Ended

September 30,          
January 1 through

January 31,  
     2014      2013      2014      2013           2013  
Performance Coatings                   

Refinish    $ 478.1     $ 462.4     $1,384.4     $1,203.1         $ 129.4  
Industrial      185.4       181.3       560.2       477.0           57.4  

      
 

      
 

      
 

      
 

          
 

Total Net sales Performance Coatings      663.5       643.7       1,944.6       1,680.1           186.8  
      

 
      

 
      

 
      

 
          

 

Transportation Coatings                   
Light Vehicle      342.5       339.8       1,045.5       938.6           111.6  
Commercial Vehicle      102.9       91.1       292.8       239.5           27.8  

      
 

      
 

      
 

      
 

          
 

Total Net sales Transportation Coatings      445.4       430.9       1,338.3       1,178.1           139.4  
      

 
      

 
      

 
      

 
          

 

Total Net sales    $1,108.9     $1,074.6     $3,282.9     $2,858.2         $ 326.2  
      

 

      

 

      

 

      

 

          

 

Segment information for the Predecessor period has been recast to conform to the Successor segment presentation.

Asset information is not reviewed or included with our internal management reporting. Therefore, the Company has not disclosed asset information for each reportable
segment.
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(22) ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME

The following table reconciles changes in Accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”) by component:
 

   

Foreign
Currency

Translation
Adjustments   

Pension and
Other Long-

term
Employee

Benefit
Adjustments   

Unrealized
(gain) loss on

securities    

Unrealized
Gain on

Derivatives   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
(Income) Loss  

December 31, 2013   $ (24.4)   $ (7.4)   $ 0.9     $ (3.1)   $ (34.0) 
Current year deferrals to AOCI     36.1       7.7       (0.8)     (2.5)     40.5  
Benefit Plan Amendments     —         (9.6)     —         —         (9.6) 
Reclassifications from AOCI to Net income     —         0.1       —         3.1       3.2  

                                       

Net Change     36.1       (1.8)     (0.8)     0.6       34.2  
                                       

September 30, 2014   $ 11.7     $ (9.2)   $ 0.1     $ (2.5)   $ 0.2  
     

 
     

 
     

 
     

 
     

 

The income tax related to the adjustment for pension and other long-term employee benefits for the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2014 was $0.1 million.
The cumulative income tax cost related to the adjustment for pension and other long-term employee benefits at September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013 was $3.6
million and $3.5 million, respectively. The income tax related to the change in the unrealized gain on derivatives for the Successor nine months ended September 30,
2014 was $0.4 million. The cumulative income tax cost related to the adjustment for unrealized gain on derivatives at September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013 was
$1.5 million and $1.9 million, respectively.

 

   

Foreign
Currency

Translation
Adjustments   

Pension and
Other Long-

term
Employee

Benefit
Adjustments   

Unrealized
loss on

securities    

Unrealized
Gain on

Derivatives   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income  

December 31, 2012   $ —       $ —      $ —      $ —       $ —    
Current year deferrals to AOCI     (29.3)     —        0.6      (5.4)     (34.1) 
Reclassifications from AOCI to Net income     —         —        —        2.8       2.8  

                                       

Net Change     (29.3)     —        0.6      (2.6)     (31.3) 
                                       

September 30, 2013   $ (29.3)   $ —      $ 0.6    $ (2.6)   $ (31.3) 
     

 
     

 
     

 
     

 
     

 

The income tax related to the adjustment for pension and other long-term employee benefits for the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013, was $0.0 million.
The cumulative income tax cost related to the adjustment for pension and other long-term employee benefits at September 30, 2013 was $0.0 million. The income tax
related to the change in the unrealized gain on derivatives for the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013 was $1.3 million. The cumulative income tax cost
related to the adjustment for unrealized gain on derivatives at September 30, 2013 was $1.3 million. The income tax related to the change in the unrealized loss on
securities for the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013 was $0.3 million. The cumulative income tax benefit related to the adjustment for unrealized loss on
securities at September 30, 2013 was $0.3 million.
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Foreign
Currency

Translation
Adjustments   

Pension and
Other Long-

term
Employee

Benefit
Adjustments   

Unrealized
loss on

securities    

Unrealized
Gain on

Derivatives   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income  

(Predecessor) December 31, 2012   $ —      $ (142.3)   $ 1.4    $ —      $ (140.9) 
Current year deferrals to AOCI     —        0.7       0.2      —        0.9  
Reclassifications from AOCI to Net income     —        —         —        —        —    

                                       

Net Change     —        (141.6)     1.6      —        (140.0) 
                                       

(Predecessor) January 31, 2013   $ —      $ (141.6)   $ 1.6    $ —      $ (140.0) 
     

 
     

 
     

 
     

 
     

 

The income tax related to the adjustment for pension and other long-term employee benefits for the Predecessor one month ended January 31, 2013 was $0.4 million.
The cumulative income tax benefit related to the adjustment for pension and other long-term employee benefits at January 31, 2013 was $76.3 million. The income tax
related to the change in the unrealized gain on derivatives for the Predecessor one month ended January 31, 2013 was $0.0 million. The cumulative income tax cost
related to the adjustment for unrealized gain on derivatives at January 31, 2013 was $0.0 million. The income tax related to the change in the unrealized loss on
securities for the Predecessor one month ended January 31, 2013 was $0.1 million. The cumulative income tax cost related to the adjustment for unrealized loss on
securities at January 31, 2013 was $0.9 million.

 
(23) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In October 2014, the Board of Directors approved a 1.69-for-1 stock split of the Company’s issued and outstanding common stock, which was effective on October 28,
2014. The stock split did not change the par value of the Company’s common stock. The condensed consolidated financial statements have been retroactively adjusted to
give effect to the stock split. See Note 1 for additional details.

In conjunction with the effectiveness of the IPO, we recorded a $13.4 million pre-tax charge related to our consulting agreement with Carlyle Investment, which
terminated upon the IPO.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations includes statements regarding industry outlook, our expectations regarding the
performance of our business and other forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 that are subject to numerous
risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, the risks and uncertainties described in “Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures,” and “Forward-Looking
Statements” as well as “Risk Factors” in our Registration Statement filed on Form S-1. These statements include those that related to estimates reflected in our financial
results as well as management’s plan and outlook. Our actual results may differ materially from those contained in or implied by any forward-looking statements. The
following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the interim unaudited condensed consolidated
and combined financial statements and the condensed notes thereto included elsewhere in this quarterly report, as well as the Company’s Registration Statement.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Many statements made in this quarterly report that are not statements of historical fact, including statements about our beliefs and expectations, are forward-
looking statements and should be evaluated as such. Forward-looking statements include information concerning possible or assumed future results of operations, including
descriptions of our business plan and strategies. These statements often include words such as “anticipate,” “expect,” “suggests,” “plan,” “believe,” “intend,” “estimates,”
“targets,” “projects,” “should,” “could,” “would,” “may,” “will,” “forecast,” and other similar expressions. We base these forward-looking statements or projections on our
current expectations, plans and assumptions that we have made in light of our experience in the industry, as well as our perceptions of historical trends, current conditions,
expected future developments and other factors we believe are appropriate under the circumstances and at such time. As you read and consider this quarterly report, you should
understand that these statements are not guarantees of performance or results. The forward-looking statements and projections are subject to and involve risks, uncertainties and
assumptions and you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements or projections. Although we believe that these forward-looking statements and
projections are based on reasonable assumptions at the time they are made, you should be aware that many factors could affect our actual financial results or results of
operations and could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking statements and projections. Factors that may materially affect such
forward-looking statements and projections include:
 

  •   adverse developments in economic conditions and, particularly, in conditions in the automotive and transportation industries;
 

  •   our inability to successfully execute on our growth strategy;
 

  •   risks associated with our non-U.S. operations;
 

  •   currency-related risks;
 

  •   increased competition;
 

  •   risks of the loss of any of our significant customers or the consolidation of MSOs, distributors and/or body shops;
 

  •   price increases or interruptions in our supply of raw materials;
 

  •   failure to develop and market new products and manage product life cycles;
 

  •   litigation and other commitments and contingencies;
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  •   significant environmental liabilities and costs as a result of our current and past operations or products, including operations or products related to our business prior to
the Acquisition;

 

  •   unexpected liabilities under any pension plans applicable to our employees;
 

  •   risk that the insurance we maintain may not fully cover all potential exposures;
 

  •   failure to comply with the anti-corruption laws of the United States and various international jurisdictions;
 

  •   failure to comply with anti-terrorism laws and regulations and applicable trade embargoes;
 

  •   business disruptions, security threats and security breaches;
 

  •   our ability to protect and enforce intellectual property rights;
 

  •   intellectual property infringement suits against us by third parties;
 

  •   our substantial indebtedness;
 

  •   our ability to obtain additional capital on commercially reasonable terms may be limited;
 

  •   our ability to realize the anticipated benefits of any acquisitions and divestitures;
 

  •   our joint ventures’ ability to operate according to our business strategy should our joint venture partners fail to fulfill their obligations;
 

  •   ability to recruit and retain the experienced and skilled personnel we need to compete;
 

  •   work stoppages, union negotiations, labor disputes and other matters associated with our labor force;
 

  •   terrorist acts, conflicts, wars and natural disasters that may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations;
 

  •   transporting certain materials that are inherently hazardous due to their toxic nature;
 

  •   weather conditions that may temporarily reduce the demand for some of our products;
 

  •   reduced demand for some of our products as a result of improved safety features on vehicles and insurance company influence;
 

  •   the amount of the costs, fees, expenses and charges related to this initial public offering and the related costs of being a public company;
 

  •   any statements of belief and any statements of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing;
 

  •   Carlyle’s ability to control our common shares;
 

  •   other factors disclosed in this quarterly report; and
 

  •   other factors beyond our control.

These cautionary statements should not be construed by you to be exhaustive and are made only as of the date of this quarterly report. We undertake no obligation to update or
revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

Overview

We are a leading global manufacturer, marketer and distributor of high performance coatings systems. We have a nearly 150-year heritage in the coatings industry and are
known for manufacturing high-quality products with well-recognized brands supported by market-leading technology and customer service. Our diverse global footprint of 35
manufacturing facilities, 7 technology centers, 45 customer training centers and approximately 12,650 employees allows us to meet the needs of customers in over 130
countries. We serve our customer base through an extensive sales force and technical support organization, as well as through over 4,000 independent, locally based
distributors.
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We operate our business in two segments, Performance Coatings and Transportation Coatings. Our segments are based on the type and concentration of customers served,
service requirements, methods of distribution and major product lines.

Through our Performance Coatings segment, we provide high-quality liquid and powder coatings solutions to a fragmented and local customer base. We are one of only a few
suppliers with the technology to provide precise color matching and highly durable coatings systems. The end-markets within this segment are refinish and industrial.

Through our Transportation Coatings segment we provide advanced coating technologies to OEMs of light and commercial vehicles. These increasingly global customers
require a high level of technical support coupled with cost-effective, environmentally responsible coatings systems that can be applied with a high degree of precision,
consistency and speed.
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Business Highlights and Trends

From 2011 to 2013, we managed the transition of ownership and operational separation resulting from the planned divestiture of our business by DuPont and ultimately the
Acquisition, including significant changes to our senior leadership team. During this time period, our Adjusted EBITDA grew at a 14% CAGR primarily as the result of several
strategic initiatives focused on margin improvement. In addition to regular price increases in our refinish end-market, these initiatives included selective price increases in other
end-markets, reducing sales with lower margin customers and productivity improvements, which collectively drove Adjusted EBITDA growth in both of our segments.

From 2011 to 2013, our net sales remained flat with net sales growth in our Transportation Coatings segment offset by net sales declines in our Performance Coatings segment.
Net sales in our Transportation Coatings segment grew at a 3% CAGR, driven by increases in both our light and commercial vehicle end-markets, primarily as a result of
increased vehicle production in North America and Asia Pacific and improvements in average selling price driven by new product and color introductions. Net sales in our
Performance Coatings segment decreased at a 2% CAGR over the same period as a result of lower volumes in both our refinish and industrial end-markets in developed
markets. In EMEA, volumes declined as a result of a difficult economic environment while in North America our lack of participation in the MSO market prior to the
Acquisition had a negative impact on our volumes as MSO body shops increased the number of vehicles serviced at the expense of independent body shop customers. These
factors in developed markets were partially offset by continued refinish net sales growth in the emerging markets.

With 12 of our 17 most senior managers joining our company since the Acquisition, 2014 will be the first full fiscal year of results under our current senior management team.
Our net sales increased 3.1% for the nine month period ended September 30, 2014 compared to the corresponding pro forma period (see “Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed
Consolidated and Combined Financial Information”), the prior year, driven by 4.2% growth in our Performance Coatings segment and 1.6% growth in our Transportation
Coatings segment, with growth in both segments across all regions except Latin America. Excluding Latin America, where difficult economic conditions contributed to weak
demand, our net sales grew 5% in the first nine months of 2014 compared to the same pro forma period last year. The following trends have impacted our segment and end-
market sales performance in 2014:
 

  •   Performance Coatings: Improving economic conditions in Europe, our recent wins with growing MSO customers in North America and continued
growth in Asia Pacific drove higher volumes.

 

  •   Transportation Coatings: Significant growth in Asia Pacific driven by increases in light vehicle production combined with increased North American
commercial truck volumes were largely offset by significantly lower light vehicle volumes in Latin America.

Since the Acquisition, we have implemented numerous initiatives to reduce our fixed and variable costs that have improved our Adjusted EBITDA margin during the first nine
months of 2014 compared to the prior year. Examples include transitioning our IT systems to more cost-effective solutions that better meet our needs as an independent
company, developing a global procurement organization to reduce procurement costs and investing in a European manufacturing re-alignment to position the region for
profitable growth. These initiatives are just beginning to contribute to our financial results and we believe they will continue to drive profitability improvements over the next
several years.
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Our business serves four end-markets globally as follows:
 
     Successor     Successor      Pro forma         

    

Three Months
Ended

September 30,    

Three Months
Ended

September 30,          

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,    

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,        
     2014      2013      % change    2014      2013      % change 
Performance Coatings                 

Refinish    $ 478.1     $ 462.4       3.4%   $ 1,384.4     $ 1,332.5       3.9% 
Industrial      185.4       181.3       2.3%     560.2       534.4       4.8% 

      
 

      
 

      
 

     
 

      
 

      
 

Total Net sales Performance Coatings      663.5       643.7       3.1%     1,944.6       1,866.9       4.2% 
      

 
      

 
      

 
     

 
      

 
      

 

Transportation Coatings                 
Light Vehicle      342.5       339.8       0.8%     1,045.5       1,050.2       (0.4)% 
Commercial Vehicle      102.9       91.1       13.0%     292.8       267.3       9.5% 

      
 

      
 

      
 

     
 

      
 

      
 

Total Net sales Transportation Coatings      445.4       430.9       3.4%     1,338.3       1,317.5       1.6% 
      

 
      

 
      

 
     

 
      

 
      

 

Total Net sales    $ 1,108.9     $ 1,074.6       3.2%   $ 3,282.9     $ 3,184.4       3.1% 
      

 

      

 

      

 

     

 

      

 

      

 

Recent Developments

In October 2014, the Board of Directors approved a 1.69-for-1 stock split of the Company’s issued and outstanding common stock, which was effective on October 28,
2014. Subsequently, the Company priced its initial public offering (“the Offering”) on November 11, 2014 of 50,000,000 ordinary shares at a price of $19.50 per share. The
underwriters also exercised their over-allotment option and purchased an additional 7,500,000 common shares. We will receive no proceeds from the Offering.
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Basis of Presentation

Axalta Coating Systems Ltd. (formerly known as Flash Bermuda Co., Ltd. or Axalta Coating Systems Bermuda Co., Ltd.) (“Axalta” or the “Company”), a Bermuda exempted
limited liability company formed at the direction of affiliates of Carlyle, was incorporated on August 24, 2012 for the purpose of consummating the Acquisition.

The purchase price for the Acquisition was funded by: (i) an equity contribution of $1,350.0 million into the Company by affiliates of Carlyle (the “Equity Contribution”),
(ii) proceeds from borrowings under our Senior Secured Credit Facilities, consisting of a $2,300.0 million Dollar Term Loan facility and a €400.0 million Euro Term Loan
facility, both of which mature on February 1, 2020 and (iii) proceeds from the issuance of $750.0 million aggregate principal amount of 7.375% Dollar Senior Notes and the
issuance of €250.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.750% Euro Senior Notes. The Senior Secured Credit Facilities and the Senior Notes are more fully described in
Note 18. Subsequent to the closing, we received approximately $18.6 million in closing date working capital and pension adjustments resulting in a final purchase price of
$4,907.3 million. In February 2014, we entered into an amendment to the credit agreement governing the Senior Secured Credit Facilities to reprice our existing first lien term
loan facilities (the “Refinancing”).

The combined financial statements for the Predecessor one-month period ended January 31, 2013 have been prepared on a carve-out basis and are derived from the
consolidated financial statements of DuPont and may not be comparable to the consolidated financial statements for the Successor periods ended September 30, 2014 and 2013.

In addition to the historical analysis of results of operations, we have prepared unaudited supplemental pro forma results of operations for the nine month periods ended
September 30, 2014 and 2013 as if the Acquisition, related Financing and Refinancing (collectively referred to herein as the “Financing”) transactions and the Offering
transactions had occurred on January 1, 2013. The pro forma analysis is prepared and presented to aid in explaining the results of operations. The pro forma discussion follows
the historical analysis of results of operations.

The pro forma results for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 reflect the Acquisition, the Financing and the Offering as if they had occurred on January 1,
2013. The pro forma results for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, also reflect the combination of the Predecessor period January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013
and the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013. The pro forma results do not reflect the actual results we would have achieved had the Acquisition been completed
as of January 1, 2013 and are not indicative of our future results of operations. The pro forma presentation included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis differs from that
included in the footnotes to the consolidated financial statements, which is prepared assuming the Acquisition occurred on January 1, 2012 in accordance with ASC 805.
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Acquisition Accounting

We allocated the purchase price paid to acquire DPC to the acquired assets and liabilities assumed based on their respective estimated fair value as of the acquisition date. The
application of acquisition accounting resulted in an increase in amortization and depreciation expense relating to our acquired intangible assets and property, plant and
equipment. In addition to the increase in the net carrying value of property, plant and equipment, we revised the remaining depreciable lives of property, plant and equipment to
reflect the estimated remaining useful lives for purposes of calculating periodic depreciation expense. We adjusted the carrying values of the joint ventures to reflect their
estimated fair values at the date of purchase. We adjusted the value of inventory to its estimated fair value, which increased the costs recognized upon the sale of this acquired
inventory. We also provided for deferred income taxes for the future tax consequences of acquisition date basis differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities utilized for financial reporting purposes and the respective amounts used for income tax purposes. The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of
assets and liabilities was assigned to goodwill, which is not amortized for accounting purposes but is subject to testing for impairment at least annually. See Note 4 to our
interim unaudited condensed consolidated and combined financial statements elsewhere in this quarterly report for additional information regarding the acquisition.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Critical accounting policies are those accounting policies that can have a significant impact on the presentation of our financial condition and results of operations, and that
require the use of complex and subjective estimates based upon past experience and management’s judgment. Because of the uncertainty inherent in such estimates, actual
results may differ materially from these estimates. The policies applied in preparing our consolidated financial statements in our Registration Statement are those that
management believes are the most dependent on the application of estimates and assumptions. There have been no material changes to our critical accounting policies and
estimates previously disclosed in the Company’s registration statement filed on Form S-1. For a description of our critical accounting policies and estimates as well as a listing
of our significant accounting policies, see the Company’s Registration Statement filed on Form S-1, “Management Discussion and Analysis - Critical Accounting Policies and
Estimates” and “Note 3 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” within the notes to the audited consolidated financial statements.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Reconciliation of EBITDA to Adjusted EBITDA

To supplement our financial information presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP, we use the following additional non-GAAP financial measures to clarify and enhance an
understanding of past performance: EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA. We believe that the presentation of these financial measures enhances an investor’s understanding of our
financial performance. We further believe that these financial measures are useful financial metrics to assess our operating performance from period-to-period by excluding
certain items that we believe are not representative of our core business. We use certain of these financial measures for business planning purposes and in measuring our
performance relative to that of our competitors. We utilize Adjusted EBITDA as the primary measure of segment performance.

EBITDA consists of net income (loss) before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. Adjusted EBITDA consists of EBITDA adjusted for (i) non-operating income or
expense, (ii) the impact of certain non-cash, nonrecurring or other items that are included in net income and EBITDA that we do not consider indicative of our ongoing
operating performance and (iii) certain unusual or nonrecurring items impacting results in a particular period. We believe that making such adjustments provides investors
meaningful information to understand our operating results and ability to analyze financial and business trends on a period-to-period basis.

We believe these financial measures are commonly used by investors to evaluate our performance and that of our competitors. However, our use of the terms EBITDA and
Adjusted EBITDA may vary from that of others in our industry. These financial measures should not be considered as alternatives to operating income (loss), net income (loss),
earnings per share or any other performance measures derived in accordance with U.S. GAAP as measures of operating performance.

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA have important limitations as analytical tools and you should not consider them in isolation or as substitutes for analysis of our results as
reported under U.S. GAAP. Some of these limitations are:
 

  •   EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA:
 

  •   do not reflect the significant interest expense on our debt, including the Senior Secured Credit Facilities and the Senior Notes;
 

  •   eliminate the impact of income taxes on our results of operations; and
 

  •   contain certain estimates for periods prior to the Acquisition of standalone costs;
 

  •   although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized will often have to be replaced in the future, and EBITDA and
Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect any expenditures for such replacements; and

 

  •   other companies in our industry may calculate EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA differently than we do, limiting their usefulness as comparative measures.
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We compensate for these limitations by using EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA along with other comparative tools, together with U.S. GAAP measurements, to assist in the
evaluation of operating performance. Such U.S. GAAP measurements include operating income (loss), net income (loss), earnings per share and other performance measures.

In evaluating these financial measures, you should be aware that in the future we may incur expenses similar to those eliminated in this presentation. Our presentation of
EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA should not be construed as an inference that our future results will be unaffected by unusual or nonrecurring items.

The following table reconciles the EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA calculations discussed above to net income (loss) for the periods presented:
 
    Successor          Predecessor    Pro Forma  

   

Three Months
Ended

September 30,    

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,         

January 1
through

January 31,   

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,  
($ in millions)   2014     2013     2014     2013          2013     2014     2013 (1) 
Net income (loss)   $ (18.3)   $ 6.4     $ 33.8     $(171.9)       $ 8.5    $ 40.9     $ (42.6) 
Interest expense, net     52.6       62.7       166.5       153.2           —        163.8       155.5  
Provision (benefit) for income taxes     7.5       (26.3)     18.2       (34.4)         7.1      19.3       11.4  
Depreciation and amortization     76.2       87.4       229.1       228.0           9.9      229.1       254.6  

                                                           

EBITDA     118.0       130.2       447.6       174.9           25.5      453.1       378.9  
Inventory step up (a)     —         —         —         103.7           —        —         —    
Merger and acquisition related costs (b)     —         —         —         28.1           —        —         —    
Financing costs and extinguishment (c)     3.0       —         6.1       25.0           —        3.0       —    
Foreign exchange remeasurement (gains) losses (d)     59.6       (9.7)     45.1       49.9           4.5      45.1       35.0  
Long-term employee benefit plan adjustments (e)     (4.7)     1.8       (0.2)     4.8           2.3      (0.2)     7.1  
Termination benefits and other employee related costs (f)     3.2       47.6       9.1       64.8           0.3      9.1       65.1  
Consulting and advisory fees (g)     8.8       11.3       29.5       33.2           —        29.5       33.2  
Transition-related costs (h)     36.7       8.8       84.2       16.2           —        84.2       16.2  
Other adjustments (i)     2.6       3.2       13.6       2.9           0.1      13.6       3.1  
Dividends in respect of noncontrolling interest (j)     —         —         (1.6)     (4.1)         —        (1.6)     (4.1) 
Management fee expense (k)     0.8       0.9       2.4       2.2           —        —         —    

                                                           

Adjusted EBITDA   $228.0     $194.1     $635.8     $ 501.6         $ 32.7    $635.8     $534.5  
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(1) The Segment Adjusted EBITDA information for the Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2014 excludes a net benefit of $5.7 million for the Predecessor period
January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013 which is comprised of (1) the add-back of corporate allocations from DuPont to DPC for the usage of DuPont’s facilities,
functions and services; costs for administrative functions and services performed on behalf of DPC by centralized staff groups within DuPont; a portion of DuPont’s
general corporate expenses; and certain pension and other long-term employee benefit costs, in each case because we believe these costs are not indicative of costs we
would have incurred as a standalone company, net of (2) estimated standalone costs based on a corporate function resource analysis that included a standalone executive
office, the costs associated with supporting a standalone information technology infrastructure, corporate functions such as legal, finance, treasury, procurement and
human resources and certain costs related to facilities management. This resource analysis included anticipated headcount and the associated overhead costs of running
these functions effectively as a standalone company of our size and complexity.

 

(a) During the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013, we recorded a non-cash fair value adjustment associated with our acquisition accounting for inventories.
These amounts increased cost of goods sold by $103.7 million.

(b) In connection with the Acquisition, we incurred $28.1 million of merger and acquisition costs during the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013. These costs
consisted primarily of investment banking, legal and other professional advisory services costs.

(c) On August 30, 2012, we signed a debt commitment letter which included the Bridge Facility. Upon the issuance of the Senior Notes and the entry into the Senior
Secured Credit Facilities, the commitments under the Bridge Facility terminated. Commitment fees related to the Bridge Facility of $21.0 million and associated fees of
$4.0 million were expensed upon the termination of the Bridge Facility. In connection with the amendment to the Senior Secured Credit Facilities in February 2014
(discussed further at Note 18 to the interim unaudited condensed consolidated and combined financial statements included elsewhere in this quarterly report), we
recognized $3.1 million of costs during the nine months ended September 30, 2014. In addition to the credit facility amendment, we also incurred a $3.0 million loss on
extinguishment of debt recognized during the three months ended September 30, 2014, which resulted directly from the pro-rata write off of unamortized deferred
financing costs and original issue discounts associated with the pay-down of $100.0 million of principal on the New Dollar Term Loan (see Note 18 to the condensed
consolidated financial statements for further discussion).

(d) Eliminates foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the remeasurement of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, including a $19.4 million loss
related to the Acquisition date settlement of a foreign currency contract used to hedge the variability of Euro-based financing.

(e) For the Successor periods ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, eliminates the non-service cost components of employee benefit costs. Additionally, we deducted a
pension curtailment gain of $6.6 million recorded during the three months ended September 30, 2014. For the Predecessor period January 1, 2013 through January 31,
2013, eliminates (1) all U.S. pension and other long-term employee benefit costs that were not assumed as part of the Acquisition and (2) the non-service cost
component of the pension and other long-term employee benefit costs.

(f) Represents expenses primarily related to employee termination benefits, including our initiative to improve the overall cost structure within the European region, and
other employee-related costs. Termination benefits include the costs associated with out headcount initiatives for establishment of new roles and elimination of old roles
and other costs associated with cost saving opportunities that were related to our transition to a standalone entity.
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(g) Represents fees paid to consultants, advisors, and other third-party professional organizations for professional services rendered in conjunction with the transition from
DuPont to a standalone entity.

(h) Represents charges associated with the transition from DuPont to a standalone entity, including branding and marketing, information technology related costs, and
facility transition costs, as well as costs associated with the IPO.

(i) Represents costs for certain unusual or non-operational (gains) and losses and the non-cash impact of natural gas and currency hedge losses allocated to DPC by DuPont,
stock-based compensation, asset impairments, equity investee dividends, indemnity (income) losses associated with the Transaction, gains resulting from amendments to
long-term benefit plans and loss (gain) on sale and disposal of property, plant and equipment.

(j) Represents the payment of dividends to our joint venture partners by our consolidated entities that are not wholly owned.
(k) Pursuant to Axalta’s management agreement with Carlyle Investment Management, L.L.C., an affiliate of Carlyle, for management and financial advisory services and

oversight provided to Axalta and its subsidiaries, Axalta is required to pay an annual management fee of $3.0 million and out-of-pocket expenses. This agreement was
terminated upon consummation of the IPO.
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Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the information contained in the accompanying financial statements and related footnotes included elsewhere in
this report. Our historical results of operations set forth below may not necessarily reflect what would have occurred if we had been a separate standalone entity prior to the
Acquisition or what will occur in the future.

Three months ended September 30, 2014 compared with the three months ended September 30, 2013

The following table was derived from the Successor’s interim unaudited condensed consolidated statement of operations for the three months ended September 30, 2014 and
September 30, 2013.
 

     Successor  

($ in millions)   

Three Months
Ended

September 30,
2014    

Three Months
Ended

September 30,
2013  

Net sales    $ 1,108.9     $ 1,074.6  
Other revenue      6.9       8.2  

                

Total revenue      1,115.8       1,082.8  
Cost of goods sold      728.1       739.1  
Selling, general and administrative expenses      249.4       276.7  
Research and development expenses      13.4       12.5  
Amortization of acquired intangibles      20.9       21.0  

                

Income from operations      104.0       33.5  
                

Interest expense, net      52.6       62.7  
Other (income) expense, net      62.2       (9.3) 

                

Income (loss) before income taxes      (10.8)     (19.9) 
Provision (benefit) for income taxes      7.5       (26.3) 

      
 

     
 

Net income (loss)      (18.3)     6.4  
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests      1.6       1.4  

                

Net income (loss) attributable to controlling interests    $ (19.9)   $ 5.0  
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Net sales

Net sales of $1,108.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2014 increased $34.3 million, or 3.2%, compared to net sales of $1,074.6 million for the three months
ended September 30, 2013. Our net sales growth in the three months ended September 30, 2014 was primarily driven by volume increases of 2.8% as North America and Asia
volume increases slightly offset volume declines in the other regions, particularly Latin America where the economic environment remains weak. Net sales growth was also
driven by higher average selling prices across most regions, which contributed to net sales growth of 1.9% during the period. Net sales growth was partially offset by the
unfavorable impacts of currency exchange, which contributed to an approximately 1.5% reduction in net sales due to the impact of weakening currencies in certain jurisdictions
within Latin America.

Other revenue

Other revenue remained relatively consistent at $6.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2014 compared to $8.2 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2013. The impacts of currency exchange did not have a material impact on the comparable periods.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales of $728.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2014 decreased $11.0 million, or 1.5%, from $739.1 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2013. As a percentage of net sales, cost of sales decreased from 68.8% to 65.7%. This decrease in cost of sales for the three months ended September 30, 2014
was driven by lower raw material costs and product mix as well as the realization of benefits associated with our operational improvement initiatives offset by higher volumes.
The impacts of currency exchange did not have a material impact on the comparable periods.

Selling, general and administrative expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses of $249.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2014 decreased $27.3 million or 9.9%, as compared to $276.7 million
for the three months ended September 30, 2013. Selling, general and administrative expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2014 included $32.2 million of
nonrecurring costs related to our transition to a standalone company as compared to $68.0 million of nonrecurring costs for the three months ended September 30, 2013
resulting in a decrease of $35.8 million over the comparable periods. In addition, favorable impacts of currency exchange contributed to a 0.6% decrease in selling, general and
administrative expenses primarily due to the impact of weakening currencies in certain jurisdictions within Latin America. These decreases were partially offset by increased
administrative costs, as we focused on opportunities to expand our market presence.

Research and development expenses

Research and development expenses of $13.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2014 were consistent compared to $12.5 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2013. The impacts of currency exchange did not have a material impact on the comparable periods.
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Amortization of acquired intangibles

Amortization of acquired intangibles of $20.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2014 was essentially flat compared to $21.0 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2013. The impacts of currency exchange did not have a material impact on the comparable periods.

Interest expense, net

Interest expense, net of $52.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2014 decreased $10.1 million, or 16.1%, compared to $62.7 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2013. The decrease from 2013 primarily related to the reduction in interest rates due to the refinancing in February 2014 of our Senior Credit Facility combined
with an additional step-down in interest rates on our term loans during the three months ended September 30, 2014, resulting in a decrease of $6.8 million. In addition, this
decrease was also due to an increase in capitalized interest during the three months ended September 30, 2014. The impacts of currency exchange did not have a material
impact on the comparable periods.

Other (income) expense, net

Other (income) expense, net of $62.2 million of expense for the three months ended September 30, 2014 decreased $71.5 million, or 768.8%, compared to income of $9.3
million for the three months ended September 30, 2013.

Net foreign exchange losses were $59.6 million during the three months ended September 30, 2014 as compared to exchange gains of $9.7 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2013. Net foreign exchange losses for the three months ended September 30, 2014 consisted of translation losses of $122.6 million primarily related to
intercompany transactions denominated in currencies different from the functional currency of the relevant subsidiary, resulting primarily from the weakening Euro relative to
the U.S. Dollar. These losses were partially offset by $56.2 million in gains on our Euro borrowings and $6.8 million in gains related to our Venezuelan operations. The
Venezuelan gain was a result of our operations being in a net monetary liability position and the devaluation of the Bolivar during the three months ended September 30, 2014.
Exchange gains of $9.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2013 were attributable to $45.2 million translation gains on intercompany transactions denominated
in currencies different from the functional currency of the relevant subsidiary partially offset by $32.2 million in losses on our Euro borrowings.

Further contributing to the decrease was a $3.0 million loss on extinguishment of debt recognized during the three months ended September 30, 2014, which resulted directly
from the write off of unamortized deferred financing costs and original issue discounts associated with the pay-down of $100.0 million of principal on the New Dollar Term
Loan.

Provision (benefit) for income taxes

We recorded an income tax provision of $7.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2014, which represents a 69.4% negative effective tax rate in relation to the loss
before income taxes of $10.8 million. The effective tax rate for the three months ended September 30, 2014 differs from the U.S. federal statutory rate by 104.4%. This
difference is primarily due to unfavorable adjustments recorded on pre-tax losses attributable to jurisdictions where a tax benefit is not expected to be realized of $13.2 million
and the loss of tax benefits on nondeductible expenses and withholding tax expense totaling $11.9 million. These adjustments were offset by the benefit of net foreign exchange
gains that were nontaxable of $11.0 million and earnings in jurisdictions where the statutory tax rate was lower than the U.S. federal statutory rate of $4.4 million.

We recorded an income tax benefit of $26.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2013, which represents a 132.2% effective tax rate in relation to the loss before
income taxes of $19.9 million. The effective tax rate for the three months ended September 30, 2013 differs from the U.S. federal statutory rate by 97.2%. This difference is
primarily due to favorable adjustments related to earnings in jurisdictions where the statutory tax rate was lower than the U.S. federal statutory rate of $48.8 million. These
adjustments are offset by the impact of net foreign exchange losses that were nondeductible of $16.9 million and the loss of tax benefits on nondeductible expenses and
withholding tax expense for $20.0 million.
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Successor nine months ended September 30, 2014 and Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2014 compared to the Successor nine months ended
September 30, 2013, Predecessor period January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2014 and the Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2013

The following table was derived from the Successor’s condensed consolidated statements of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 and from the
Predecessor’s combined statements of operations for the period from January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013 included elsewhere in this quarterly report. It should be noted
that the results of operations for the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013 only include the results of DPC from the date of the Acquisition. Prior to the Acquisition,
Axalta generated no revenue and only incurred merger and acquisition related costs and debt financing costs in anticipation of the Acquisition. We have also presented pro
forma financial results for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 as if the Acquisition, the Financing and the Offering had occurred on January 1, 2013. We
believe this information, and the related comparisons, provide a more meaningful comparison for the nine-month periods.
 
     Successor           Predecessor      Pro Forma  

    

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,          

Period from
January 1,

2013 through
January 31,

2013  
  

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,  
($ in millions)    2014      2013              2014      2013  
Net sales    $3,282.9     $2,858.2          $ 326.2     $3,282.9     $3,184.4  
Other revenue      21.6       21.9            1.1     $ 21.6       23.0  

                                                

Total revenue      3,304.5       2,880.1            327.3       3,304.5       3,207.4  
Cost of goods sold      2,174.1       2,066.7            232.2       2,174.1       2,202.9  
Selling, general and administrative expenses      746.7       673.7            70.8       746.7       746.7  
Research and development expenses      36.8       31.0            3.7       36.8       34.7  
Amortization of acquired intangibles      63.3       59.0            —         63.3       65.6  
Merger and acquisition related expenses      —         28.1            —         —         —    

                                                

Income from operations      283.6       21.6            20.6       283.6       157.5  
                                                

Interest expense, net      166.5       153.2            —         163.8       155.5  
Bridge financing commitment fees      —         25.0            —         —         —    
Other expense, net      65.1       49.7            5.0       59.6       33.2  

                                                

Income (loss) before income taxes      52.0       (206.3)          15.6       60.2       (31.2) 
Provision (benefit) for income taxes      18.2       (34.4)          7.1       19.3       11.4  

      
 

      
 

          
 

      
 

      
 

Net income (loss)      33.8       (171.9)          8.5       40.9       (42.6) 
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests      4.2       3.7            0.6       4.2       4.3  

                                                

Net income (loss) attributable to controlling interests    $ 29.6     $ (175.6)        $ 7.9     $ 36.7     $ (46.9) 
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Net sales

Historical: Net sales were $3,282.9 million for the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2014 compared to net sales of $2,858.2 million for the Successor nine months
ended September 30, 2013 and $326.2 million for the Predecessor period January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013. Our net sales growth in the Successor nine months ended
September 30, 2014 was primarily driven by higher average selling prices in all regions, which contributed to net sales growth of 3.1%. In addition, volumes contributed 0.6%
to net sales growth on stronger performance within North America and Asia. This net sales growth was partially offset by the unfavorable impacts of currency exchange, which
contributed to an approximately 0.6% reduction in net sales as the benefits of the strengthening Euro were more than offset by the impact of weakening currencies in certain
jurisdictions within Latin America, Asia, and North America.

Pro Forma: Net sales increased $98.5 million, or 3.1%, to $3,282.9 million for the Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2014, as compared to net sales of
$3,184.4 million for the Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2013. Our net sales growth in the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2014 was primarily driven
by higher average selling prices in all regions, which contributed to net sales growth of 3.1%. In addition, volumes contributed 0.6% to net sales growth on stronger
performance within North America and Asia. This net sales growth was partially offset by the unfavorable impacts of currency exchange, which contributed to an
approximately 0.6% reduction in net sales as the benefits of the strengthening Euro were more than offset by the impact of weakening currencies in certain jurisdictions within
Latin America, Asia, and North America.

Other revenue

Historical: Other revenue was $21.6 million for the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2014 as compared to $21.9 million for the Successor nine months ended
September 30, 2013 and $1.1 million for the Predecessor period January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013. The impacts of currency exchange did not have a material impact on
the comparable periods.

Pro Forma: Other revenue was consistent at $21.6 million for the Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2014, as compared to other revenue of $23.0 million for the Pro
Forma nine months ended September 30, 2013. The impacts of currency exchange did not have a material impact on the comparable periods.

Cost of sales

Historical: Cost of sales was $2,174.1 million for the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2014 compared to $2,066.7 million for the Successor nine months ended
September 30, 2013 and $232.2 million for the Predecessor period January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013. Cost of sales was lower during the nine months ended
September 30, 2013 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2014 but higher when combined with the Predecessor period January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013
compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2014, primarily as the result of increased inventory of $103.7 million related to fair value adjustments to inventory in
conjunction with the Acquisition. In 2014, the absence of the increased inventory costs associated with the Acquisition were partially offset by $7.9 million of increased
depreciation in the nine months ended September 30, 2014 resulting from the fair value adjustments to property, plant and equipment in conjunction with the Acquisition
compared to only eight months of increased depreciation in the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013. The remaining change in cost of sales in 2014 was driven by
lower raw material costs offset by higher volumes. The favorable impact of raw material prices across both our Performance Coatings and Transportation Coatings segments
contributed to an approximately 0.4% impact on cost of sales as a percentage of net sales. However, unfavorable impacts of currency exchange contributed to a 0.2% increase
in cost of sales as a percentage of net sales, primarily due to the strengthening Euro compared to the U.S. dollar.
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Pro Forma: Cost of sales decreased $28.8 million, or 1.3%, to $2,174.1 million for the Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2014 as compared to $2,202.9 million for
the Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2013. The Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2013 is adjusted to reflect increased depreciation and the exclusion of
increased inventory costs, each related to the Acquisition. As a percentage of net sales, cost of sales decreased from 69.2% to 66.2%. This decrease was driven by lower raw
material costs, partially resulting from our purchasing initiatives, as well as product mix. The favorable impact of raw material prices across both our Performance Coatings and
Transportation Coatings segments contributed to an approximately 0.4% impact on cost of sales as a percentage of net sales. However, unfavorable impacts of currency
exchange contributed to a 0.2% increase in cost of sales as a percentage of net sales, primarily due to the strengthening Euro compared to the U.S. dollar.

Selling, general and administrative expenses

Historical: Selling, general and administrative expenses were $746.7 million for the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2014 compared to $673.7 million for the
Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013 and $70.8 million for the Predecessor period January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013. During the Successor nine months
ended September 30, 2013, we incurred $114.5 million of transition-related costs, primarily related to our transition to a standalone company, compared to $89.0 million of
transition-related expenses for the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2014. This resulted in a $25.5 million decrease over comparable periods. This decrease was
more than offset by increased advertising and administrative costs, as we focused on opportunities to expand our market presence. In addition, the unfavorable impacts of
currency exchange during the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2014 contributed to a 1.3% increase in selling, general and administrative expenses, primarily due to
the strengthening Euro compared to the U.S. dollar.

Pro Forma: Selling, general and administrative expenses remained consistent at $746.7 million for the Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013. The Pro
Forma nine months ended September 30, 2013 is adjusted to reflect the increased depreciation expense of $2.2 million resulting from the fair value adjustments to non-
manufacturing assets in conjunction with the Acquisition. The offsetting changes during the periods resulted from a decrease in transition-related expenses of $89.0 million
during the Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2014, related to our transition to a standalone company, compared to $114.5 million of transition-related expenses for
the Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2013. This resulted in a $25.5 million decrease over comparable periods. This decrease was more than offset by increased
advertising and administrative costs, as we focused on opportunities to expand our market presence. In addition, the unfavorable impacts of currency exchange during the
Successor nine months ended September 30, 2014 contributed to a 1.3% increase in selling, general and administrative expenses, primarily due to the strengthening Euro
compared to the U.S. dollar.
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Research and development expenses

Historical: Research and development expenses were $36.8 million for the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2014 compared to $31.0 million for the Successor nine
months ended September 30, 2013 and $3.7 million for the Predecessor period January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013. The impacts of currency exchange did not have a
material impact on the comparable periods.

Pro Forma: Research and development expenses increased by $2.1 million or 6.1% to $36.8 million for the Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2014 compared to
$34.7 million for the Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2013. The impacts of currency exchange did not have a material impact on the comparable periods.

Amortization of acquired intangibles

Historical: Amortization of acquired intangibles was $63.3 million for the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2014 compared to $59.0 million for the Successor nine
months ended September 30, 2013 and $0.0 for the Predecessor period January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013. Amortization of acquired intangibles for the Successor nine
months ended September 30, 2013 included a loss of $3.2 million associated with abandoned in-process research and development projects, all of which were recorded at fair
value as part of the Acquisition. There was $0.1 million of comparable costs recorded during the nine months ended September 30, 2014. Excluding the impact of the $3.2
million loss, the increase during the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2014 included the impact of nine months of amortization expense associated with purchase
accounting while the comparable 2013 periods included eight months due to the timing of the Acquisition. The impacts of currency exchange did not have a material impact on
the comparable periods.

Pro Forma: Amortization of acquired intangibles for the Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2014 was $63.3 million and $65.6 million for the Pro Forma nine months
ended September 30, 2013. Amortization of acquired intangibles for the Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2013 included a loss of $3.2 million associated with
abandoned in-process research and development projects, all of which were recorded at fair value as part of the Acquisition. There was $0.1 million of comparable costs
recorded during the nine months ended September 30, 2014. The impacts of currency exchange did not have a material impact on the comparable periods.

Merger and acquisition related expenses

Historical: In connection with the Acquisition, we incurred $28.1 million of merger and acquisition costs during the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013. These
costs consisted primarily of investment banking, legal and other professional advisory services costs. There were no comparable costs for the Successor nine months ended
September 30, 2014.

Pro Forma: The Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2013 has been adjusted to remove the impact of these Acquisition related costs. There were no costs for the Pro
Forma nine months ended September 30, 2014.
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Interest expense, net

Historical: Interest expense, net for the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013 of $153.2 million represents interest expense incurred during the period associated
with our debt financing for the Acquisition and our liquidity requirements as a standalone entity. Interest expense, net for the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2014
of $166.5 million represented nine months of interest costs including the Refinancing. The increase from 2013 primarily relates to the Successor nine months ended
September 30, 2014 including nine months of interest expense while the comparable 2013 periods included eight months due to the timing of the Acquisition. In addition,
interest expense for the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013 included gains of $2.9 million on interest rate derivative instruments as compared to an $8.0 million
loss for the nine months ended September 30, 2014. The impacts of currency exchange did not have a material impact on the comparable periods.

Pro Forma: Interest expense, net was $163.8 million and $155.5 million for the Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively, reflecting the effects
of the Financing as if the transactions had occurred on January 1, 2013. Interest expense for the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013 included gains of $2.9
million on interest rate derivative instruments as compared to an $8.0 million loss for the nine months ended September 30, 2014. These amounts were offset slightly due to an
increase in capitalized interest during the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2014.

Bridge financing commitment fees

Historical: On August 30, 2012, we signed a debt commitment letter, which was subsequently amended and restated, that included a bridge facility comprised of $1,100.0
million of unsecured U.S. bridge loans and the Euro equivalent of $300.0 million of secured Euro bridge loans (the “Bridge Facility”), which was to be utilized to partially fund
the Acquisition in the event that permanent financing was not obtained. Upon the issuance of the Senior Notes and the entry into the Senior Secured Credit Facilities, the
commitments under the Bridge Facility terminated. Commitment fees related to the Bridge Facility of $21.0 million and associated legal and other professional advisory
services costs of $4.0 million were expensed upon the termination during the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013. There were no such costs incurred for the
Successor nine months ended September 30, 2014.

Pro Forma: The Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2013 has been adjusted to remove the impact of these fees. There were no costs for the Pro Forma nine months
ended September 30, 2014.

Other expense, net

Historical: Other expense (income), net was $65.1 million of expense for the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2014 compared to $49.7 million of expense for the
Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013 and $5.0 million of expense for the Predecessor period January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013. Contributing to the
decrease was the adverse impact of $19.4 million of expense incurred during the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013 related to the Acquisition date settlement of
a foreign currency hedge contract used to hedge the variability of the U.S. dollar equivalent of the original borrowings under the Euro Term Loan and Euro Senior Notes. In
addition, net foreign exchange losses were $45.1 million during the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2014 as compared to exchange losses of $49.9 million and
$4.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and the predecessor period ended January 31, 2013, respectively. Net foreign exchange losses for the nine months
ended September 30, 2014 consisted of $132.1 million in translation losses primarily related to intercompany transactions denominated in currencies different from the
functional currency of the relevant subsidiary partially offset by $68.0 million in gains on our Euro borrowings and $19.0 million in gains related to our Venezuelan operations.
Excluding the impact of the $19.4 million expense at Acquisition date, foreign exchange losses of $30.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 were
attributable to $29.4 million in translation losses primarily related to intercompany transactions denominated in currencies different from the functional currency of the relevant
subsidiary, offset by $4.0 million in translation gains from the remeasurement of the Euro Senior Notes and Euro Term Loan into U.S. Dollars.
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Further contributing to the increase in expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 were debt modification fees and losses on extinguishment of debt for $3.1 million
and $3.0 million, respectively, (see Note 18 to the condensed consolidated financial statements for further discussion).

The 2014 increases in expense were slightly offset by the release of an indemnity receivable that had been recorded in conjunction with our tax indemnities from the
Acquisition. This resulted in $12.3 million of expense relating to an uncertain tax position that was reversed during the nine months ended September 30, 2014.

Pro Forma: Other expense (income), net was $59.6 million of income for the Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2014 as compared to $33.2 million of expense for
the Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2013, representing a change of $26.4 million, or 79.5%. The Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2014 excludes the
impact of $3.1 million in fees associated with Refinancing. The Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2013 excludes the impact of $19.4 million of costs incurred
related to the Acquisition date settlement of a foreign currency hedge contract used to hedge the variability of the U.S. dollar equivalent of the original borrowings under the
Euro Term Loan and Euro Senior Notes. The Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 also exclude the Carlyle management fee of $2.4 million and $2.2
million, respectively. Net foreign exchange losses of $59.6 million were recorded for the Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2014, as compared to exchange losses of
$49.8 million for the Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2013. Net foreign exchange losses for the Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2014 included $68.0
million in gains on our Euro borrowings and $19.0 million in gains related to our Venezuelan operations, which were more than offset by $132.1 million in translation losses
primarily related to intercompany transactions denominated in currencies different from the functional currency of the relevant subsidiary.

During 2014, we changed the exchange rate we use for remeasuring our Venezuelan subsidiaries’ non-U.S. Dollar denominated monetary assets and liabilities to the rate
determined by an auction process conducted by Venezuela’s Complementary System of Foreign Currency Administration (SICAD I), which was 10.0 to 1 compared to the
historical indexed rate of 6.3 to 1. In September 2014, we further determined the exchange rate of 11.7 to 1 was supported by the auction process, resulting in a further
revaluation of the monetary assets and liabilities of the entity. The devaluations resulted in net gains of $19.0 million for the Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2014
due to our Venezuelan operations being in a net monetary liability position.

These increases were slightly offset by the release of an indemnity receivable which had been recorded in conjunction with our tax indemnities from the Acquisition. This
resulted in a $12.3 million expense relating to an uncertain tax position that was reversed during the Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2014.
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Provision (benefit) for income taxes

Historical: We recorded a provision for income taxes of $18.2 million for the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2014, which represents a 35.0% effective tax rate in
relation to the income before income taxes of $52.0 million. While the effective tax rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 did not differ from the U.S. federal
statutory rate of 35%, the rate was favorably and unfavorably impacted for various items. We recorded favorable adjustments related to prior year tax positions of $21.1 million,
earnings in jurisdictions where the statutory tax rate was lower than the U.S. federal statutory rate of $12.4 million, and net foreign exchange gains that were nontaxable of
$14.9 million. These adjustments were mostly offset by pre-tax losses attributable to jurisdictions where a tax benefit is not expected to be realized of $12.4 million and the loss
of tax benefits on nondeductible expenses and withholding tax expense of $31.0 million.

We recorded a benefit for income taxes of $34.4 million for the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013, which represents a 16.7% effective tax rate in relation to the
loss before income taxes of $206.3 million. The effective tax rate for the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013 differs from the U.S. federal statutory rate by
18.3%. This difference is primarily due to the loss of tax benefits on nondeductible expenses and withholding tax expense of $27.3 million. These adjustments were mostly
offset by the benefit of earnings in jurisdictions where the statutory tax rate was lower than the U.S. federal statutory rate of $18.0 million. We recorded a tax provision of $7.1
million for the Predecessor period from January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013, which represents a 45.5% effective tax rate in relation to the income before income taxes of
$15.6 million.

Pro Forma: We recorded a provision for income taxes of $19.3 million for the Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2014, which represents a 32.1% effective tax rate in
relation to the pro forma income before income taxes of $60.2 million. The variance in the pro forma effective tax rate from the historical effective tax rate described in the
corresponding historical discussion above was primarily due to the application of statutory income tax rates to the cumulative pro forma adjustments.

We recorded a provision for income taxes of $11.4 million for the Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2013, which represents a 36.5% negative effective tax rate in
relation to pro forma loss before income taxes of $31.2 million. The variance in the pro forma effective tax rate from the historical effective tax rate described in the
corresponding historical discussion above was primarily due to the application of statutory income tax rates to the cumulative pro forma adjustments.
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Segment Results

Successor three months ended September 30, 2014 compared to the Successor three months ended September 30, 2013

The following table presents net sales by segment and segment Adjusted EBITDA for the following period:
 

     Successor  

    
Three Months Ended

September 30,  
     2014      2013  
Net sales      

Performance Coatings    $ 663.5     $ 643.7  
Transportation Coatings      445.4       430.9  

      
 

      
 

Total    $1,108.9     $1,074.6  
      

 

      

 

Segment Adjusted EBITDA      
Performance Coatings    $ 148.5     $ 147.3  
Transportation Coatings      79.5       46.8  

      
 

      
 

Total    $ 228.0     $ 194.1  
      

 

      

 

Performance Coatings Segment

Net sales increased $19.8 million or 3.1% to $663.5 million for the Successor three months ended September 30, 2014 compared to net sales of $643.7 million for the
Successor three months ended September 30, 2013. The increase in net sales in the Successor three months ended September 30, 2014 was primarily driven by volume growth,
which contributed to a net sales increase of 3.3%, as well as higher average selling prices, which contributed to a net sales increase of 1.5%. Net sales growth was partially
offset by the unfavorable impacts of currency exchange, which contributed to an approximately 1.7% reduction in net sales due to the impact of weakening currencies in certain
jurisdictions within Latin America.

Adjusted EBITDA increased $1.2 million or 0.8% to $148.5 million for the Successor three months ended September 30, 2014 compared to Adjusted EBITDA of
$147.3 million for the Successor three months ended September 30, 2013. The 0.8% increase in Adjusted EBITDA in the Successor three months ended September 30, 2014
was driven by volume growth and higher average selling prices offset by higher fixed manufacturing and operational costs.
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Transportation Coatings Segment

Net sales increased $14.5 million or 3.4% to $445.4 million for the Successor three months ended September 30, 2014 compared to net sales of $430.9 million for the
Successor three months ended September 30, 2013. The increase in net sales in the Successor three months ended September 30, 2014 was primarily driven by higher average
selling prices, which contributed to net sales growth of 2.5% and increased volumes, which contributed to a net sales increase of 2.1%. Unfavorable currency exchange rates
also contributed to a reduction to net sales of 1.2% as the benefits of the strengthening Euro were more than offset by impacts of weakening currencies in certain jurisdictions
primarily within Latin America.

Adjusted EBITDA increased $32.7 million or 69.9% to $79.5 million for the Successor three months ended September 30, 2014 compared to Adjusted EBITDA of
$46.8 million for the Successor three months ended September 30, 2013. The increase in Adjusted EBITDA in the Successor three months ended September 30, 2014 was
driven by higher volumes, higher average selling prices and lower fixed manufacturing costs, partially resulting from our operational improvement initiatives.
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Successor nine months ended September 30, 2014 compared to the Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2013

The following table presents net sales by segment and segment Adjusted EBITDA for the following period:
 

     Successor           Predecessor     Pro Forma  

    
Nine Months Ended

September 30,          

January 1
through

January 31,    
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
     2014      2013           2013      2013  
Net Sales                

Performance Coatings    $1,944.6     $1,680.1         $ 186.8     $ 1,866.9  
Transportation Coatings      1,338.3       1,178.1           139.4       1,317.5  

      
 

      
 

          
 

      
 

Total    $3,282.9     $2,858.2         $ 326.2     $ 3,184.4  
      

 

      

 

          

 

      

 

Segment Adjusted EBITDA                
Performance Coatings    $ 409.7     $ 360.2         $ 15.0     $ 375.3  
Transportation Coatings      226.1       141.4           17.7       159.2  

      
 

      
 

          
 

      
 

Total    $ 635.8     $ 501.6         $ 32.7     $ 534.5  
      

 

      

 

          

 

      

 

Performance Coatings Segment

Historical: Net sales were $1,944.6 million for the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2014 compared to net sales of $1,680.1 million for the Successor nine months
ended September 30, 2013 and $186.8 million for the Predecessor period January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013. The increase in net sales in the Successor nine months
ended September 30, 2014 was primarily driven by volume growth, which contributed to a net sales increase of 2.5%, as well as higher average selling prices, which
contributed to a net sales increase of 2.0%. Net sales growth was partially offset by the unfavorable impacts of currency exchange, which contributed to an approximately 0.3%
reduction in net sales as the benefits of the strengthening Euro were more than offset by the impact of weakening currencies in certain jurisdictions within Latin America and
Asia.

Adjusted EBITDA was $409.7 million for the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2014 compared to Adjusted EBITDA of $360.2 million for the Successor nine
months ended September 30, 2013 and $15.0 million for the Predecessor period January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013. The increase in Adjusted EBITDA in the Successor
nine months ended September 30, 2014 was driven by higher volumes and higher average selling price as well as lower raw material input costs offset by higher operating
costs. In addition, the absence of the Predecessor corporate allocated costs contributed an approximate $3.4 million benefit.
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Pro Forma: Net sales increased $77.7 million, or 4.2%, to $1,944.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2014, as compared to net sales of $1,866.9 million for the
Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2013. The increase in net sales in the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2014 was primarily driven by volume growth,
which contributed to a net sales increase of 2.5%, as well as higher average selling prices, which contributed to a net sales increase of 2.0%. Net sales growth was partially
offset by the unfavorable impacts of currency exchange, which contributed to an approximately 0.3% reduction in net sales as the benefits of the strengthening Euro were more
than offset by the impact of weakening currencies in certain jurisdictions within Latin America and Asia.

Adjusted EBITDA increased $34.4 million, or 9.2%, to $409.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 as compared to $375.3 million for the Pro Forma nine
months ended September 30, 2013. As a percentage of net sales, Adjusted EBITDA increased to 21.1% from 20.1%. This increase was driven by lower raw material input costs
and margin enhancement initiatives.

Transportation Coatings Segment

Historical: Net sales were $1,338.3 million for the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2014 compared to net sales of $1,178.1 million for the Successor nine months
ended September 30, 2013 and $139.4 million for the Predecessor period January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013. The increase in net sales in the Successor nine months
ended September 30, 2014 was primarily driven by higher average selling prices, which contributed to net sales growth of 4.7%. This increase was partially offset by declining
volumes, which contributed to a net sales decline of 2.1%, and were primarily concentrated in Latin America. Unfavorable currency exchange rates also contributed to a
reduction to net sales of 1.0% as the benefits of the strengthening Euro were more than offset by impacts of weakening currencies in certain jurisdictions primarily within Latin
America.

Adjusted EBITDA was $226.1 million for the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2014 compared to Adjusted EBITDA of $141.4 million for the Successor nine
months ended September 30, 2013 and $17.7 million for the Predecessor period January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013. The increase in Adjusted EBITDA in the Successor
nine months ended September 30, 2014 was driven by higher volumes and average selling prices as well as lower fixed manufacturing costs, partially resulting from our
operational improvement initiatives. In addition, the absence of the Predecessor corporate allocated costs contributed an approximate $2.3 million benefit.

Pro Forma: Net sales increased $20.8 million, or 1.6%, to $1,338.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2014, as compared to net sales of $1,317.5 million for the
Pro Forma nine months ended September 30, 2013. The increase in net sales for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 as compared to the Pro Forma nine months ended
September 30, 2013 was primarily driven by higher average selling prices, which contributed to net sales growth of 4.7%. This increase was partially offset by declining
volumes, which contributed to a net sales decline of 2.1%, and were primarily concentrated in Latin America. Unfavorable currency exchange rates also contributed to a
reduction to net sales of 1.0% as the benefits of the strengthening Euro were more than offset by impacts of weakening currencies in certain jurisdictions primarily within Latin
America.
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Adjusted EBITDA increased $66.9 million, or 42.0%, to $226.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 as compared to $159.2 million for the Pro Forma nine
months ended September 30, 2013. As a percentage of net sales, Adjusted EBITDA increased to 16.9% from 12.1%. This increase was driven by higher volumes and average
selling prices as well as lower fixed manufacturing costs, partially resulting from our operational improvement initiatives.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Financial Flexibility

Our primary sources of liquidity are cash on hand, cash flow from operations and available borrowing capacity under our Senior Secured Credit Facilities. Based on our
forecasts, we believe that cash flow from operations, available cash on hand and available borrowing capacity under our Senior Secured Credit Facilities and existing lines of
credit will be adequate to service debt, to fund the transition-related costs, meet liquidity needs and fund necessary capital expenditures for the next twelve months.

At September 30, 2014, availability under the Revolving Credit Facility was $384.3 million, net of the letters of credit issued which reduced the availability under the
Revolving Credit Facility by $15.7 million. All such availability may be utilized without violating any covenants under the credit agreement governing such facility or the
indentures governing the Dollar Senior Notes and the Euro Senior Notes. At September 30, 2014, our available borrowing capacity under other lines of credit in certain Non-
U.S. jurisdictions totaled $19.7 million. We expect that we will continue to have sufficient liquidity and financial flexibility to meet all our business requirements.
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CASH FLOWS

The table below summarizes our primary sources and uses of cash for the Successor nine-month periods ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 and the Predecessor period
January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013.
 

     Successor           Predecessor  

    
Nine months ended

September 30,          
January 1, through
January 31, 2013  

     2014     2013              
Net cash provided by (used for):            
Operating activities:            

Net income (loss)   $ 33.8     $ (171.9)       $ 8.5  
Depreciation and Amortization     229.1       228.0           9.9  
Deferred income taxes     (15.9)     (71.5)         9.1  
Amortization of deferred financing costs and OID     15.7       13.3           —    
Fair value of acquired inventory sold     —         103.7           —    
Foreign exchange losses (gains)     46.7       55.9           4.5  
Bridge financing commitment fees     —         25.0           —    
Other non-cash items     (10.7)     1.7           (3.9) 

      
 

     
 

          
 

Net income adjusted for non-cash items      298.7       184.2            28.1  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities      (239.3)     79.7            (65.8) 

      
 

     
 

          
 

Operating activities      59.4       263.9            (37.7) 
Investing activities      (149.0)     (4,926.1)          (8.3) 
Financing activities      (120.5)     5,117.4            43.0  
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash      (15.9)     (8.0)          —    

      
 

     
 

          
 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    $(226.0)   $ 447.2          $ (3.0) 
      

 

     

 

          

 

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014 (Successor)

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 was $59.4 million. Net income before deducting depreciation, amortization and other
non-cash items generated cash of $298.7 million. This was substantially offset by net increases in working capital of $239.3 million. The most significant drivers in working
capital were increases in receivables and inventory of $109.7 million and $50.6 million, respectively, due primarily to increased net sales and inventory builds in anticipation of
certain information technology transitions and to support ongoing operational demands compared to December 2013, as well as, reductions of other accrued liabilities of $74.2
million primarily related to annual compensation payments, nonrecurring transition costs and semi-annual interest payments associated with our Senior Notes.

Net Cash Used for Investing Activities

Net cash used for investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 was $149.0 million. This use was driven primarily by purchases of property, plant and
equipment of $155.6 million, purchase of increased ownership in a majority owned joint venture of $6.5 million and an increase of $4.3 million in restricted cash, offset by
$17.5 million of proceeds from the sale of a business within the Performance Coatings reportable segment. Purchases of property, plant and equipment includes approximately
$73.2 million associated with our transition-related capital projects including our information technology systems and finalization of our transition of our global office
relocations.
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Net Cash Used for Financing Activities

Net cash used for financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 was $120.5 million. The change was primarily driven by repayments of term loans of
$114.1 million. These payments were comprised of a $100 million prepayment on our Dollar Term Loan made on September 30, 2014, along with $14.1 million of quarterly
principal repayments as required in the Credit Agreement. In addition, we repaid short-term borrowings of $30.9 million partially offset by proceeds received from short-term
borrowing during the period of $23.7 million. During the nine months ended September 30, 2014, we paid $3.0 million in fees related to the amendment of the Senior Secured
Credit Facilities (See Note 18).

We received $2.5 million through the sale of common stock during the nine month period ended September 30, 2014. We also received $2.9 million related to the exercise of
stock options.

Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests totaled $1.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2014.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013 (Successor)

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities for the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013 was $263.9 million. Net loss, before deducting depreciation and
amortization and other non-cash items, provided cash of $184.2 million.

Increases in accounts payable and other accrued liabilities favorably impacted cash flow from operations by $62.9 million and $101.0 million, respectively. The increase in
accounts payable was due in part to the inclusion of amounts due DuPont for services rendered pursuant to transition service agreements and for purchases of materials. Prior to
the Acquisition, transactions between DuPont and DPC were deemed to be settled immediately through the parent company net investment. Subsequent to the Acquisition,
amounts due DuPont are presented as a component of trade accounts payable. Timing of disbursements also contributed to the increase in accounts payable. The increase in
other accrued liabilities was primarily related to accrued interest on the Senior Notes and Senior Secured Credit Facilities. A decrease in inventories resulted in a generation of
cash of $27.1 million. An increase in trade and notes receivable resulted in a use of cash of $57.2 million. All other operating assets and liabilities netted to a $54.1 million use
of cash.

Net Cash Used for Investing Activities

During the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013, we acquired DPC for a preliminary purchase price of $4,925.9 million. The purchase price was subject to change
for certain working capital and pension adjustments that were not finalized at the time of the Acquisition. Of the $4,925.9 million, $4,906.7 million was paid in cash on
February 1, 2013. The purchase price was settled when certain working capital and pension adjustments were finalized during the three months ended September 30, 2013. The
adjustments resulted in a reduction of the purchase price of $18.6 million to $4,907.3 million. The remaining $0.6 million in cash was paid during the three months ended
September 30, 2013. Cash acquired in the Acquisition was $79.7 million, which resulted in a net cash outflow of $4,827.6 million to acquire DPC.
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During the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013, we entered into a foreign currency contract to hedge the variability of the US dollar equivalent of the borrowings
under the Euro Term Loan and the proceeds from the issuance of Euro Senior Notes. Net cash used to settle the derivative instrument was $19.4 million.

Purchases of property, plant and equipment during the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013 were $50.4 million.

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities

As part of the Transactions, Carlyle made the Equity Contribution of $1,350.0 million.

Borrowings during the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013 included $2,817.3 million of proceeds from borrowings under our Senior Secured Credit Facilities,
net of original issue discount of $25.7 million, and the issuance of our Senior Notes in the amount of $1,089.4 million. Borrowings during the Successor nine months ended
September 30, 2013 also included short-term borrowings of $38.8 million.

During the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013, we paid $126.0 million of deferred financing costs associated with entering into the Dollar Senior Notes, Euro
Senior Notes and Senior Secured Credit Facilities and $25.0 million of commitment fees related to the Bridge Facility.

During the Successor nine months ended September 30, 2013, dividends paid to noncontrolling interests totaled $4.1 million.

January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013 (Predecessor)

Net Cash Used for Operating Activities

Net cash used for operating activities for the Predecessor period from January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013 was $37.7 million. Net income, before deducting depreciation
and amortization and other non-cash items, generated cash of $28.1 million.

An increase in inventories resulted in a use of cash of $19.3 million. Decreases in other accrued liabilities and accounts payable resulted in a use of cash of $43.8 million and
$29.9 million, respectively. The decrease in other current liabilities was primarily due to reductions in compensation and other employee-related cost liabilities related to
payment of annual incentive compensation, a reduction in the liabilities for discounts, rebates and warranties related to payments under annual rebate programs and a reduction
in our foreign currency contracts derivatives liability. The reduction in accounts payable was primarily related to timing of vendor payments. Partially offsetting these items was
a decrease in trade accounts and notes receivable which provided cash of $25.8 million. All other operating assets and liabilities netted to a $1.4 million generation of cash.

Net Cash Used for Investing Activities

During the Predecessor period from January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013, net cash used for investing activities was $8.3 million. Purchases of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets were $2.4 million and $6.3 million, respectively, during the Predecessor period January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013.

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities

During the Predecessor period from January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013, net cash provided by financing activities was $43.0 million which mainly represents the net cash
used by operating activities and net cash used in investing activities discussed above as a result of DuPont’s centralized cash management system.
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Financial Condition

As of September 30, 2014 (Successor) and December 31, 2013 (Successor), we had $233.3 million and $459.3 million of cash and cash equivalents, respectively.

The following table details our borrowings outstanding as of September 30, 2014 (Successor) and December 31, 2013 (Successor) (in millions):
 

     September 30, 2014    December 31, 2013 
Dollar Term Loan    $ 2,171.3     $ 2,282.8  
Euro Term Loan      503.4       547.7  
Dollar Senior Notes      750.0       750.0  
Euro Senior Notes      318.7       344.9  
Short-term borrowings      7.4       18.2  
Unamortized original issue discount      (19.2)     (22.7) 

                

     3,731.6       3,920.9  
Less:     

Short term borrowings      7.4       18.2  
Current portion of long-term borrowings      28.1       28.5  

                

Long-term debt    $ 3,696.1     $ 3,874.2  
      

 
     

 

Our indebtedness, including the Senior Secured Credit Facilities and Senior Notes, are more fully described in Note 18 “Long-term Borrowings” to the interim unaudited
condensed consolidated and combined financial statements included elsewhere in this quarterly report.

Scheduled Maturities

Below is a schedule of required future repayments of all borrowings outstanding as of September 30, 2014 (Successor) (in millions).
 

Remainder of 2014    $ 9.1  
2015      33.5  
2016      28.1  
2017      28.1  
2018      28.1  
Thereafter      3,623.9  

        

   $3,750.8  
      

 

Contractual Obligations

Information related to our contractual obligations can be found in the Company’s Registration Statement. There have been no material changes in the Company’s contractual
obligations since December 31, 2013.
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RECENT ACCOUNTING GUIDANCE

See Note 2, “Recent Accounting Guidance” for details on recently issued accounting guidance.

OFF BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

In connection with the Acquisition, we assumed certain guarantee obligations which directly guarantee various debt obligations under agreements with third parties related to
equity affiliates, customers, suppliers and other affiliated companies. At September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, we had directly guaranteed $2.2 million and $1.6 million
of such obligations, respectively. These represent the maximum potential amount of future (undiscounted) payments that we could be required to make under the guarantees in
the event of default by the guaranteed parties. No amounts were accrued at September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013.

No other off balance sheet arrangements existed as of September 30, 2014.

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Unless otherwise indicated, financial information in this quarterly report has been prepared on the basis of and in accordance with GAAP.
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED AND COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated and combined financial information for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 presented below were derived
from our unaudited financial statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 and the related notes thereto as well as the unaudited financial statements for
the DPC business for the period from January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013 and the related notes thereto, each of which are included elsewhere in this report.

On February 1, 2013, we consummated the Acquisition and acquired the DPC business from DuPont for $4,907.3 million plus transaction expenses. The purchase price paid
was allocated to the acquired assets and liabilities at fair value. The purchase price for the Acquisition was funded by (i) an equity contribution of $1,350.0 million, (ii) proceeds
from a $2,300.0 million Dollar Term Loan facility and a €400.0 million Euro Term Loan facility and (iii) proceeds from the issuance of $750.0 million in senior unsecured
notes and €250.0 million in senior secured notes.

On February 3, 2014, we refinanced our Dollar Term Loan and Euro Term Loan Facilities. The Acquisition financing and refinancing are collectively referred to herein as the
“Financing.”

Our unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated and combined statements of operations are presented for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 assuming:
 

  •   the Acquisition was completed on January 1, 2013;
 

  •   the Financing was completed on January 1, 2013; and
 

  •   the Offering was completed on January 1, 2013.

As the Acquisition and the Financing are reflected in the Company’s historical balance sheet at September 30, 2014, pro forma adjustments related to the Acquisition and
Financing transactions are only reflected in the pro forma condensed consolidated and combined statements of operations for such period. Historically, the DPC businesses
were managed and operated in the normal course of business with other affiliates of DuPont. Accordingly, certain shared costs were allocated to DPC and reflected as expenses
in the standalone Predecessor combined financial statements. DuPont had historically provided various services to the DPC business, including cash management, utilities and
facilities management, information technology, finance/accounting, tax, legal, human resources, site services, data processing, security, payroll, employee benefit
administration, insurance administration and telecommunications. The cost of these services were allocated to the Predecessor in the combined financial statements using
various allocation methods. See Note 6 to our Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this report for information regarding the
historical allocations for the period from January 1, 2013 through January 31, 2013.

The unaudited pro forma information set forth below is based upon available information and assumptions that we believe are reasonable. The unaudited pro forma information
is for illustrative and informational purposes only and is not intended to represent or be indicative of what our financial condition or results of operations would have been had
the above transactions occurred on the dates indicated. The unaudited pro forma information also should not be considered representative of our future financial condition or
results of operations.
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You should read the information contained in this table in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the
related notes thereto included elsewhere in this report.

Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Statement Of Operations
For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014

(In millions, except per share data)
 

     Successor                     

    

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,
2014     

Adjustments
for

Financing    

Adjustments
for

Offering     Pro forma 
Net sales    $ 3,282.9     $ —       $ —       $3,282.9  
Other revenue      21.6       —         —         21.6  

                                 

Total revenue      3,304.5       —         —         3,304.5  
Cost of goods sold      2,174.1       —         —         2,174.1  
Selling, general and administrative expenses      746.7       —         —         746.7  
Research and development expenses      36.8       —         —         36.8  
Amortization of acquired intangibles      63.3       —         —         63.3  

                                 

Income from operations      283.6       —         —         283.6  
Interest expense, net      166.5       (2.7) (e)     —         163.8  
Other expense (income), net      65.1       (3.1) (g)     (2.4) (h)     59.6  

                                 

Income before income taxes      52.0       5.8       2.4       60.2  
Provision for income taxes      18.2       0.4 (i)      0.7 (i)      19.3  

                                 

Net income      33.8       5.4       1.7       40.9  
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests      4.2       —         —         4.2  

                                 

Net income attributable to controlling interests    $ 29.6     $ 5.4     $ 1.7     $ 36.7  
      

 
      

 
     

 
     

 

Per share data:          
Basic net income per share    $ 0.13         $ 0.16  
Diluted net income per share    $ 0.13         $ 0.16  

Basic weighted average shares outstanding      229.2           229.2  
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding      229.3           229.3  
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Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined and Consolidated Statement Of Operations
For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013

(In millions, except per share data)
 
     Predecessor          Successor                          

    

January 1
through

January 31,
2013          

Nine
Months
Ended

September 30,
2013    

Adjustments
for

Acquisition    

Adjustments
for

Financing    

Adjustments
for

Offering     Pro forma 
Net sales    $ 326.2         $ 2,858.2     $ —       $ —       $ —       $3,184.4  
Other revenue      1.1           21.9       —         —         —         23.0  

                                                     

Total revenue      327.3           2,880.1       —         —         —         3,207.4  
Cost of goods sold      232.2           2,066.7       (96.0) (a)     —         —         2,202.9  
Selling, general and administrative expenses      70.8           673.7       2.2 (a)      —         —         746.7  
Research and development expenses      3.7           31.0       —         —         —         34.7  
Amortization of acquired intangibles      —             59.0       6.6 (b)      —         —         65.6  
Merger and acquisition related expenses      —             28.1       (28.1) (c)      —         —         —    

                                                     

Income (loss) from operations      20.6           21.6       115.3       —         —         157.5  
Interest expense, net      —             153.2       —         2.3 (e)      —         155.5  
Bridge financing commitment fees      —             25.0       —         (25.0) (f)     —         —    
Other expense, net      5.0           49.7       (19.4) (d)     —         (2.1) (h)     33.2  

                                                     

Income (loss) before income taxes      15.6           (206.3)     134.7       22.7       2.1       (31.2) 
Provision (benefit) for income taxes      7.1           (34.4)     36.3 (i)      1.8 (i)      0.6 (i)      11.4  

                                                     

Net income (loss)      8.5           (171.9)     98.4       20.9       1.5       (42.6) 
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests      0.6           3.7       —         —         —         4.3  

                                                     

Net income (loss) attributable to controlling interests    $ 7.9         $ (175.6)   $ 98.4     $ 20.9     $ 1.5     $ (46.9) 
      

 
          

 
     

 
     

 
     

 
     

 

 

Per share data:                  
Basic net income (loss) per share           $ (0.75)         $ (0.21) 
Diluted net income (loss) per share           $ (0.75)         $ (0.21) 

 

Basic weighted average shares outstanding             228.1             228.1  
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding             228.1             228.1  
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The Acquisition
 

(a) Represents the net pro forma adjustment to cost of sales resulting from the application of acquisition accounting (in millions):
 

    
As of September 30,

2013  
Total increase in depreciation(1)    $ 7.9  
Impact to cost of sales for conforming Predecessor periods to weighted average

cost flow assumption(2)      (0.2) 
Impact to cost of sales for inventory step-up related to the Acquisition(3)      (103.7) 

        

Decrease applicable to cost of goods sold    $ (96.0) 
      

 

 
  (1) Represents incremental depreciation applicable to purchase price allocation to tangible assets. The allocation of incremental depreciation expense is based on

Axalta’s historical classification.

Assumed allocation of purchase price to fair value of property, plant and equipment (in millions):
 

                  

Estimated annual
depreciation and

amortization  

    

Acquisition
Date Fair

Value     
Estimated
useful life     

Nine months
ended September 30,

2013  
Description:         
Property, plant and equipment    $ 1,705.9       Various     $ 156.2  
Less: Aggregated historical depreciation            (146.1) 

            
 

         $ 10.1  
            

 

Reflected in:         
Cost of goods sold          $ 7.9  
Selling, general and administrative expenses            2.2  

            
 

         $ 10.1  
            

 

 
  (2) Represents the effect of reversing the impact of the LIFO cost flow assumption on the Predecessor periods to conform with Successor’s weighted average cost

flow assumption
  (3) Represents the effect of the increase in inventory stepped-up to fair value as a result of the application of acquisition accounting.
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(b) Represents incremental amortization applicable to purchase price allocation to intangible assets. The allocation of incremental amortization expense is based on Axalta’s
historical classification.

Assumed allocation of purchase price to fair value of amortizable intangibles (in millions):
 

    
DuPont

Performance
Coatings

Acquisition  

  

Weighted
average

estimated
useful life

(years)  

  

Estimated annual
depreciation and

amortization  

          
Nine months ended
September 30, 2013 

Description:         
Technology    $ 403.0       10     $ 30.2  
Trademarks      41.7       14.8       2.1  
Customer relationships      764.3       19.4       29.8  
Non-compete      1.5       4       0.3  

Less: Aggregated historical amortization(1)            (55.8) 
            

 

         $ 6.6  
            

 

 
  (1) Exclusive of the $3.2 million associated with abandoned acquired in process research and development projects.
 

(c) Represents the net adjustment to remove one-time non-recurring expenses related to the Acquisition (in millions):
 

    

Nine months
ended September 30,

2013  
Decrease in acquisition-related transaction expenses    $ (28.1) 

      

 

 

(d) Represents the adjustment to remove the non-recurring loss on foreign currency contract directly related to the Acquisition (in millions):
 

    

Nine months
ended September 30,

2013  
Acquisition related loss on foreign currency contract to hedge Euro denominated

financing    $ (19.4) 
        

Decrease in other expense, net    $ (19.4) 
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The Financing
 

(e) Represents the pro forma adjustments to interest expense applicable to the Financing, as follows (in millions):
 

    

Nine months
ended September 30,

2014    

Nine months
ended September 30,

2013  
Borrowings under Term Loans(1)    $ 85.1     $ 85.9  
Borrowings under Senior Notes(2)      55.7       55.7  
Revolver unused availability fee(3)      1.5       1.5  
Amortization of deferred financing fees and original issue

discount(4)      15.6       15.1  
                

Total pro forma interest expense      157.9       158.2  
                

Less: Aggregated historical interest expense      (160.6)     (155.9) 
                

   $ (2.7)   $ 2.3  
      

 
     

 

 

 

(1) As a result of the February 2014 refinancing, reflects pro forma interest expense based on $2.3 billion of borrowings under Dollar Term Loans at an assumed
minimal base rate of 1.00% plus an applicable margin of 3.00% and €400 million (approximately $531.1 million) of borrowings under Euro Term Loans at an
assumed minimal base rate of 1.00% plus an applicable margin of 3.25%. A 0.125% increase or decrease in the interest rate on the Term Loan facility would
increase or decrease our annual interest expense by $3.5 million.

  (2) Reflects pro forma interest expense based on $750 million Dollar Senior Notes at 7.375% and €250 million Euro Senior Notes (approximately $331.9 million) at
5.75%.

  (3) Based on unused availability of $400.0 million under the Revolving Credit Facility with an unused facility charge of 0.5% per annum.
  (4) Reflects the non-cash amortization of deferred financing fees and original issue discount related to the Financing over the term of the related facility.
 
(f) Represents pro forma adjustment to remove bridge loan commitment fees
 

    

Nine months
ended September 30,

2013  
Adjustment to remove bridge loan commitment fees    $ (25.0) 

      
 

 
(g) Represents pro forma adjustment to remove debt modification fees and charges
 

    

Nine months
ended September 30,

2014  
Adjustment to remove debt modification fees and charges    $ (3.1) 

      
 

The Offering
 

(h) Represents the adjustment to remove Carlyle management fees, which terminated on the consummation of the Offering (in millions):
 

    

Nine months
ended September 30,

2014     

Nine months
ended September 30,

2013  
Adjustment to remove historical Carlyle management fees    $ 2.4     $ 2.1  
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The Transactions
 

(i) Represents pro forma adjustments to the tax provision as a result of the Acquisition, the Financing and the Offering (in millions)
 

Nine months ended September 30, 2014   
Pro forma

Adjustment   

Weighted
average

statutory
income
tax rate    

Nine months
ended

September 30,
2014  

The Financing Transactions       
Pro forma adjustment (e), interest expense    $ (2.7)     7.4% (2)   $ 0.2  
Pro forma adjustment (g), debt modification fees    $ (3.1)     7.4% (2)     0.2  

          
 

       $ 0.4  
          

 

The Offering       
Pro forma adjustment (h), management fee    $ (2.4)     27.8% (2)   $ 0.7  

          

 

Nine months ended September 30, 2013   
Pro forma
adjustment    

Weighted
average

statutory
income
tax rate    

Nine months
ended

September 30,
2013  

The Acquisition       
Pro forma adjustment (a), depreciation    $ 10.1       33.0% (4)   $ (3.3) 
Pro forma adjustment (a), LIFO to weighted average    $ (0.2)     33.2% (4)     0.1  
Pro forma adjustment (a), inventory step-up    $ (103.7)     33.2% (4)     34.5  
Pro forma adjustment (b), amortization of intangibles    $ 6.6       23.4% (1)     (1.5) 
Pro forma adjustment (c), acquisition related expenses    $ (28.1)     23.1% (1)     6.5  
Pro forma adjustment (d), foreign currency contract    $ (19.4)     —  % (5)     —    

            

Pro forma adjustment to income tax provision        $ 36.3  
          

 

The Financing       
Pro forma adjustment (e), interest expense    $ 2.3       56.5% (2)   $ (1.3) 
Pro forma adjustment (f), bridge loan commitment fees    $ (25.0)     12.4% (2)     3.1  

            

Pro forma adjustment to income tax provision        $ 1.8  
          

 

The Offering       
Pro forma adjustment (h), management fee    $ (2.1)     27.8% (3)   $ 0.6  

            

Pro forma adjustment to income tax provision        $ 0.6  
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(1) Reflects our weighted average statutory tax rate consisting primarily of the following jurisdictions and related rates:
 

Jurisdiction    Statutory Rate 
United States      38.5% 
Luxembourg(a)      —  % 
Germany      32.5% 

 
  (a) Represents our effective tax rate due to prior and expected continued net operating losses.
 

(2) Reflects our weighted average statutory tax rate consisting primarily of the following jurisdictions and related rates:
 

Jurisdiction    Statutory Rate 
United States      38.5% 
Netherlands(a)      —  % 

 
  (a) Represents our effective tax rate due to prior and expected continued net operating losses
 

(3) Reflects our United States statutory tax rate of 38.5% net of impact of permanent differences.
 

(4) Reflects our weighted average statutory tax rate consisting primarily of the following jurisdictions and related rates:
 

Jurisdiction    Statutory Rate 
United States      38.5% 
Brazil      34.0% 
Germany      32.5% 
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates because we finance certain operations through fixed and variable rate debt instruments and
denominate our transactions in a variety of foreign currencies. We are also exposed to changes in the prices of certain commodities that we use in production. Changes in these
rates and commodity prices may have an impact on future cash flow and earnings. We manage these risks through normal operating and financing activities and, when deemed
appropriate, through the use of derivative financial instruments. We do not enter into financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

By using derivative instruments, we are subject to credit and market risk. The fair market value of the derivative instruments is determined by using valuation models whose
inputs are derived using market observable inputs, including interest rate yield curves, as well as foreign exchange and commodity spot and forward rates, and reflects the asset
or liability position as of the end of each reporting period. When the fair value of a derivative contract is positive, the counterparty owes us, thus creating a receivable risk for
us. We are exposed to counterparty credit risk in the event of non-performance by counterparties to our derivative agreements. We minimize counterparty credit (or repayment)
risk by entering into transactions with major financial institutions of investment grade credit rating.

Our exposure to market risk is not hedged in a manner that completely eliminates the effects of changing market conditions on earnings or cash flow.

There have been no material changes in the market risks previously disclosed in our financial statements and notes included in the Company’s Registration Statement on Form
S-1 (Registration No. 333-198271), which was declared effective by the SEC on November 10, 2014.
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ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal controls designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in
our reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our
management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures. Based
on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q were effective.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act) that occurred during the quarter ended
September 30, 2014 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time we may be subject to various legal claims and proceedings incidental to the normal conduct of business and other matters that may arise in the ordinary
course of our business. See Note 7 in the Notes to the Interim Condensed Consolidated (Successor) and Combined (Predecessor) Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 1
of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

There were no material changes during the third quarter 2014 to the Company’s risk factors as previously reported on the Company’s Registration Statement filed on form S-1.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

(a) Sales of unregistered securities

The information presented in this Item 2 gives effect to the 1.69-for-1 stock split, which was effectuated on October 28, 2014. Since August 24, 2012, we have granted to our
officers and employees options to purchase an aggregate of 17,143,043 of our common shares with per share exercise prices equal to $5.92, $7.21, $8.88 and $11.84 under our
equity incentive plan, which we refer to as the existing equity incentive plan. Since August 24, 2012, certain of our officers and employees have exercised options granted under
the 2013 Plan to purchase a total of 363,248 of our common shares for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $2.9 million. Since August 24, 2012, certain of our officers
and directors have purchased an aggregate of 1,604,382 of our common shares at an aggregate purchase price of approximately $10 million.

The sales of the above securities were deemed to be exempt from registration under the Securities Act in reliance upon Section 4(2) of the Securities Act or Regulation D
promulgated thereunder, or Rule 701 promulgated under Section 3(b) of the Securities Act as transactions by an issuer not involving any public offering or pursuant to benefit
plans and contracts relating to compensation as provided under Rule 701. Individuals who purchased stock as described above represented their intention to acquire the stock
for investment only and not with a view to or for sale in connection with any distribution thereof, and appropriate legends were affixed to the share certificates issued in such
transactions.

(b) Use of proceeds from registered securities:

On November 10, 2014, our Registration Statement on Form S-1 as amended (File No. 333-198271), relating to our initial public offering of 50,000,000 ordinary shares was
declared effective by the SEC. On November 14, 2014, we closed the sale of 57,500,000, which included 7,500,000 related to the underwriters over-allotment option, of our
ordinary shares at a price of $19.50 per share. We will receive no proceeds from the Offering.
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ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

See Exhibits Index
 
    3.1    -   Amended and Restated Bye-laws of Axalta Coating Systems Ltd.

  31.1    -   Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

  31.2    -   Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

  32.1    -   Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

  32.2    -   Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101    -   INS — XBRL Instance Document

101    -   SCH — XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101    -   CAL — XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101    -   DEF — XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101    -   LAB — XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101    -   PRE — XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned duly authorized.
 

Axalta Coatings Systems Ltd.

By:   /s/ Charles W. Shaver
Charles W. Shaver
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
November 14, 2014

By:   /s/ Robert W. Bryant
Robert W. Bryant
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
November 14, 2014

By:   /s/ Sean M. Lannon
Sean M. Lannon
Vice President and Global Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)
November 14, 2014
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INTERPRETATION
 
1. Definitions
 

1.1 In these Bye-laws, the following words and expressions shall, where not inconsistent with the context, have the following meanings, respectively:
 

  Act    the Companies Act 1981;

  Auditor    includes an individual or partnership;

 

Board
  

the board of directors (including, for the avoidance of doubt, a sole director) appointed or elected pursuant to these
Bye-laws;

  Carlyle Funds    has the meaning set out in Bye-law 34.7(b);

  Company    Axalta Coating Systems Ltd.;

  Director    a director of the Company;

 

Exchange

  

the New York Stock Exchange for so long as the shares of the Company are listed or quoted on the New York Stock
Exchange, or such other stock exchange which is an appointed stock exchange for the purposes of the Act in respect of
which the shares of the Company are listed or quoted and where such appointed stock exchange deems such listing or
quotation to be the primary listing or quotation of the shares of the Company;

 

Member

  

the person registered in the Register of Members as the holder of shares in the Company and, when two or more
persons are so registered as joint holders of shares, means the person whose name stands first in the Register of
Members as one of such joint holders or all of such persons, as the context so requires;
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  notice    written notice as further provided in these Bye-laws unless otherwise specifically stated;

  Officer    any person appointed by the Board to hold an office in the Company;

  Register of Directors and Officers    the Register of Directors and Officers referred to in these Bye-laws;

  Register of Members    the register of Members referred to in these Bye-laws;

  Resident Representative    any person appointed to act as resident representative and includes any deputy or assistant resident representative;

 

Secretary
  

the person appointed to perform any or all of the duties of secretary of the Company and includes any deputy or
assistant secretary and any person appointed by the Board to perform any of the duties of the Secretary;

 

Treasury Share
  

a share of the Company that was or is treated as having been acquired and held by the Company and has been held
continuously by the Company since it was so acquired and has not been cancelled.

 
1.2 In these Bye-laws, where not inconsistent with the context:
 

  (a) words denoting the plural number include the singular number and vice versa;
 

  (b) words denoting the masculine gender include the feminine and neuter genders;
 

  (c) words importing persons include companies, associations or bodies of persons whether corporate or not;
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  (d) the words:-
 

  (i) “may” shall be construed as permissive; and
 

  (ii) “shall” shall be construed as mandatory;
 

  (e) a reference to statutory provision shall be deemed to include any amendment or re-enactment thereof;
 

  (f) the word “corporation” means a corporation whether or not a company within the meaning of the Act; and
 

  (g) unless otherwise provided herein, words or expressions defined in the Act shall bear the same meaning in these Bye-laws.
 

1.3 In these Bye-laws expressions referring to writing or its cognates shall, unless the contrary intention appears, include facsimile, printing, lithography, photography,
electronic mail and other modes of representing words in visible form.

 

1.4 Headings used in these Bye-laws are for convenience only and are not to be used or relied upon in the construction hereof.

SHARES
 
2. Power to Issue Shares
 

2.1 Subject to these Bye-laws, and without prejudice to any special rights previously conferred on the holders of any existing shares or class of shares, the Board shall have
the power to issue any unissued shares on such terms and conditions as it may determine from time to time.

 

2.2 Without limitation to the provisions of Bye-law 4, subject to the Act, any preference shares may be issued or converted into shares that (at a determinable date or at the
option of the Company or the holder) are liable to be redeemed on such terms and in such manner as may be determined by the Board (before the issue or conversion of
such shares).

 
3. Power of the Company to Purchase its Shares
 

3.1 The Company may from time to time purchase its own shares for cancellation or acquire them as Treasury Shares in accordance with the Act on such terms as the Board
shall think fit.

 

3.2 The Board may exercise all the powers of the Company to purchase or acquire all or any part of its own shares in accordance with the Act.
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4. Rights Attaching to Shares
 

4.1 At the date these Bye-laws are adopted, the share capital of the Company is divided into two classes: (i) common shares (the “Common Shares”) and (ii) preference
shares (the “Preference Shares”).

 

4.2 The holders of Common Shares shall, subject to these Bye-laws (including, without limitation, the rights attaching to any Preference Shares):
 

  (a) be entitled to one vote per share;
 

  (b) be entitled to such dividends and other distributions as the Board may from time to time declare;
 

  (c) in the event of a winding-up or dissolution of the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary or for purpose of a reorganisation or otherwise or upon any
distribution of capital, be entitled to the surplus assets of the Company; and

 

  (d) generally be entitled to enjoy all of the rights attaching to shares.
 

4.3 The Board is authorised to provide for the issuance of the Preference Shares in one or more series, and to establish from time to time the number of shares to be included
in each such series, to allot and re-designate such portion of the unissued share capital to such series as it shall determine to be appropriate and to fix the terms, including
designation, powers, preferences, rights, qualifications, limitations and restrictions of the shares of each such series (and, for the avoidance of doubt, such matters and
the issuance of such Preference Shares shall not be deemed to vary the rights attached to the Common Shares or, subject to the terms of any other series of Preference
Shares, to vary the rights attached to any other series of Preference Shares). The authority of the Board with respect to each series shall include, but not be limited to,
determination of the following:

 

  (a) the number of shares constituting that series and the distinctive designation of that series;
 

  (b) the dividend rate on the shares of that series, whether dividends shall be cumulative and, if so, from which date or dates, and the relative rights of priority, if any,
of the payment of dividends on shares of that series;

 

  (c) whether the series shall have voting rights, in addition to the voting rights provided by law and, if so, the terms of such voting rights;
 

  (d) whether the series shall have conversion or exchange privileges (including, without limitation, conversion into Common Shares) and, if so, the terms and
conditions of such conversion or exchange, including provision for adjustment of the conversion or exchange rate in such events as the Board shall determine;
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(e) whether or not the shares of that series shall be redeemable or repurchaseable and, if so, the terms and conditions of such redemption or repurchase, including the
manner of selecting shares for redemption or repurchase if less than all shares are to be redeemed or repurchased, the date or dates upon or after which they shall
be redeemable or repurchaseable, and the amount per share payable in case of redemption or repurchase, which amount may vary under different conditions and
at different redemption or repurchase dates;

 

  (f) whether that series shall have a sinking fund for the redemption or repurchase of shares of that series and, if so, the terms and amount of such sinking fund;
 

 
(g) the right of the shares of that series to the benefit of conditions and restrictions upon the creation of indebtedness of the Company or any subsidiary, upon the

issue of any additional shares (including additional shares of such series or any other series) and upon the payment of dividends or the making of other
distributions on, and the purchase, redemption or other acquisition by the Company or any subsidiary of any issued shares of the Company;

 

  (h) the rights of the shares of that series in the event of voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, and the relative rights of
priority, if any, of payment in respect of shares of that series; and

 

  (i) any other relative participating, optional or other special rights, qualifications, limitations or restrictions of that series.
 

4.4 Any Preference Shares of any series which have been redeemed (whether through the operation of a sinking fund or otherwise) or which, if convertible or exchangeable,
have been converted into or exchanged for shares of any other class or classes shall have the status of authorised and unissued Preference Shares of the same series and
may be reissued as a part of the series of which they were originally a part or may be reclassified and reissued as part of a new series of Preference Shares to be created
by resolution or resolutions of the Board or as part of any other series of Preference Shares, all subject to the conditions and the restrictions on issuance set forth in the
resolution or resolutions adopted by the Board providing for the issue of any series of Preference Shares.

 

4.5 At the discretion of the Board, whether or not in connection with the issuance and sale of any shares or other securities of the Company, the Company may issue
securities, contracts, warrants or other instruments evidencing any shares, option rights, securities having conversion or option rights, or obligations on such terms,
conditions and other provisions as are fixed by the Board including, without limiting the generality of this authority, conditions that preclude or limit any person or
persons owning or offering to acquire a specified number or percentage
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  of the issued Common Shares, other shares, option rights, securities having conversion or option rights, or obligations of the Company or transferee of the person or
persons from exercising, converting, transferring or receiving the shares, option rights, securities having conversion or option rights, or obligations.

 

4.6 All the rights attaching to a Treasury Share shall be suspended and shall not be exercised by the Company while it holds such Treasury Share and, except where required
by the Act, all Treasury Shares shall be excluded from the calculation of any percentage or fraction of the share capital, or shares, of the Company.

 
5. Calls on Shares
 

5.1 The Board may make such calls as it deems fit upon the Members in respect of any monies (whether in respect of nominal value or premium) unpaid on the shares
allotted to or held by such Members and, if a call is not paid on or before the day appointed for payment thereof, the Member may at the discretion of the Board be liable
to pay the Company interest on the amount of such call at such rate as the Board may determine, from the date when such call was payable up to the actual date of
payment. The Board may differentiate between the holders as to the amount of calls to be paid and the times of payment of such calls.

 

5.2 Any amount which, by the terms of issue of a share, becomes payable upon issue or at any fixed date, whether on account of the nominal value of the share or by way of
premium, shall for the purposes of these Bye-laws be deemed to be an amount on which a call has been duly made and payable on the date on which, by the terms of
issue, the same becomes payable, and in case of non-payment all the relevant provisions of these Bye-laws as to payment of interest, cost and expenses, forfeiture or
otherwise shall apply as if such amount had become payable by virtue of a duly made and notified call.

 

5.3 The joint holders of a share shall be jointly and severally liable to pay all calls and any interest, costs and expenses in respect thereof.
 

5.4 The Company may accept from any Member the whole or a part of the amount remaining unpaid on any shares held by him, although no part of that amount has been
called up.

 
6. Forfeiture of Shares
 

6.1 If any Member fails to pay, on the day appointed for payment thereof, any call in respect of any share allotted to or held by such Member, the Board may, at any time
thereafter during such time as the call remains unpaid, direct the Secretary to forward such Member a notice in writing in such form as may be approved by the Board,
requiring payment of the amount unpaid together with any interest which may have accrued and which may still accrue up to the date of actual payment; and stating that
if the notice is not complied with the shares on which the call was made will be liable to be forfeited.
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6.2 If the requirements of such notice are not complied with, any such share may at any time thereafter before the payment of such call and the interest due in respect thereof
be forfeited by a resolution of the Board to that effect, and such share shall thereupon become the property of the Company and may be disposed of as the Board shall
determine. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the disposal may take place by sale, repurchase, redemption or any other method of disposal permitted by
and consistent with these Bye-laws and the Act.

 

6.3 A Member whose share or shares have been so forfeited shall, notwithstanding such forfeiture, be liable to pay to the Company all calls owing on such share or shares at
the time of the forfeiture, together with all interest due thereon and any costs and expenses incurred by the Company in connection therewith.

 

6.4 The Board may accept the surrender of any shares which it is in a position to forfeit on such terms and conditions as may be agreed. Subject to those terms and
conditions, a surrendered share shall be treated as if it had been forfeited.

 
7. Share Certificates
 

7.1 Subject to Bye-law 7.4, every Member shall be entitled to a certificate under the common seal (or a facsimile thereof) of the Company or bearing the signature (or a
facsimile thereof) of a Director or the Secretary or a person expressly authorised to sign specifying the number and, where appropriate, the class of shares held by such
Member and whether the same are fully paid up and, if not, specifying the amount paid on such shares. The Board may by resolution determine, either generally or in a
particular case, that any or all signatures on certificates may be printed thereon or affixed by mechanical means.

 

7.2 The Company shall be under no obligation to complete and deliver a share certificate unless specifically called upon to do so by the person to whom the shares have
been allotted.

 

7.3 If any share certificate shall be proved to the satisfaction of the Board to have been worn out, lost, mislaid, or destroyed the Board may cause a new certificate to be
issued and request an indemnity for the lost certificate if it sees fit.

 

7.4 Notwithstanding any provisions of these Bye-laws:
 

(a) the Board shall, subject always to the Act and any other applicable laws and regulations and the facilities and requirements of any relevant system concerned, have
power to implement any arrangements it may, in its absolute discretion, deem fit in relation to the evidencing of title to and transfer of uncertificated shares and to the
extent such arrangements are so implemented, no provision of these Bye-laws shall apply or have effect to the extent that it is in any respect inconsistent with the
holding or transfer of shares in uncertificated form; and

 

(b) unless otherwise determined by the Board and as permitted by the Act and any other applicable laws and regulations, no person shall be entitled to receive a certificate in
respect of any share for so long as the title to that share is evidenced otherwise than by a certificate and for so long as transfers of that share may be made otherwise than
by a written instrument.
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8. Fractional Shares

The Company may issue its shares in fractional denominations and deal with such fractions to the same extent as its whole shares and shares in fractional denominations shall
have in proportion to the respective fractions represented thereby all of the rights of whole shares including (but without limiting the generality of the foregoing) the right to
vote, to receive dividends and distributions and to participate in a winding-up.

REGISTRATION OF SHARES
 
9. Register of Members
 

9.1 The Board shall cause to be kept in one or more books a Register of Members and shall enter therein the particulars required by the Act.
 

9.2 The Register of Members shall be open to inspection without charge at the registered office of the Company on every business day, subject to such reasonable
restrictions as the Board may impose, so that not less than two hours in each business day be allowed for inspection. The Register of Members may, after notice has been
given in accordance with the Act, be closed for any time or times not exceeding in the whole thirty days in each year.

 
10. Registered Holder Absolute Owner

The Company shall be entitled to treat the registered holder of any share as the absolute owner thereof and accordingly shall not be bound to recognise any equitable claim or
other claim to, or interest in, such share on the part of any other person.

 
11. Transfer of Registered Shares
 

11.1 Shares may be transferred without a written instrument if transferred by an appointed agent or otherwise in accordance with the Act.
 

11.2 An instrument of transfer for shares which may not be transferred pursuant to either Bye-law 11.1 or Bye-law 11.7 shall be in writing in such form as the Board may
accept.

 

11.3 Such instrument of transfer shall be signed by (or, in the case of a party that is a corporation, on behalf of) the transferor and transferee, provided that, in the case of a
fully paid share, the Board may accept the instrument signed by or on behalf of the transferor alone. The transferor shall be deemed to remain the holder of such share
until the same has been registered as having been transferred to the transferee in the Register of Members.
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11.4 The Board may refuse to recognise any instrument of transfer unless it is accompanied by the certificate in respect of the shares to which it relates and by such other
evidence as the Board may reasonably require showing the right of the transferor to make the transfer.

 

11.5 The joint holders of any share may transfer such share to one or more of such joint holders, and the surviving holder or holders of any share previously held by them
jointly with a deceased Member may transfer any such share to the executors or administrators of such deceased Member.

 

11.6 The Board may in its absolute discretion and without assigning any reason therefor refuse to register the transfer of a share, which is not fully paid up. The Board shall
refuse to register a transfer unless all applicable consents, authorisations and permissions of any governmental body or agency in Bermuda have been obtained. The
Board shall have the authority to request any Member, and such Member shall provide, such information as the Board may reasonably request for the purpose of
determining whether the transfer of any share requires such consent, authorization or permission and whether the same has been obtained. If the Board refuses to register
a transfer of any share the Secretary shall, within three months after the date on which the transfer was lodged with the Company, send to the transferor and transferee
notice of the refusal.

 

11.7 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in these Bye-laws, shares that are listed or admitted to trading on an appointed stock exchange may be transferred in
accordance with the rules and regulations of such exchange.

 
12. Transmission of Registered Shares
 

12.1 In the case of the death of a Member, the survivor or survivors where the deceased Member was a joint holder, and the legal personal representatives of the deceased
Member where the deceased Member was a sole holder, shall be the only persons recognised by the Company as having any title to the deceased Member’s interest in
the shares. Nothing herein contained shall release the estate of a deceased joint holder from any liability in respect of any share which had been jointly held by such
deceased Member with other persons. Subject to the Act, for the purpose of this Bye-law, legal personal representative means the executor or administrator of a deceased
Member or such other person as the Board may, in its absolute discretion, decide as being properly authorised to deal with the shares of a deceased Member.

 

12.2 Any person becoming entitled to a share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of any Member may be registered as a Member upon such evidence as the Board
may deem sufficient or may elect to nominate some person to be registered as a transferee of such share, and in such case, unless the shares may be transferred pursuant
to either Bye-law 11.1 or Bye-law 11.7, the person becoming entitled shall execute in favour of such nominee an instrument of transfer in writing in such form as the
Board may approve.
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12.3 On the presentation of the foregoing materials to the Board, accompanied by such evidence as the Board may require to prove the title of the transferor, the transferee
shall be registered as a Member. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board shall, in any case, have the same right to decline or suspend registration as it would have had
in the case of a transfer of the share by that Member before such Member’s death or bankruptcy, as the case may be.

 

12.4 Where two or more persons are registered as joint holders of a share or shares, then in the event of the death of any joint holder or holders the remaining joint holder or
holders shall be absolutely entitled to such share or shares and the Company shall recognise no claim in respect of the estate of any joint holder except in the case of the
last survivor of such joint holders.

ALTERATION OF SHARE CAPITAL
 
13. Power to Alter Capital
 

13.1 The Company may if authorised by resolution of the Members increase change the currency denomination of, diminish or otherwise alter or reduce its share capital in
any manner permitted by the Act.

 

13.2 The Board may, subject to these Bye-laws and in accordance with the Act, consolidate and divide all or any of its share capital into shares of larger amount than its
existing shares or subdivide its shares, or any of them, into shares of smaller amount in any manner permitted by the Act or the Bye-laws.

 

13.3 Where, on any alteration or reduction of share capital, fractions of shares or some other difficulty would arise, the Board may deal with or resolve the same in such
manner as it thinks fit.

 
14. Variation of Rights Attaching to Shares

If, at any time, the share capital is divided into different classes of shares, the rights attached to any class (unless otherwise provided by the terms of issue of the shares of that
class) may, whether or not the Company is being wound-up, be varied with the consent in writing of the holders of three-fourths of the issued shares of that class or with the
sanction of a resolution passed by a majority of the votes cast at a separate general meeting of the holders of the shares of the class at which meeting the necessary quorum shall
be two persons at least holding or representing by proxy one-third of the issued shares of the class. The rights conferred upon the holders of the shares of any class or series
issued with preferred or other rights shall not, unless otherwise expressly provided by the terms of issue of the shares of that class or series, be deemed to be varied by the
creation or issue of further shares ranking pari passu therewith.
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DIVIDENDS AND CAPITALISATION
 
15. Dividends
 

15.1 The Board may, subject to these Bye-laws and in accordance with the Act, declare a dividend to be paid to the Members, in proportion to the number of shares held by
them, and such dividend may be paid in cash or wholly or partly in specie in which case the Board may fix the value for distribution in specie of any assets. No unpaid
dividend shall bear interest as against the Company unless otherwise provided by the rights attached to such shares.

 

15.2 The Board may fix any date as the record date for determining the Members entitled to receive any dividend.
 

15.3 The Company may pay dividends in proportion to the amount paid up on each share where a larger amount is paid up on some shares than on others.
 

15.4 The Board may declare and make such other distributions (in cash or in specie) to the Members as may be lawfully made out of the assets of the Company. No unpaid
distribution shall bear interest as against the Company unless otherwise provided by the rights attached to such share.

 
16. Power to Set Aside Profits

The Board may, before declaring a dividend or distribution, set aside out of the surplus or profits of the Company, such amount as it thinks proper as a reserve to be used to
meet contingencies, for equalising dividends, securing equality of distribution or for any other purpose.

 
17. Method of Payment
 

17.1 Any dividend, interest, or other monies payable in cash may be paid in such manner as the Board shall determine, including by wire transfer, or by cheque or draft sent
through the post directed to the Member at such Member’s address in the Register of Members, or to such person and to such address as the holder may in writing direct.
Every such cheque or draft shall be made payable to the order of the person to whom it is sent or to such person as the Member may direct, and payment of the cheque or
draft shall be good discharge to the Company. Every such cheque or draft shall be sent at the risk of the person entitled to the money represented thereby.

 

17.2 In the case of joint holders of shares, any dividend, interest or other monies payable in cash in respect of shares may be paid by cheque or draft sent through the post
directed to the address of the holder first named in the Register of Members, or to such person and to such address as the joint holders may in writing direct at least 30
days prior to such payment or for such other time period as the Board shall determine. If two or more persons are registered as joint holders of any shares any one can
give an effectual receipt for any dividend paid in respect of such shares.
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17.3 The Board may deduct from the dividends or distributions payable to any Member all monies due from such Member to the Company on account of calls or otherwise.
 

17.4 Any dividend, distribution and/or other monies payable in respect of a share which has remained unclaimed for a period of six years from the date when it became due
for payment shall, if the Board so resolves, be forfeited and cease to remain owing by the Company. The payment of any unclaimed dividend, distribution or other
monies payable in respect of a share may (but need not) be paid by the Company into an account separate from the Company’s own account. Such payment shall not
constitute the Company a trustee in respect thereof.

 

17.5 The Company shall be entitled to cease sending dividend cheques and drafts by post or otherwise to a Member if those instruments have been returned undelivered to, or
left uncashed by, that Member on at least two consecutive occasions or, following one such occasion, reasonable enquiries have failed to establish the Member’s new
address. The entitlement conferred on the Company by this Bye-law in respect of any Member shall cease if the Member claims a dividend or cashes a dividend cheque
or draft.

 
18. Capitalisation
 

18.1 The Board may capitalise any amount for the time being standing to the credit of any of the Company’s share premium or other reserve accounts or to the credit of the
profit and loss account or otherwise available for dividend or distribution by applying such amount in paying up unissued shares to be allotted as fully paid bonus shares
pro rata (except in connection with the conversion of shares of one class to shares of another class) to the Members.

 

18.2 The Board may capitalise any amount for the time being standing to the credit of a reserve account or amounts otherwise available for dividend or distribution by
applying such amounts in paying up in full, partly or nil paid shares of those Members who would have been entitled to such amounts if they were distributed by way of
dividend or distribution.

MEETINGS OF MEMBERS
 
19. Annual General Meetings

An annual general meeting shall be held in each year (other than the year of incorporation) at such time and place as the Board shall appoint.

 
20. Special General Meetings

The President or the Chairman (if any) or a majority of the Directors may convene a special general meeting whenever in their judgment such a meeting is necessary.
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21. Requisitioned General Meetings and Other Business
 

21.1 The Board shall, on the requisition of Members holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of such of the paid-up share capital of the
Company as at the date of the deposit carries the right to vote at general meetings, forthwith proceed to convene a special general meeting and the provisions of the Act
shall apply.

 

21.2 In addition to any rights of Members under the Act or these Bye-laws, business may be brought before any annual general meeting or any special general meeting by any
person who: (i) is a Member of record on the date of the giving of the notice provided for in this Bye-law 21, on the record date for the determination of Members
entitled to receive notice of and vote at such meeting and on the date of such meeting; and (ii) complies with the notice procedures set forth in this Bye-law 21.

 

21.3 In addition to any other applicable requirements, for other business to be proposed by a Member pursuant to Bye-law 21.2, such Member must have given timely notice
thereof in proper written form to the Secretary.

 

21.4 To be timely, a notice given to the Secretary pursuant to Bye-law 21.3 must be delivered to or mailed and received by the Secretary at the principal executive offices of
the Company as set forth in the Company’s filings with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission: (i) in the case of an annual general meeting, not less than 90 days
nor more than 120 days before the anniversary of the last annual general meeting or, in the event the annual general meeting is called for a date that is greater than 30
days before or after such anniversary, the notice must be so delivered or mailed and received not later than 10 days following the earlier of the date on which notice of
the annual general meeting was posted to Members or the date on which public disclosure of the date of the annual general meeting was made; and (ii) in the case of a
special general meeting, not later than 7 days following the earlier of the date on which notice of the special general meeting was posted to Members or the date on
which public disclosure of the date of the special general meeting was made.

 

21.5 To be in proper written form, a notice given to the Secretary pursuant to Bye-law 21.3 must set forth as to each matter such Member proposed to bring before the general
meeting: (i) a brief description of the business desired to be brought before the general meeting, the text of the proposal or business (including the text of any resolutions
proposed for consideration and, in the event that such business includes a proposal to amend the Bye-laws of the Company, the language of the proposed amendment)
and the reasons for conducting such business at the general meeting; (ii) the name and record address of such Member and the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf
the business is being proposed; (iii) the class or series and number of shares of the Company which are registered in the name of or beneficially owned by such Member
and such beneficial owner (including any shares as to which such Member or such beneficial owner has a right to acquire ownership at any time in
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the future); (iv) a description of all derivatives, swaps or other transactions or series of transactions engaged in, directly or indirectly, by such Member or such beneficial
owner, the purpose or effect of which is to give such Member or such beneficial owner economic risk similar to ownership of shares of the Company; (v) a description of
all agreements, arrangements, understandings or relationships engaged in, directly or indirectly, by such Member or such beneficial owner, the purpose or effect of which
is to mitigate loss to, reduce the economic risk (or ownership or otherwise) of any class or series of shares of the Company, manage the risk of share price changes for, or
increase or decrease the voting power of, such Member or beneficial owner, or which provides, direct or indirectly, such Member or beneficial owner with the
opportunity to profit from any decrease in the price or value of the shares of any class or series of shares of the Company; (vi) a description of all agreements,
arrangements, understandings or relationships between such Member or such beneficial owner and any other person or persons (including their names) in connection
with the proposal of such business by such Member and any material interest of such Member or such beneficial owner in such business; and (vii) a representation that
such Member intends to appear in person or by proxy at the general meeting to bring such business before the general meeting.

 

21.6 Once business has been properly brought before the general meeting in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Bye-law 21 and the Member proposing such
business is present in person or by proxy at the general meeting, nothing in this Bye-law shall be deemed to preclude discussion by any Member of such business. If the
chairman of a general meeting determines that business was not properly brought before the meeting in accordance with this Bye-law 21, the chairman shall declare to
the meeting that the business was not properly brought before the meeting and such business shall not be transacted.

 

21.7 No business may be transacted at a general meeting, other than business that is either (i) properly brought before the general meeting by or at the direction of the Board
(or any duly authorised committee thereof); or (ii) properly brought before the general meeting by any Member or Members in accordance with the Act or these Bye-
laws.

 
22. Notice
 

22.1 At least fourteen days’ notice of an annual general meeting shall be given to each Member entitled to attend and vote thereat, stating the date, place and time at which the
meeting is to be held, and as far as practicable, the business to be conducted at the meeting.

 

22.2 At least ten days’ notice of a special general meeting shall be given to each Member entitled to attend and vote thereat, stating the date, time, place and the general nature
of the business to be considered at the meeting.
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22.3 The Board may fix any date as the record date for determining the Members entitled to receive notice of and to vote at any general meeting.
 

22.4 A general meeting shall, notwithstanding that it is called on shorter notice than that specified in these Bye-laws, be deemed to have been properly called if it is so agreed
by (i) all the Members entitled to attend and vote thereat in the case of an annual general meeting; and (ii) by a majority in number of the Members having the right to
attend and vote at the meeting, being a majority together holding not less than 95% in nominal value of the shares giving a right to attend and vote thereat in the case of a
special general meeting.

 

22.5 The accidental omission to give notice of a general meeting to, or the non-receipt of a notice of a general meeting by, any person entitled to receive notice shall not
invalidate the proceedings at that meeting.

 
23. Giving Notice and Access
 

23.1 A notice may be given by the Company to a Member:
 

  (a) by delivering it to such Member in person, in which case the notice shall be deemed to have been served upon such delivery; or
 

  (b) by sending it by post to such Member’s address in the Register of Members, in which case the notice shall be deemed to have been served five days after the date
on which it is deposited, with postage prepaid, in the mail; or

 

  (c) by sending it by courier to such Member’s address in the Register of Members, in which case the notice shall be deemed to have been served two days after the
date on which it is deposited, with courier fees paid, with the courier service; or

 

 
(d) by transmitting it by electronic means (including facsimile and electronic mail, but not telephone) in accordance with such directions as may be given by such

Member to the Company for such purpose, in which case the notice shall be deemed to have been served at the time that it would in the ordinary course be
transmitted; or

 

  (e) by delivering it in accordance with the provisions of the Act pertaining to delivery of electronic records by publication on a website, in which case the notice shall
be deemed to have been served at the time when the requirements of the Act in that regard have been met.

 

23.2 Any notice required to be given to a Member shall, with respect to any shares held jointly by two or more persons, be given to whichever of such persons is named first
in the Register of Members and notice so given shall be sufficient notice to all the holders of such shares.

 

23.3 In proving service under paragraphs 23.1(b), (c) and (d), it shall be sufficient to prove that the notice was properly addressed and prepaid, if posted or sent by courier,
and the time when it was posted, deposited with the courier, or transmitted by electronic means.
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24. Postponement of General Meeting

The Secretary may, and on the instructions of the Chairman the Secretary shall, postpone any general meeting called in accordance with these Bye-laws (other than a meeting
requisitioned under these Bye-laws) provided that notice of postponement is given to the Members before the time for such meeting. Fresh notice of the date, time and place for
the postponed meeting shall be given to each Member in accordance with these Bye-laws.

 
25. Electronic Participation in Meetings
 

25.1 The Board may, but shall not be required to, make arrangements permitting members to participate in any general meeting by such telephonic, electronic or other
communication facilities or means as permit all persons participating in the meeting to communicate with each other simultaneously and instantaneously, and
participation in such a meeting shall constitute presence in person at such meeting.

 

25.2 The Board may, and at any general meeting, the chairman of such meeting may, make any arrangement and impose any requirement or restriction the Board or such
chairman considers appropriate to ensure the security of a general meeting including, without limitation, requirements for evidence of identity to be produced by those
attending the meeting, the searching of their personal property and the restriction of items that may be taken into the meeting place. The Board and, at any general
meeting, the chairman of such meeting are entitled to refuse entry to a person who refuses to comply with such arrangements, requirements or restrictions.

 
26. Quorum at General Meetings
 

26.1 Subject to the rules of the Exchange, at any general meeting two or more persons present in person and representing in person or by proxy in excess of 50% of the total
issued voting shares in the Company at the commencement of the meeting shall form a quorum for the transaction of business, provided that if the Company shall at any
time have only one Member, one Member present in person or by proxy shall form a quorum for the transaction of business at any general meeting held during such
time.

 

26.2 If within such time as the chairman of the meeting may determine after the time appointed for the meeting a quorum is not present in accordance with Bye-law 26.1,
then, in the case of a meeting convened on a requisition, the meeting shall be deemed cancelled and, in any other case, the meeting shall stand adjourned to the same day
one week later, at the same time and place or to such other day, time or place as the Board or the Secretary may determine. Unless the meeting is adjourned to a specific
date, time and place announced at the meeting being adjourned, fresh notice of the resumption of the meeting shall be given to each Member entitled to attend and vote
thereat in accordance with these Bye-laws.
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27. Chairman to Preside at General Meetings

Unless otherwise agreed by a majority of those attending and entitled to vote thereat, the Chairman, if there be one, and if not the President, if there be one, shall act as
chairman at all general meetings at which such person is present. In their absence a chairman of the meeting shall be appointed or elected by the Directors present at the
meeting and in their absence, by a majority of those present at the meeting and entitled to vote.

 
28. Voting on Resolutions
 

28.1 Subject to the Act, these Bye-laws and the rules of the Exchange, any question proposed for the consideration of the Members at any general meeting shall be decided by
the affirmative votes of a majority of the votes cast in accordance with these Bye-laws and in the case of an equality of votes the resolution shall fail.

 

28.2 No Member shall be entitled to vote at a general meeting unless such Member has paid all the calls on all shares held by such Member.
 

28.3 At any general meeting a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall, in the first instance, be voted upon by a show of hands and, subject to any rights or restrictions
for the time being lawfully attached to any class of shares and subject to these Bye-laws, every Member present in person and every person holding a valid proxy at such
meeting shall be entitled to one vote and shall cast such vote by raising his hand.

 

28.4 In the event that a Member participates in a general meeting by telephone, electronic or other communication facilities or means permitted by the Board pursuant to Bye-
law 25.1, the chairman of the meeting shall direct the manner in which such Member may cast his vote in the form of an electronic record or otherwise on a show of
hands.

 

28.5 At any general meeting if an amendment is proposed to any resolution under consideration and the chairman of the meeting rules on whether or not the proposed
amendment is out of order, the proceedings on the substantive resolution shall not be invalidated by any error in such ruling.

 

28.6 At any general meeting a declaration by the chairman of the meeting that a question proposed for consideration has, on a show of hands, been carried, or carried
unanimously, or by a particular majority, or lost, and an entry to that effect in a book containing the minutes of the proceedings of the Company shall, subject to these
Bye-laws, be conclusive evidence of that fact.
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29. Power to Demand a Vote on a Poll
 

29.1 Notwithstanding the foregoing, a poll may be demanded by any of the following persons:
 

  (a) the chairman of such meeting; or
 

  (b) at least three Members present in person or represented by proxy; or
 

  (c) any Member or Members present in person or represented by proxy and holding between them not less than one-tenth of the total voting rights of all the Members
having the right to vote at such meeting; or

 

  (d) any Member or Members present in person or represented by proxy holding shares in the Company conferring the right to vote at such meeting, being shares on
which an aggregate sum has been paid up equal to not less than one-tenth of the total amount paid up on all such shares conferring such right.

 

29.2 Where a poll is demanded, subject to any rights or restrictions for the time being lawfully attached to any class of shares, every person present at such meeting including
persons present by telephone, electronic or other communications facilities shall have one vote for each share of which such person is the holder or for which such
person holds a proxy and such vote shall be counted by ballot as described herein, or in the case of a general meeting at which one or more Members are present by
telephone, electronic or other communication facilities or means, in such manner as the chairman of the meeting may direct and the result of such poll shall be deemed to
be the resolution of the meeting at which the poll was demanded and shall replace any previous resolution upon the same matter which has been the subject of a show of
hands. A person entitled to more than one vote need not use all his votes or cast all the votes he uses in the same way.

 

29.3 A poll demanded for the purpose of electing a chairman of the meeting or on a question of adjournment shall be taken forthwith. A poll demanded on any other question
shall be taken at such time and in such manner during such meeting as the chairman (or acting chairman) of the meeting may direct. Any business other than that upon
which a poll has been demanded may be conducted pending the taking of the poll.

 

29.4 Where a vote is taken by poll, each person present and entitled to vote, including each person present by telephone, electronic or other communications facilities, shall
record his vote in such manner as the chairman of the meeting may direct having regard to the nature of the question on which the vote is taken. Each ballot shall be
marked so as to identify the voter and the registered holder in the case of a proxy. At the conclusion of the poll, the votes cast in accordance with such directions shall be
examined and counted by one or more inspectors of votes or a committee appointed by the chairman of the meeting for the purpose. The result of the poll shall be
declared by the chairman of the meeting.
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30. Voting by Joint Holders of Shares

In the case of joint holders, the vote of the senior who tenders a vote (whether in person or by proxy) shall be accepted to the exclusion of the votes of the other joint holders,
and for this purpose seniority shall be determined by the order in which the names stand in the Register of Members.

 
31. Instrument of Proxy
 

31.1 A Member may appoint a proxy by:
 

  (a) such telephonic, electronic or other means as may be approved by the Board from time to time; or
 

  (b) an instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing in such form as the Board may determine from time to time
 

31.2 The instrument appointing a proxy must be received by the Company at the registered office or at such other place or in such manner as is specified in the notice
convening the meeting or in any instrument of proxy sent out by the Company in relation to the meeting at which the person named in the instrument appointing a proxy
proposes to vote, and an instrument appointing a proxy which is not received in the manner so prescribed shall be invalid.

 

31.3 A Member who is the holder of two or more shares may appoint more than one proxy to represent him and vote on his behalf in respect of different shares.
 

31.4 The decision of the chairman of any general meeting as to the validity of any appointment of a proxy shall be final.

 
32. Representation of Corporate Member
 

32.1 A corporation which is a Member may, by written instrument, authorise such person or persons as it thinks fit to act as its representative at any meeting and any person
so authorised shall be entitled to exercise the same powers on behalf of the corporation which such person represents as that corporation could exercise if it were an
individual Member, and that Member shall be deemed to be present in person at any such meeting attended by its authorised representative or representatives.

 

32.2 Notwithstanding the foregoing, the chairman of the meeting may accept such assurances as he thinks fit as to the right of any person to attend and vote at general
meetings on behalf of a corporation which is a Member.
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33. Adjournment of General Meeting
 

33.1 The chairman of a general meeting may adjourn a meeting to another time and place without the consent or direction of the Members if the chairman determines that it is
appropriate to adjourn the meeting.

 

33.2 Unless the meeting is adjourned to a specific date, place and time announced at the meeting being adjourned, fresh notice of the date, place and time for the resumption
of the adjourned meeting shall be given to each Member entitled to attend and vote thereat in accordance with these Bye-laws.

 
34. Written Resolutions
 

34.1 Subject to these Bye-laws, anything which may be done by resolution of the Company in general meeting or by resolution of a meeting of any class of the Members may
be done without a meeting by written resolution in accordance with this Bye-law.

 

34.2 Notice of a written resolution shall be given, and a copy of the resolution shall be circulated to all Members who would be entitled to attend a meeting and vote thereon.
The accidental omission to give notice to, or the non-receipt of a notice by, any Member does not invalidate the passing of a resolution.

 

34.3 A written resolution is passed when it is signed by (or in the case of a Member that is a corporation, on behalf of) the Members who at the date that the notice is given
represent such majority of votes as would be required if the resolution was voted on at a meeting of Members at which all Members entitled to attend and vote thereat
were present and voting.

 

34.4 A resolution in writing may be signed in any number of counterparts.
 

34.5 A resolution in writing made in accordance with this Bye-law is as valid as if it had been passed by the Company in general meeting or by a meeting of the relevant class
of Members, as the case may be, and any reference in any Bye-law to a meeting at which a resolution is passed or to Members voting in favour of a resolution shall be
construed accordingly.

 

34.6 A resolution in writing made in accordance with this Bye-law shall constitute minutes for the purposes of the Act.
 

34.7 This Bye-law shall not apply to:
 

  (a) a resolution passed to remove an Auditor from office before the expiration of his term of office; or
 

  (b) a resolution proposed at any time that investment funds affiliated with The Carlyle Group (“Carlyle Funds”) own in aggregate less than 50% of the Common
Shares in issue.
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34.8 For the purposes of this Bye-law, the effective date of the resolution is the date when the resolution is signed by (or in the case of a Member that is a corporation, on
behalf of) the last Member whose signature results in the necessary voting majority being achieved and any reference in any Bye-law to the date of passing of a
resolution is, in relation to a resolution made in accordance with this Bye-law, a reference to such date.

 
35. Directors Attendance at General Meetings

The Directors shall be entitled to receive notice of, attend and be heard at any general meeting.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
 
36. Election of Directors
 

36.1 Only persons who are proposed or nominated in accordance with this Bye-law shall be eligible for election as Directors. The Board may propose any person for election
as Director. In addition, any Member holding not less than 10% in nominal value of the shares giving a right to attend and vote at general meetings of the Company
(“Relevant Member”) may propose one person for election as Director at a general meeting. Where any person, other than a Director retiring at the meeting or a person
proposed for re-election or election as a Director by the Board, is to be proposed for election as a Director at a general meeting of the Company, notice must be given to
the Secretary of the intention to propose him and of his willingness to serve as a Director, as set out in this Bye-law. Where any such person is to be elected:

 

 

(a) at an annual general meeting, such notice must be given not less than 90 days nor more than 120 days before the anniversary of the last annual general meeting or,
in the event the annual general meeting is called for a date that is greater than 30 days before or after such anniversary, the notice must be given not later than 10
days following the earlier of the date on which notice of the annual general meeting was posted to Members or the date on which public disclosure of the date of
the annual general meeting was made;

 

  (b) at a special general meeting, such notice must be given not later than 7days following the earlier of the date on which notice of the special general meeting was
posted to Members or the date on which public disclosure of the date of the special general meeting was made;

 

 
(c) in the case of an election at any general meeting, such notice must set forth: (i) as to the person whom the Relevant Member proposes to nominate for election as

a Director, (A) the name, age, business address and residence address of the person, (B) the principal occupation or employment of the person, (C) the class or
series and number of shares of the Company owned beneficially or of record by the person and (D) any other information

 
21



 

relating to the person that would be required to be disclosed in a proxy statement or other filings required to be made in connection with solicitations of proxies
for election of Directors pursuant to applicable laws or regulations or that the Company may reasonably request in order to determine the eligibility of such
person to serve as a Director of the Company; (ii) the name and record address of the Relevant Member and the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the
nomination is proposed; (iii) the class or series and number of shares of the Company which are registered in the name of or beneficially owned by such Relevant
Member and such beneficial owner (including any shares as to which such Relevant Member or such beneficial owner has a right to acquire ownership at any
time in the future); (iv) a description of all derivatives, swaps or other transactions or series of transactions engaged in, directly or indirectly, by such Relevant
Member or such beneficial owner, the purpose or effect of which is to give such Relevant Member or such beneficial owner economic risk similar to ownership of
shares of the Company; (v) a description of all agreements, arrangements, understandings or relationships engaged in directly or indirectly, by such Relevant
Member or such beneficial owner, the purpose or effect of which is to mitigate loss to, reduce the economic risk (or ownership or otherwise) of any class or series
of shares of the Company, manage the risk of share price changes for, or increase or decrease the voting power of, such Relevant Member or beneficial owner, or
which provides, directly or indirectly, such Relevant Member or beneficial owner with the opportunity to profit from any decrease in the price or value of the
shares of any class or series of shares of the Company; (vi) a description of all agreements, arrangements, understandings or relationships between such Relevant
Member or such beneficial owner and any other person or persons (including their names) in connection with the proposed nomination by such Relevant Member
and any material relationship between such Relevant Member or such beneficial owner and the person proposed to be nominated for election; and (vii) a
representation that such Relevant Member intends to appear in person or by proxy at the general meeting to propose such nomination; and

 

  (d) in the case of an election at any general meeting, such notice must be accompanied by a written consent of the person whom the Relevant Member proposes to
nominate for election as a Director to being named as a nominee and to serve as a Director if elected.

 

36.2 Where persons are validly proposed for re-election or election as a Director, the persons receiving the most votes (up to the number of Directors to be elected) shall be
elected as Directors, and an absolute majority of the votes cast shall not be a prerequisite to the election of such Directors.

 

36.3 The Board may fill any vacancy in their number left unfilled at a general meeting or otherwise.
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37. Number of Directors

The Board shall consist of such number of Directors as the Board may determine from time to time.

 
38. Classes of Directors

From the time of adoption of these Bye-laws, the Directors shall be divided by the Members, into three classes designated Class I, Class II and Class III. Each class of Directors
shall consist, as nearly as possible, of one third of the total number of Directors constituting the entire Board.

 
39. Term of Office of Directors

At the first annual general meeting which is held after the date of adoption of these Bye-laws, the term of office of the Class I Directors shall expire and the Class I Directors
shall be elected for a three year term of office. At the second annual general meeting which is held after the date of adoption of these Bye-laws, the term of office of the Class II
Directors shall expire and the Class II Directors shall be elected for a three year term of office. At the third annual general meeting which is held after the date of adoption of
these Bye-laws, the term of office of the Class III Directors shall expire and the Class III Directors shall be elected for a three year term of office. At each succeeding annual
general meeting, successors to the class of Directors whose term expires at that annual general meeting shall be elected for a three year term. If the number of Directors is
changed, any increase or decrease shall be apportioned among the classes so as to maintain the number of Directors in each class as nearly equal as possible, and any Director
of any class elected to fill a vacancy shall hold office for a term that shall coincide with the remaining term of the other Directors of that class but in no case shall a decrease in
the number of Directors shorten the term of any Director then in office. A Director shall hold office until the annual general meeting for the year in which his term expires,
subject to his office being vacated pursuant to Bye-law 42.

 
40. Alternate Directors
 

40.1 The election or appointment of a person or persons to act as a Director in the alternative to any one or more Directors shall not be permitted.

 
41. Removal of Directors
 

41.1 Subject to any provision to the contrary in these Bye-laws, the Members entitled to vote for the election of Directors may:
 

 

(a) during any time that the Carlyle Funds own more than 50% of the Common Shares in issue, at any special general meeting convened and held in accordance with
these Bye-laws, remove a Director, provided that the notice of any such meeting convened for the purpose of removing a Director shall contain a statement of the
intention so to do and be served on such Director not less than 14 days before the meeting and at such meeting the Director shall be entitled to be heard on the
motion for such Director’s removal; and
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(b) at such time after the Carlyle Funds cease to own more than 50% of the Common Shares in issue, at any special general meeting convened and held in accordance
with these Bye-laws, remove a Director only with cause, provided that the notice of any such meeting convened for the purpose of removing a Director shall
contain a statement of the intention so to do including details of cause, and be served on such Director not less than 14 days before the meeting and at such
meeting the Director shall be entitled to be heard on the motion for such Director’s removal.

 

41.2 If a Director is removed from the Board under this Bye-law, the Board may fill the vacancy resulting therefrom.
 

41.3 For the purpose of this Bye-law 41, “cause” shall mean (i) conviction, plea of no contest, plea of nolo contendere, or imposition of unadjudicated probation for any
felony, indictable offense or crime involving moral turpitude; (ii) commission of an act of fraud, embezzlement, misappropriation, misconduct, or breach of fiduciary
duty against the Company of any of its subsidiaries; or (iii) failure to meet the requirements for service as a director as set forth in the rules and regulates promulgated by
the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission or the Exchange; (iv) the Board’s determination that Director failed to substantially perform the Director’s duties (other
than any such failure resulting from the Director’s disability); (v) the Board’s determination that the Director failed to carry out, or comply with any lawful and
reasonable directive of the Board; or (vi) the Director’s unlawful use (including being under the influence) or possession of illegal drugs on the premises of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries or while performing the Director’s duties and responsibilities.

 
42. Vacancy in the Office of Director
 

42.1 The office of Director shall be vacated if the Director:
 

  (a) is removed from office pursuant to these Bye-laws or is prohibited from being a Director by law;
 

  (b) is or becomes an undischarged bankrupt, or has an order made against him pursuant to Section 94 of the Act;
 

  (c) is or becomes of unsound mind or dies;
 

  (d) resigns his office by notice to the Company; or
 

(e) is delivered a request in writing signed by all the other Directors to resign and he does not do so within 30 days of the date of such request pursuant to paragraph (d) of
this Bye-law.

 

42.2 The Board shall have the power to appoint any person as a Director to fill a vacancy on the Board occurring as a result of the death, disability, disqualification or
resignation of any Director.
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43. Remuneration of Directors

Directors may receive compensation for their services as Director, including, without limitation, compensation for service on any committee appointed by the Board and any
additional fees for committee chairs, in amounts, and on such basis, as shall be established from time to time by the Board. The Directors may also be paid all travel, hotel and
other expenses properly incurred by them (or in the case of a director that is a corporation, by its representative or representatives) in attending and returning from Board
meetings, any committee appointed by the Board, general meetings, or in connection with the business of the Company or their duties as Directors generally.

 
44. Defect in Appointment

All acts done in good faith by the Board, any Director, a member of a committee appointed by the Board, any person to whom the Board may have delegated any of its powers,
or any person acting as a Director shall, notwithstanding that it be afterwards discovered that there was some defect in the appointment of any Director or person acting as
aforesaid, or that he was, or any of them were, disqualified, be as valid as if every such person had been duly appointed and was qualified to be a Director or act in the relevant
capacity.

 
45. Directors to Manage Business

The business of the Company shall be managed and conducted by the Board. In managing the business of the Company, the Board may exercise all such powers of the
Company as are not, by the Act or by these Bye-laws, required to be exercised by the Members.

 
46. Powers of the Board of Directors
 

46.1 The Board may:
 

  (a) appoint, suspend, or remove any manager, Secretary, clerk, agent or employee of the Company and may fix their remuneration and determine their duties;
 

 
(b) exercise all the powers of the Company to borrow money and to mortgage or charge or otherwise grant a security interest in its undertaking, property and

uncalled capital, or any part thereof, and may issue debentures, debenture stock and other securities whether outright or as security for any debt, liability or
obligation of the Company or any third party;

 

  (c) appoint one or more Directors to the office of managing director or chief executive officer of the Company, who shall, subject to the control of the Board,
supervise and administer all of the general business and affairs of the Company;
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  (d) appoint a person to act as manager of the Company’s day-to-day business and may entrust to and confer upon such manager such powers and duties as it deems
appropriate for the transaction or conduct of such business;

 

 

(e) by power of attorney, appoint any company, firm, person or body of persons, whether nominated directly or indirectly by the Board, to be an attorney of the
Company for such purposes and with such powers, authorities and discretions (not exceeding those vested in or exercisable by the Board) and for such period and
subject to such conditions as it may think fit and any such power of attorney may contain such provisions for the protection and convenience of persons dealing
with any such attorney as the Board may think fit and may also authorise any such attorney to sub-delegate all or any of the powers, authorities and discretions so
vested in the attorney;

 

  (f) procure that the Company pays all expenses incurred in promoting and incorporating the Company;
 

 

(g) delegate any of its powers (including the power to sub-delegate) to a committee of one or more persons appointed by the Board which may consist partly or
entirely of non-Directors, provided that every such committee shall conform to such directions as the Board shall impose on them and provided further that the
meetings and proceedings of any such committee shall be governed by the provisions of these Bye-laws regulating the meetings and proceedings of the Board, so
far as the same are applicable and are not superseded by directions imposed by the Board;

 

  (h) delegate any of its powers (including the power to sub-delegate) to any person on such terms and in such manner as the Board may see fit;
 

  (i) present any petition and make any application in connection with the liquidation or reorganisation of the Company;
 

  (j) in connection with the issue of any share, pay such commission and brokerage as may be permitted by law; and
 

  (k) authorise any company, firm, person or body of persons to act on behalf of the Company for any specific purpose and in connection therewith to execute any
deed, agreement, document or instrument on behalf of the Company.

 
47. Register of Directors and Officers

The Board shall cause to be kept in one or more books at the registered office of the Company a Register of Directors and Officers and shall enter therein the particulars
required by the Act.
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48. Appointment of Officers

The Board may appoint such Officers (who may or may not be Directors) as the Board may determine for such terms as the Board deems fit.

 
49. Appointment of Secretary

The Secretary shall be appointed by the Board from time to time for such term as the Board deems fit.

 
50. Duties of Officers

The Officers shall have such powers and perform such duties in the management, business and affairs of the Company as may be delegated to them by the Board from time to
time, provided always that the execution of those powers and the performance of those duties remain subject to the general oversight of the Board.

 
51. Remuneration of Officers

The Officers shall receive such remuneration as the Board may determine.

 
52. Conflicts of Interest
 

52.1 Any Director, or any Director’s firm, partner or any company with whom any Director is associated, may act in any capacity for, be employed by or render services to
the Company on such terms, including with respect to remuneration, as may be agreed between the parties. Nothing herein contained shall authorise a Director or a
Director’s firm, partner or company to act as Auditor to the Company.

 

52.2 A Director who is directly or indirectly interested in a contract or proposed contract with the Company (an “Interested Director”) shall declare the nature of such interest
as required by the Act.

 

52.3 Following a declaration of interest being made pursuant to Bye-law 52.2, the Interested Director shall not be disqualified from participating in the discussion or voting
on the matter unless the chairman of the meeting determines that such Interested Director shall be disqualified as such. In the event the chairman of the meeting is the
Interested Director making a declaration under Bye-law 52.2, the determination as to whether or not he should be disqualified may be made by a majority of the votes
cast by the Directors not having such interest. In addition, an Interested Director may, but shall not be required to, recuse himself from the discussion or voting on any
particular matter because of a possible conflict or for any other reason disclosed to the other Directors. Any Interested Director that is so disqualified or that elects to be
recused shall nevertheless be counted toward a quorum for the meeting.

In the event that one or more Interested Directors are disqualified or elect to be recused from voting on a matter, or one or more Directors are later found to have an
interest or conflict that should have been declared, the matter shall be approved
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or stand approved if it is or was approved by a majority of the votes cast by the Directors that do not have any interest or conflict in the matter, even if less than a
quorum.

 
53. Indemnification and Exculpation of Directors and Officers
 

53.1 The Directors, Resident Representative, Secretary and other Officers (such term to include any person appointed to any committee by the Board) acting in relation to any
of the affairs of the Company or any subsidiary thereof and the liquidator or trustees (if any) acting in relation to any of the affairs of the Company or any subsidiary
thereof and every one of them (whether for the time being or formerly), and their heirs, executors and administrators (each of which an “indemnified party”, shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them, their heirs, executors or administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their
duty, or supposed duty, or in their respective offices or trusts, and no indemnified party shall be answerable for the acts, receipts, neglects or defaults of the others of
them or for joining in any receipts for the sake of conformity, or for any bankers or other persons with whom any monies or effects belonging to the Company shall or
may be lodged or deposited for safe custody, or for insufficiency or deficiency of any security upon which any monies of or belonging to the Company shall be placed
out on or invested, or for any other loss, misfortune or damage which may happen in the execution of their respective offices or trusts, or in relation thereto, PROVIDED
THAT this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty in relation to the Company which may attach to any of the indemnified parties.
Each Member agrees to waive any claim or right of action such Member might have, whether individually or by or in the right of the Company, against any Director or
Officer on account of any action taken by such Director or Officer, or the failure of such Director or Officer to take any action in the performance of his duties with or
for the Company or any subsidiary thereof, PROVIDED THAT such waiver shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty in relation to the
Company which may attach to such Director or Officer.

 

53.2 The Company may purchase and maintain insurance for the benefit of any Director or Officer against any liability incurred by him under the Act in his capacity as a
Director or Officer or indemnifying such Director or Officer in respect of any loss arising or liability attaching to him by virtue of any rule of law in respect of any
negligence, default, breach of duty or breach of trust of which the Director or Officer may be guilty in relation to the Company or any subsidiary thereof.

 

53.3 The Company may advance monies to a Director or Officer for the costs, charges and expenses incurred by the Director or Officer in defending any civil or criminal
proceedings against him, on condition that the Director or Officer shall repay the advance if any allegation of fraud or dishonesty in relation to the Company is proved
against him.

 
28



MEETINGS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
 
54. Board Meetings

The Board may meet for the transaction of business, adjourn and otherwise regulate its meetings as it sees fit. A resolution put to the vote at a Board meeting shall be carried by
the affirmative votes of a majority of the votes cast and in the case of an equality of votes the resolution shall fail.

 
55. Notice of Board Meetings

The Chairman may, and the Secretary on the requisition of the Chairman shall, at any time summon a Board meeting on not less than 48 hours’ notice. Notice shall be deemed
to have been given in accordance with this Bye-law, notwithstanding it is held on less than 48 hours’ notice, if all Directors attend the meeting in respect of which such notice is
given. Notice of a Board meeting shall be deemed to be duly given to a Director if it is given to such Director verbally (including in person or by telephone) or otherwise
communicated or sent to such Director by post, electronic means or other mode of representing words in a visible form at such Director’s last known address or in accordance
with any other instructions given by such Director to the Company for this purpose.

 
56. Electronic Participation in Meetings

Directors may participate in any meeting by such telephonic, electronic or other communication facilities or means as permit all persons participating in the meeting to
communicate with each other simultaneously and instantaneously, and participation in such a meeting shall constitute presence in person at such meeting.

 
57. Quorum at Board Meetings

The quorum necessary for the transaction of business at a Board meeting shall be a majority of the Directors, provided that if there is only one Director for the time being in
office the quorum shall be one.

 
58. Board to Continue in the Event of Vacancy

The Board may act notwithstanding any vacancy in its number but, if and so long as its number is reduced below the number fixed by these Bye-laws as the quorum necessary
for the transaction of business at Board meetings, the continuing Directors or Director may act for the purpose of (i) summoning a general meeting; or (ii) preserving the assets
of the Company.

 
59. Chairman to Preside

Unless otherwise agreed by a majority of the Directors attending, the Chairman, if there be one, and if not, the President, if there be one, shall act as chairman at all Board
meetings at which such person is present. In their absence, a chairman shall be appointed or elected by the Directors present at the meeting, unless otherwise determined in
accordance with procedures adopted by the Board.
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60. Written Resolutions

A resolution signed by all the Directors, which may be in counterparts, shall be as valid as if it had been passed at a Board meeting duly called and constituted, such resolution
to be effective on the date on which the resolution is signed by the last Director.

 
61. Validity of Prior Acts of the Board

No regulation or alteration to these Bye-laws made by the Company in general meeting shall invalidate any prior act of the Board which would have been valid if that
regulation or alteration had not been made.

CORPORATE RECORDS
 
62. Minutes

The Board shall cause minutes to be duly entered in books provided for the purpose:
 

  (a) of all elections and appointments of Officers;
 

  (b) of the names of the Directors present at each Board meeting and of any committee appointed by the Board; and
 

  (c) of all resolutions and proceedings of general meetings of the Members, Board meetings, meetings of managers and meetings of committees appointed by the
Board.

 
63. Place Where Corporate Records Kept

Minutes prepared in accordance with the Act and these Bye-laws shall be kept by the Secretary at the registered office of the Company.

 
64. Form and Use of Seal
 

64.1 The Company may adopt a seal in such form as the Board may determine. The Board may adopt one or more duplicate seals for use in or outside Bermuda.
 

64.2 A seal may, but need not, be affixed to any deed, instrument or document, and if the seal is to be affixed thereto, it shall be attested by the signature of (i) any Director, or
(ii) any Officer, or (iii) the Secretary, or (iv) any person authorised by the Board for that purpose.

 

64.3 A Resident Representative may, but need not, affix the seal of the Company to certify the authenticity of any copies of documents.
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ACCOUNTS
 
65. Records of Account
 

65.1 The Board shall cause to be kept proper records of account with respect to all transactions of the Company and in particular with respect to:
 

  (a) all amounts of money received and expended by the Company and the matters in respect of which the receipt and expenditure relates;
 

  (b) all sales and purchases of goods by the Company; and
 

  (c) all assets and liabilities of the Company.
 

65.2 Such records of account shall be kept at the registered office of the Company or, subject to the Act, at such other place as the Board thinks fit and shall be available for
inspection by the Directors during normal business hours.

 

65.3 Such records of account shall be retained for a minimum period of five years from the date on which they are prepared.

 
66. Financial Year End

The financial year end of the Company may be determined by resolution of the Board and failing such resolution shall be 31st December in each year.

AUDITS
 
67. Annual Audit

Subject to any rights to waive laying of accounts or appointment of an Auditor pursuant to the Act, the accounts of the Company shall be audited at least once in every year.

 
68. Appointment of Auditor
 

68.1 Subject to the Act, the appointment of an auditor to the Company for each such fiscal year shall be submitted to the Members for their approval at the annual general
meeting and at a subsequent general meeting.

 

68.2 The Auditor may be a Member but no Director, Officer or employee of the Company shall, during his continuance in office, be eligible to act as an Auditor of the
Company.

 
69. Remuneration of Auditor
 

69.1 The remuneration of an Auditor shall be fixed by the Members or by the Board (or a committee appointed by the Board), if it is authorised to do so by the Members,
save that the remuneration of an Auditor appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy in accordance with these Bye-laws shall be fixed by the Board.
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70. Duties of Auditor
 

70.1 The financial statements provided for by these Bye-laws shall be audited by the Auditor in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. The Auditor shall
make a written report thereon in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards.

 

70.2 The generally accepted auditing standards referred to in this Bye-law may be U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles or those of a country or a jurisdiction other
than Bermuda or such other generally accepted accounting standards as may be provided for in the Act. If so, the financial statements and the report of the Auditor shall
identify the generally accepted accounting standards used.

 
71. Access to Records

The Auditor shall at all reasonable times have access to all books kept by the Company and to all accounts and vouchers relating thereto, and the Auditor may call on the
Directors or Officers for any information in their possession relating to the books or affairs of the Company.

 
72. Financial Statements and the Auditor’s Report
 

72.1 Subject to the following Bye-law, the financial statements and/or the auditor’s report as required by the Act shall be laid before the Members at the annual general
meeting.

 

72.2 If all Members and Directors shall agree, either in writing or at a meeting, that in respect of a particular interval no financial statements and/or auditor’s report thereon
need be made available to the Members, and/or that no auditor shall be appointed then there shall be no obligation on the Company to do so.

 
73. Vacancy in the Office of Auditor

The Board may fill any casual vacancy in the office of the auditor.

VOLUNTARY WINDING-UP AND DISSOLUTION
 
74. Winding-Up

If the Company shall be wound up the liquidator may, with the sanction of a resolution of the Members, divide amongst the Members in specie or in kind the whole or any part
of the assets of the Company (whether they shall consist of property of the same kind or not) and may, for such purpose, set such value as he deems fair upon any property to be
divided as aforesaid and may determine how such division shall be carried out as between the Members or different classes of Members. The liquidator may, with the like
sanction, vest the whole or any part of such assets in the trustees upon such trusts for the benefit of the Members as the liquidator shall think fit, but so that no Member shall be
compelled to accept any shares or other securities or assets whereon there is any liability.
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CHANGES TO CONSTITUTION
 
75. Changes to Bye-laws

No Bye-law may be rescinded, altered or amended and no new Bye-law may be made save in accordance with the Act and until the same has been approved by a resolution of
the Board and by a resolution of the Members.

 
76. Changes to the Memorandum of Association

No alteration or amendment to the Memorandum of Association may be made save in accordance with the Act and until same has been approved by a resolution of the Board
and by a resolution of the Members.

 
77. Discontinuance

The Board may exercise all the powers of the Company to discontinue the Company to a jurisdiction outside Bermuda pursuant to the Act.
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, Charles W. Shaver, certify that:
 

  1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Axalta Coating Systems Ltd.;
 

  2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

  3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

  4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that

material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

  (b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

  5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

  (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

  (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: November 14, 2014
 

By:  /s/ Charles W. Shaver
Name:  Charles W. Shaver
Title:  Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, Robert W. Bryant, certify that:
 

  1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Axalta Coating Systems Ltd.;
 

  2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

  3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

  4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that

material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

  (b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

  5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

  (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

  (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: November 14, 2014
 

By:  /s/ Robert W. Bryant
Name:  Robert W. Bryant
Title:  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

Certification of CEO Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the quarterly report of Axalta Coating Systems Ltd. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2014, as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, I, the undersigned, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, to the best of my knowledge, that:
 

  (1) The report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended; and
 

  (2) The information contained in the report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: November 14, 2014
 

By:  /s/ Charles W. Shaver
Name:  Charles W. Shaver
Title:  Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

This certification accompanies this report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended or otherwise subject to liability pursuant to that section. The certification shall not be deemed to be incorporated by
reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates it by reference.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.2

Certification of CFO Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the quarterly report of Axalta Coating Systems Ltd. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2014, as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, I, the undersigned, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, to the best of my knowledge, that:
 

  (1) The report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended; and
 

  (2) The information contained in the report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: November 14, 2014
 

By:  /s/ Robert W. Bryant
Name:  Robert W. Bryant
Title:  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

This certification accompanies this report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended or otherwise subject to liability pursuant to that section. The certification shall not be deemed to be incorporated by
reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates it by reference.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.


